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- DISSENTING OPINION

CARPIO, J.:

I dissent from the ponencia which partially grants petitioner’s motion
for a bill of particulars and directs the Ombudsman to file an Amended
Information containing the following particulars:

1.

2.

The particular overt act/s alleged to constitute the “combination”
and “series” charged in the Information.

A breakdown of the amounts of the kickbacks and commissions
allegedly received, stating how the amount of R172,834,500.00
was arrived at.

A brief description of the ‘identified’ projects where kickbacks and
commissions were received.

The approximate dates of receipt, “in 2004 to 2010 or thereabout,”
of the alleged kickbacks and commissions from the identified
projects. At the very least, the prosecution should state the year
when the kickbacks and transactions from the identified projects
were received.

The name[s] of Napoles’ non-government organizations (NGOs)
which were the alleged “recipients and/or target implementors of
Enrile’s PDAF projects.”

The government agencies to whom Enrile allegedly endorsed
Napoles’ NGOs. The particular person/s in each government
agency who facilitated the transactions need not anymore be
named as a particular in the Information.'

These particulars do not refer to ultimate facts, but rather to
evidentiary matters which unduly expand the details specifically
required in Section 6, Rule 110 of the Rules of Court for a sufficient
Information.

Ponencia, pp. 38-39.

e~



Dissenting Opinion 2 G.R. No. 213455

Information Filed Against Petitioner Sufficient

An Information charging a person with an offense is sufficient if,
among others, it states “the acts or omissions complained of as constituting
the offense,” using “ordinary and concise language.”? The minimum
requirement is that the allegations in the Information state the basic, ultimate
facts constituting the elements of the offense (and aggravating or qualifying
circumstances®) such that if the accused is later on prosecuted for the same
offense, he can claim prior jeopardy.* All other details can be left out, to be
supplied during the presentation of the prosecution’s case during trial. After
al, what the Constitution guarantees to the accused is that he is informed of
the “nature and cause of the accusation against him”*® and not of the “dates,
names, amounts, and other sundry details’ relating to the offense charged. If
“a person of common understanding x x x [can] know what offense is being
charged x x x,”° then the Information is free from any taint of deficiency.

Thus, Section 6, Rule 110 of the Rules of Court (Rules) succinctly
states:

A complaint or information is sufficient if it states the name of the
accused; the designation of the offense given by the statute; the acts or
omissions complained of as constituting the offense; the name of the
offended party; the approximate date of the commission of the offense;
and the place where the offense was committed. (Emphasis supplied)

Petitioner Juan Ponce Enrile (petitioner) stands charged before the
Sandiganbayan's Third Division (Sandiganbayan) with the offense of
plunder as defined under Republic Act No. 7080 (RA 7080). The elements of
this offense are;

(1)  [T]he offender is a public officer who acts by himself or in
connivance with members of his family, relatives by affinity or
consanguinity, business associates, subordinates or other persons,

(2) [H]e amassed, accumulated or acquired ill-gotten wealth
through a combination or series of the following overt or criminal acts
described in Section 1(d) of RA 7080 as amended; and

(3 [T]he aggregate amount or total value of the ill-gotten
wealth amassed, accumulated or acquired is at least P50,000,000.00.

In relation to the second element, the six modes of accumulating ill-gotten
wealth under Section 1(d) of RA 7080 are:

? Section 9, Rule 110, Rules.

®  Section 9, Rule 110, Rules; Serapio v. People, 444 Phil. 499 (2003).

“  Serapio v. People, 444 Phil. 499, 561 (2003) (Sandoval-Gutierrez, J., dissenting) citing Battle v. Sate,
365 So. 2d 1035, 1037 (1979).

®  Section 14, Article 111, Constitution.

®  Section 9, Rule 110, Rules.

" SeeEstrada v. Sandiganbayan, 421 Phil. 290, 343-344 (2001).
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(a) through misappropriation, conversion, misuse, or malversation
of public funds or raids on the public treasury;

(b) by receiving, directly or indirectly, any commission, gift, share,
percentage, kickback or any other form of pecuniary benefits from any
person and/or entity in connection with any government contract or project
or by reason of the office or position of the public officer;

(c) by theillegal or fraudulent conveyance or disposition of assets
belonging to the National Government or any of its subdivisions, agencies
or instrumentalities of Government owned or controlled corporations or
their subsidiaries;

(d) by obtaining, receiving or accepting directly or indirectly any
shares of stock, equity or any other form of interest or participation
including the promise of future employment in any business enterprise or
undertaking;

(e) by establishing agricultural, industrial or commercia
monopolies or other combinations and/or implementation of decrees and
orders intended to benefit particular persons or special interests; or

(f) by taking advantage of official position, authority, relationship,
connection or influence to unjustly enrich himself or themselves at the
expense and to the damage and prejudice of the Filipino people and the
Republic of the Philippines.

The Information filed against petitioner provides:

XX XX

In 2004 to 2010 or thereabout, in the Philippines, and within this
Honorable Court’s jurisdiction, above-named accused JUAN PONCE
ENRILE, then a Philippine Senator, JESSICA LUCILA G. REYES, then
Chief of Staff of Senator Enrile's Office, both public officers, committing
the offense in relation to their respective offices, conspiring with one
another and with JANET LIM NAPOLES, RONALD JOHN LIM, and
JOHN RAYMUND DE ASIS, did then and there willfully, unlawfully, and
criminally amass, accumulate, and/or acquire ill-gotten wealth amounting
to a least ONE HUNDRED SEVENTY TWO MILLION EIGHT
HUNDRED THIRTY FOUR THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED PESOS
(Php 172,834,500.00) through a combination or series of overt criminal
acts, asfollows:

(@ by repeatedly receiving from NAPOLES and/or her
representatives LIM, DE ASIS, and others, kickbacks or commissions
under the following circumstances: before, during and/or after the project
identification, NAPOLES gave, and ENRILE and/or REYES received, a
percentage of the cost of a project to be funded from ENRILE’s Priority
Development Assistance Fund (PDAF), in consideration of ENRILE's
endorsement, directly or through REYES, to the appropriate government
agencies, of NAPOLES' non-government organizations which became the
recipients and/or target implementors of ENRILE’s PDAF projects, which
duly-funded projects turned out to be ghosts or fictitious, thus enabling
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NAPOLES to misappropriate the PDAF proceeds for her personal gain;

(b) by taking undue advantage, on several occasions, of ther
official positions, authority, relationships, connections, and influence to
unjustly enrich themselves at the expense and to the damage and
prejudice, of the Filipino people and the Republic of the Philippines®

By simply juxtaposing Section 1 and Section 2 of RA 7080, on the one
hand, and the allegations in the Information, on the other hand, it becomes
immediately apparent that the Information filed against petitioner complies
with the requirements under the Rules and the Constitution. The Information
alleges, in ordinary and concise language, all the elements of plunder as

defined in RA 7080 by stating that:

(1) Petitioner, an incumbent “Philippine Senator,” is a
“public officer[]”;

(2) Petitioner, together with several co-accused, in
conspiracy with them, “amasg] ed], accumulated and/or acquired
ilI-gotten wealth” by:

(@) receiving personaly or through a co-accused
“kickbacks or commissions’ from another co-accused (Janet
Lim Napoles [Napoles]) in exchange for his endorsement to
Napoles non-governmental organizations (NGOs) of
government projects funded by petitioner’s discretionary funds
(falling under Section 1(d)(b) of RA 7080); and

(b) taking undue advantage of his official position to
unjustly enrich himself at the expense and to the damage and
prejudice of the Filipino people (falling under Section 1(d)(f) of
RA 7080); and

(3) The total amount of ill-gotten wealth amassed by
petitioner and his co-accused is “at least” P172.8 million (more
than triple the floor amount of P50 million required under
Section 2 of RA 7080).

Allegationsin the Information not Vague

The procedural remedy, in civil or criminal proceedings, to render
vague allegations in the complaint or Information more specific is the bill of
particulars. The details contained in the bill enable the respondent in the civil
proceedings to “prepare his responsive pleading,”® and the accused in the

criminal proceedings to “properly x x x plead and prepare for trial.”*°

8

9

10

Roallo, pp. 170-171.
Section 1, Rule 12, Rules.
Section 9, Rule 116, Rules.
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Petitioner’s plea for a bill of particulars is grounded on his view that
the allegations in the Information filed against him are “a series or
combination of conclusions of fact and of law” not of “fact[s] and
circumstance[s] x x x [constituting] the crime charged.”* He also finds the
allegations relating to his receipt of kickbacks from projects funded by his
legislative discretionary funds “abundle of confusing ambiguity.”*?

Petitioner prays that the prosecution provide him with detailsrelating
to the allegations in the Information on his accumulation of ill-gotten
wealth, namely, the “overt acts’ constituting the combination or series of
criminal acts, the names of the persons who received the kickbacks, the
names of the persons who gave them, the breakdown of the amounts
received, the dates of receipt, the description of the nature, location and costs
of the government projects funded by his discretionary funds, the dates of
launching of the projects he funded, and the names of the beneficiary NGOs,
among others.*®

The ponencia finds merit in petitioner's theory and orders the
prosecution to furnish petitioner most of the details sought. As a
consequence of its ruling, the ponencia directs an amendment of the
Information filed against petitioner.

Petitioner and the ponencia have transformed the nature of an
Information from “an accusation in writing charging a person with an
offense”!* to an initiatory pleading alleging “a cause of action.”* Unlike a
complaint in civil proceedings which must contain all the details constituting
a cause of action,® an Information only needs to state, in ordinary and
concise language, “the acts or omissions complained of as constituting the
offense” such that the accused understands the crime he is being charged
with and that when he pleads to such charge, first jeopardy attaches. In other
words, the Information only needs to allege the ultimate facts constituting
the offense for which the accused stands charged, not the finer details of
why and how the illegal acts alleged were committed. This is a long-
standing and deeply entrenched rule, applied by this Court in an unbroken
line of ever growing jurisprudence.’’

% Rollo, p. 69.
¥ ]d. at 66.
¥ |d. at 66-67.

*  Section 4, Rule 110, Rules.

®  Section 3, Rule 6, Rules.

* Under Section 1, Rule 8 of the Rules, “Every pleading shall contain in a methodical and logical form,
a plain, concise and direct statement of the ultimate facts on which the party pleading relies for his
claim or defense, as the case may be, omitting the statement of mere evidentiary facts. x x x.”

Y Migud v. Sandiganbayan, G.R. No. 172035, 4 July 2012, 675 SCRA 560; Go v. Bangko Sentral ng
Pilipinas, 619 Phil. 306 (2009); Lazarte, Jr. v Sandiganbayan, 600 Phil. 475 (2009); People v.
Romualdez, 581 Phil. 462 (2008); People v. Batin, 564 Phil. 249 (2007); Caballero v. Sandiganbayan,
560 Phil. 302 (2007); Cruz v. Sandiganbayan, 504 Phil. 321 (2005); Domingo v. Sandiganbayan, 379
Phil. 708 (2000); Socrates v. Sandiganbayan, 324 Phil. 151 (1996); Gallego v. Sandiganbayan, 201
Phil. 379 (1982). For the application of the rule to determine the crime charged, see People v. Sanico,
G.R. No. 208469, 13 August 2014, 733 SCRA 158; People v. Banzuela, G.R. No. 202060, 11
December 2013, 712 SCRA 735; Pidlago v. People, G.R. No. 202020, 13 March 2013, 693 SCRA
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Thus, for the past decade aone, we ruled in Migud .
Sandiganbayan,”® Go v. Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas®® and People V.
Romualdez,® all penned by Mr. Justice Brion, that the Informations filed in
those cases did not suffer from any defect as they alleged the ultimate,
material facts of the offense for which the accused stood charged. The
accused in Miguel, who stood charged with violation of Section 3(e) of
Republic Act No. 3019 (RA 3019), had argued that the Information filed
against him was defective because the allegation of “evident bad faith and
manifest partiality” within the contemplation of such provision referred to
his co-accused. We rejected such claim, noting that the allegation in question
“was merely a continuation of the prior allegation of the acts’? of petitioner
and following the rule that “[t]he test of the [I]nformation’s sufficiency is
X X X whether the material facts alleged in the complaint or information
shall establish the essential elements of the offense charged as defined in the
law.” %

We applied the same rule to regject the claim of the accused in Go, on
trial for violation of Republic Act No. 337 (General Banking Act), that the
allegations in the Information filed against him were vague, a result of the
prosecution’s “shotgun approach” in framing the Information.” We found
the Information sufficient, as it complied with the rule that “an Information
only needs to state the ultimate facts constituting the offense, not the finer
details of why and how the illegal acts alleged amounted to undue injury or
damage x x x,” adding that “[t]he facts and circumstances necessary to be
included in the Information are determined by reference to the definition and
elements of the specific crimes.”*

The accused in Romualdez, like the accused in Miguel, also
guestioned the sufficiency of the allegations in the Information filed against
him for violation of Section 3(e) of RA 3019, contending that it failed to
indicate how his holding of dual positions caused “undue injury” to the
government. We dismissed the claim, noting that “[t] he allegation of ‘ undue
injury’ in the Information, consisting of the extent of the injury and how it
was caused, is complete” and that the details behind such element of the
offense are “matters that are appropriate for the trial.”* We based this
conclusion by reiterating that “an Information only needs to state the

476; People v. Rayon, G.R. No. 194236, 30 January 2013, 689 SCRA 745; People v. Subesa, G.R. No.
193660, 16 November 2011, 660 SCRA 390; Flordeliz v. People, 628 Phil. 124 (2010); People v.
Sumingwa, 618 Phil. 650 (2009); People v. Anguac, 606 Phil. 728 (2009); Los Bafios v. Pedro, 604
Phil. 215 (2009); People v. Abello, 601 Phil. 373 (2009); Olivarez v. Court of Appeals, 503 Phil. 421
(2005); Malto v. People, 560 Phil. 119 (2007); Reyesv. Camilon, G.R. No. 46198, 20 December 1990,
192 SCRA 445; People v. Mendoza, 256 Phil. 1136 (1989).

*  G.R.No. 172035, 4 July 2012, 675 SCRA 560.

® 619 Phil. 306 (2009).

® 581 Phil. 462 (2008).

#  Supraat 570.

% Supraat 570. Emphasis supplied.

®  Supraat 313, 315.

#  Supraat 317. Internal citation omitted; emphasis supplied.

®  Supraat 484.
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ultimate facts constituting the offense.”

During the same decade, we applied the rule in question in People v.
Sanico” (per Reyes, J.), People v. Banzuela® (per Leonardo-De Castro, J.),
Pielago v. People” (per Reyes, J.), People v. Rayon® (per Brion, J.), People
v. Subesa® (per Mendoza, J.), People v. Anguac® (per Velasco, J.), Los
Barios v. Pedro® (per Brion, J.) and People v. Abello* (per Brion, J.) to
determine the offense committed (as opposed to what is stated in the caption
or preamble of the Information). The accused in Sanico was charged with
acts of lasciviousness as penalized under the Revised Penal Code (RPC),
although the alegations in the Information covered the elements for acts of
lasciviousness as penalized under Republic Act No. 7610 (RA 7610). In
sustaining the Court of Appeals’ imposition of the penalty under RA 7610,
we ruled that the failure of the prosecution to allege violation of RA 7610 is
not fatal as “[t]he character of the crime is not determined by the caption or
preamble of the information nor by the specification of the provision of law
alleged to have been violated, but by the recital of the ultimate facts and
circumstances in the complaint or information.”*

In contrast with the facts in Sanico, the accused in Banzuela stood
charged with acts of lasciviousness in violation of RA 7610 but the
Information failed to allege the element under Section 5 of that law that the
victim is a “child exploited in prostitution or subjected to other sexual
abuse.” Thus, we held that the accused can only be made to suffer the
penalty provided for acts of lasciviousness as penalized under the RPC
because “the character of the crime is determined neither by the caption or
preamble of the information[,] nor by the specification of the provision of
law alleged to have been violated x x x but by the recital of the ultimate
facts and circumstances in the information.”* We applied the same rule in
Abello to hold the accused liable for acts of lasciviousness as penalized
under the RPC even though the Information filed against him charged him
with acts of lasciviousness as penalized under RA 7610 on the ground that
the prosecution failed to allege and prove the element of coercion or
intimidation as required under Section 5(b) of the latter law.

In Pielago, we held that the amendment of the Information against the
accused changing the designation of the crime alleged from “acts of
lasciviousness in relation to Section 5(b) of RA 7610” to “the crime of rape

% Supra at 484.

z G.R. No. 208469, 13 August 2014.

28 G.R. No. 202060, 11 December 2013, 712 SCRA 735.
* G.R. No. 202020, 13 March 2013, 693 SCRA 476.

® G.R. No. 194236, 30 January 2013, 689 SCRA 745.

. G.R. No. 193660, 16 November 2011, 660 SCRA 390.
2 606 Phil. 728 (2009).

® 604 Phil. 215 (2009).

# 601 Phil. 373 (2009).

% Supra. Emphasis supplied.

Supraat 762. Internal citation omitted; emphasis supplied.

36



Dissenting Opinion 8 G.R. No. 213455

by sexual assault penalized under Article 266-A(2)"% of the RPC is not
prejudicial to the accused because the original Information aready alleged
the elements of the latter felony and the “character of the crime is not
determined by the caption or preamble of the information nor from the
specification of the provision of law aleged to have been violated, but by
the recital of the ultimate facts and circumstances in the complaint or
information.”® We arrived at the same conclusion in Subesa where the
accused was charged with acts of lasciviousness under RA 7610 but was
held liable for rape under Article 266-A(2) of the RPC.

The Court again applied the rule in question in Rayon which presented
a variance between the crime designated and the acts aleged in the
Information. In that case, the accused was charged with violation of Section
10(1), Article VI of RA 7610 (penalizing, among others, other acts of abuse)
but the allegations in the Information made out a violation of Section 5(b)
of the same law (penalizing sexual abuse of children). In holding the accused
liable for the latter crime, we reiterated the rule that “the character of the
crime is not determined by the caption or preamble of the information x x x
but by the recital of the ultimate facts and circumstances in the complaint or
information.”

Anguac, on the other hand, involved an accused who was charged
with violation of Section 5(1) of RA 7610 (penalizing acts relating to child
prostitution) but the acts alleged in the Information and the evidence
presented during trial made out a case for violation of Section 5(b) of that
law (penalizing sexual abuse of children). In holding the accused liable for
the latter offense, we again held that “the character of the crime is
determined neither by the caption or preamble of the information x x x but
by the recital of the ultimate facts and circumstances in the information.”*

Lastly, in Los Bafios, which involved an accused who was charged
with violation of Section 261(q) of the Omnibus Election Code and not with
violation of its amendatory law, Section 32 of Republic Act No. 7166, we
considered such omission non-consequential because both provisions punish
the same act of “carrying of firearms in public places during the election
period without the authority of the COMELEC,”* reiterating at the same
time the rule that “the character of the crime is not determined by the caption
or preamble of theinformation x x x [but] by the recital of the ultimate facts
and circumstances in the complaint or information.”

The Information filed against petitioner in the case at bar complies
with the foregoing rule. It alleged that petitioner, a public official, conspiring

¥ Supra at 487.

® Supra at 488. Internal citation omitted; emphasis supplied.

% Supra at 759-760. Internal citation omitted; emphasis supplied.
© Supraat 739. Internal citation omitted.

“ Supra at 236.

? Supra at 236. Internal citation omitted; emphasis supplied.
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with his co-accused Napoles, received from the latter, on several occasions,
kickbacks of more than P50 million from fictitious projects he funded with
his legidative discretionary fund through conduit NGOs controlled by
Napoles, unjustly enriching himself. These allegations state the basic,
ultimate facts constituting the elements of plunder as defined under RA
7080. As aptly observed by the Sandiganbayan:

An objective and judicious reading of the x x x Information shows
that there is nothing ambiguous or confusing in the allegations therein.
The Information clearly alleges that accused Enrile and Reyes committed
the offense in relation to their respective public offices and that they
conspired with each other and with accused Napoles, Lim and De Asis, to
amass, accumulate, and/or acquire ill-gotten wealth amounting to at least
PhP172,834,500.00. The combination or series of overt criminal acts
that the said accused performed include the following circumstances:
before, during and/or after the project identification, Napoles gave, and
accused Enrile and/or Reyes received, a percentage of the cost of a
project to be funded from Enrile’'s PDAF, in consideration of Enrile’s
endorsement, directly or through Reyes, to the appropriate government
agencies, of Napoles non-government organizations (NGOs). These
NGOs became the recipients and/or target implementors of Enrile's
PDAF projects, which duly-funded projects turned out to be ghosts or
fictitious, thus enabling Napoles to misappropriate the PDAF proceeds
for her persona gain. Sub-paragraph (b), on the other hand, alleges the
predicate act that said accused Enrile and Reyes took undue advantage,
on several occasions, of their official positions, authority, relationships,
connections, and influence to unjustly enrich themselves at the expense
and to the damage and prejudice, of the Filipino people and the Republic
of the Philippines.

The Court finds that the alegations in the subject Information
sufficiently comply with the requirements of Sections 6, 8 and 9 of Rule
10 of the Revised Rules of Criminal Procedure. These allegations
adequately apprise the herein accused of the nature and cause of the
accusations against them.® (Emphasis supplied)

Interestingly, the lack of allegations in an Information for plunder
through receipt of kickbacks (among others) on the (1) the breakdown of the
total amount of kickbacks received; (2) dates of receipt of such; (3) the
names of the persons who gave the kickbacks; (4) the names of the persons
who received them; and (5) the combination or series of acts involving the
receipt of such kickbacks, did not €licit any complaint of vagueness from an

43

Resolution dated 3 July 2014 (denying motion to dismiss); Comment, p. 9. In its Resolution dated 11
July 2014, denying petitioner’s motion for a bill of particulars, the Sandiganbayan reiterated the
observation it made in its Resolution of 3 July 2014 on the sufficiency of the allegations in the
Information filed against petitioner:

The Court already upheld the sufficiency of the allegations in the Information
charging accused Enrile, among other persons, with the crime of plunder in its
Resolution dated July 3, 2014. It finds no cogent reason to reconsider its ruling.

Moreover, the “desired details’ that accused Enrile would like the
prosecution to provide are evidentiary in nature, which need not be alleged in the
Information. x x X. (Rollo, pp. 166, 168; emphasis supplied)
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accused whom petitioner’s counsel also represented in the Sandiganbayan.
The Information for plunder filed against former President Joseph Estrada in
2001, then represented by Atty. Estelito Mendoza as lead counsel, alleged
that the former received kickbacks breaching the plunder threshold of P50
million without stating the details in question. The Information reads in
relevant parts:

That during the period from June, 1998 to January, 2001, in the
Philippines, and within the jurisdiction of this Honorable Court, accused
Joseph Ejercito Estrada, then a public officer, being then the President of
the Republic of the Philippines, by himsedf and/or in
connivance/conspiracy with his co-accused, who are members of his
family, relatives by affinity or consanguinity, business associates,
subordinates and/or other persons, by taking undue advantage of his
official position, x x x did then and there wilfully, unlawfully and
criminaly amass, accumulate and acquire by himself, directly or
indirectly, ill-gotten wealth in the aggregate amount or total value of four
billion ninety seven million eight hundred four thousand one hundred
seventy three pesos and seventeen centavos [P4,097,804,173.17], more or
less, thereby unjustly enriching himself or themselves at the expense
and to the damage of the Filipino people and the Republic of the
Philippines, through any or a combination or a series of overt or
criminal acts, or similar schemes or means, described as follows:

(@) by receiving or collecting, directly or indirectly, on several
instances, money in the aggregate amount of five hundred forty-five
million pesos (R545,000,000.00), more or less, from illegal gambling in
the form of gift, share, percentage, kickback or any form of pecuniary
benefit, by himself and/or in connivance with co-accused Charlie
“Atong” Ang, Jose “Jinggoy” Estrada, Yolanda T. Ricaforte, Edward
Serapio, and John Does and Jane Does, in consideration of toleration or
protection of illegal gambling;

XXXX

(d) by unjustly enriching himself from commissions, gifts, shares,
percentages, kickbacks, or any form of pecuniary benefits, in connivance
with John Does and Jane Does, in the amount of more or less three
billion two hundred thirty three million one hundred four thousand one
hundred seventy three pesos and seventeen  centavos
[P3,233,104,173.17] and depositing the same under his account name
“Jose Velarde” at the Equitable-PCI Bank.* (Emphasis supplied)

That this Court had no occasion to review the clarity of the allegations
in the Estrada Information® for purposes of issuing a bill of particularsis no
argument to ignore the import of such alegations to resolve the case at bar.
On the contrary, Estrada’s decision not to seek a bill of particulars can only
mean that he considered such allegations clear enough to allow him, with the
“  Estrada v. Sandiganbayan, supra note 7, at 423-425 (2001).

* Estrada went to this Court to assail the constitutionality of the plunder law (see Estrada v.
Sandiganbayan, id.). It is of interest, however, that in dismissing Estrada's petition, the Court

observed that the Information filed against him contains “nothing x x x that is vague or ambiguous
X X X that will confuse petitioner in his defense.” 1d. at 347.
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aid of his counsel, now petitioner’s counsel, to “properly x x x plead and
prepare for trial.”*°

| nformation Considered Together With
the Preliminary I nvestigation Resolution

The basis of petitioner’s indictment before the Sandiganbayan is a
144-page Resolution, dated 28 March 2014, of the Office of the Ombudsman
(Resolution, see Annex “A”), attached to the Information and furnished to
petitioner, finding probable cause to charge him for the offense of plunder.*
The Resolution contains all the details petitioner sought in his motion for
a bill of particulars and which the ponencia grants (see comparative table
in Annex “B”). Thus, the “combination” or “series’ of acts committed by
petitioner and his co-accused constituting the offense of plunder, the form of
kickbacks received by petitioner, the breakdown of the total amount of
kickbacks petitioner received, the names of persons who gave and received
the kickbacks, the names of the projects funded by petitioner’s pork barrel
funds, their description, beneficiaries, costs, implementing agencies and
partner organizations controlled by petitioner’s co-accused Janet Napoles,
and the names of the government agencies to which such projects were
endorsed are all found and discussed in the Resolution.® Petitioner also
had access to the documents supporting the Resol ution.*

The Resolution, already in petitioner’s possession, taken together
with the allegations in the Information, provide petitioner with the details
and information he needs to “enable him properly to plead and prepare
for trial.” As an inseparable complement to the Information, the
Resolution must be read together with the allegations in the Information
to determine whether the allegations in the Information are vague. It is
only when the allegations in the Information, taken together with the
Resolution, leave ambiguities in the basic facts constituting the elements
of the offense of plunder that a bill of particulars should issue. If, as here,
the alegationsin the Information, taken together with the Resolution, clearly
make out the ultimate facts constituting the elements of plunder, a bill of
particulars is not only unnecessary but also improper.

It will not do for petitioner to feign ignorance of the fact that the
Resolution contains the details he seeks from the prosecution in his motion
for a bill of particulars. The Resolution is based on the affidavits of
witnesses and other public documents which petitioner thoroughly parsed
and attacked in his Omnibus Motion, dated 10 June 2014, filed before the

®  The Informations filed against Estrada's co-accused were substantially identical to that filed against
him; none of them sought a bill of particulars.

“ Rollo, pp. 19-20; Petition, pp. 13-14.

*®  Resolution, pp. 11-24, 28, 62-68, 83-103, 124-136.

“ Rollo, pp. 19-20.
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Sandiganbayan, to dismiss the case against him.* For the same reason,
petitioner’'s demonstrated familiarity with the detalls relating to the
allegations in the Information filed against him overcomes the presumption
that he has no “independent knowledge of the facts that constitute the
offense”*" of which he is charged.

Considering the ultimate facts aleged in the Information together with
the relevant facts alleged in the Resolution indisputably involves a
procedural matter, which does not encompass any constitutional right of an
accused. Itisan act which every accused expectedly undertakes in order to
inform himself of the charges against him and intelligently prepare his
defense. In short, it deals precisely with how the accused should defend
himself.

Since reading the Information together with the Resolution concerns a
procedura rule, and in fact is actually practiced at al times by every
accused, there is no basis to require such practice to be conducted
prospectively, that is, only after the promulgation of the decision in the case
at bar, absent any clear showing of impairment of substantive rights.>

Generally, rules of procedure can be given retroactive effect. “It is
axiomatic that the retroactive application of procedural laws does not violate
any right of a person who may fed that he is adversely affected, nor is it
constitutionally objectionable. The reason for this is that, as a genera rule,
no vested right may attach to, nor arise from, procedural laws.”>

Further, requiring the accused to consider the alegations in the
Information together with the allegations in the Resolution does not in any
way prejudice any constitutional or substantive rights of the accused. On the
contrary, such act benefits immensely the accused insofar as it adequately
apprises him of the charges against him and clarifies the allegations in the
Information.

Id. at 172-226. Petitioner assailed the contents of the affidavits and other public documents in question
not because they lacked the details substantiating the charge filed against him but because he
considered them either hearsay or without probative value.

*  Balitaan v. CFI of Batangas, 201 Phil. 311, 323 (1982).

% SeeSection 5 (5), Article VIII, Congtitution. This provision reads: “ SECTION 5. The Supreme Court
shall have the following powers:

X X X X

(5) Promulgate rules concerning the protection and enforcement of constitutional rights, pleading,
practice, and procedure in al courts, the admission to the practice of law, the Integrated Bar, and legal
assistance to the underprivileged. Such rules shall provide a simplified and inexpensive procedure for
the speedy disposition of cases, shall be uniform for al courts of the same grade, and shall not
diminish, increase, or modify substantive rights. Rules of procedure of special courts and quasi-
judicial bodies shall remain effective unless disapproved by the Supreme Court.”

% Cheng v. Spouses Sy, 609 Phil. 617, 626 (2009), citing Tan, Jr. v. Court of Appeals, 424 Phil. 556, 559
(2002).
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Jurisprudence Cited by the Ponencia | napplicable

The cases invoked by the ponencia as precedents for granting a bill of
particulars to petitioner — Republic v. Sandiganbayan, Tantuico V.
Republic™ and Virata v. Sandiganbayan,®® among others — are not in point
because none of them involved an accused who, like petitioner, underwent
preliminary investigation where he was afforded access to documents
supporting the charge against him. All those cases involved civil
proceedings for the forfeiture of ill-gotten wealth where the respondents had
no way of knowing the details of the government’s case against them until
after they were served a copy of the forfeiture complaints. The ambiguities
in the allegations of the complaints filed against the respondents in those
cases cannot be clarified by reference to other documents akin to a
preliminary investigation resolution. They were left with no other recourse
but to seek clarification through a bill of particulars in order to adequately
prepare their responsive pleadings.

Plunder Charge Not Unique

According to the ponencia, “conviction for plunder carries with it the
penalty of capital punishment, for this reason, more process is due, not
less.”>” The ponencia seeks to impress that those accused of the crime of
plunder must be extended special treatment, requiring evidentiary matters to
be alleged in the Information, in view of the penalty involved, which is
reclusion perpetua.

The penalty of reclusion perpetua is not imposable exclusively to
those accused and found guilty of plunder. This punishment likewise
attaches to the crimes of murder,”® serious illegal detention,” and rape,®

* 565 Phil. 172 (2007).

% G.R. No. 89114, 2 December 1991, 204 SCRA 428.

* G.R. No. 106527, 6 April 1993, 221 SCRA 52.

¥ Ponencia, p. 34.

®  Article 248 of the Revised Penal Code pertinently provides:

Art. 248. Murder. — Any person who, not falling within the provisions of Article 246, shall kill
another, shall be guilty of murder and shall be punished by reclusion perpetua to death if committed
with any of the following attendant circumstances:

X X X X
*  Article 267 of the Revised Penal Code pertinently provides:

Art. 267. Kidnapping and serious illegal detention. — Any private individual who shall kidnap or
detain another, or in any other manner deprive him of his liberty, shall suffer the penalty of reclusion
per petua to death:

X X X X
®  Articles 266-A and 266-B of the Revised Penal Code pertinently provide:

Article 266-A. Rape, When And How Committed. — Rape is committed:

1) By aman who shall have carnal knowledge of awoman under any of the following circumstances:
a) Through force, threat, or intimidation;
b) When the offended party is deprived of reason or otherwise unconscious;
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among others. Meanwhile, syndicated estafa,”* qualified trafficking in
persons,® possession of prohibited drugs® and illegal recruitment in large
scale® carry with it the penaty of life imprisonment, which is a penalty
har sher than reclusion perpetua.

The ponencia gravely implies that a plunder charge uniquely places an
accused in a more protective mantle, by requiring the prosecution to allege
in the Information very specific details of evidentiary nature, due to the stiff
penalty involved. In contrast, the Informations for other crimes, which do

not even involve pilfering of public funds but likewise carry the penalty of
¢) By means of fraudulent machination or grave abuse of authority; and
d) When the offended party is under twelve (12) years of age or is demented, even though
none of the circumstances mentioned above be present.

XX XX

Article 266-B. Penalty. - Rape under paragraph 1 of the next preceding article shall be punished by
reclusion perpetua.

*  Presidential Decree No. 1689, dated 6 April 1980, increased the penalty for certain forms of swindling
or estafa. Section 1 thereof provides:

Section 1. Any person or persons who shall commit estafa or other forms of swindling as defined in
Article 315 and 316 of the Revised Penal Code, as amended, shall be punished by life imprisonment
to death if the swindling (estafa) is committed by a syndicate consisting of five or more persons
formed with the intention of carrying out the unlawful or illegal act, transaction, enterprise or scheme,
and the defraudation results in the misappropriation of money contributed by stockholders, or
members of rural banks, cooperatives, samahang nayon(s), or farmers associations, or of funds
solicited by corporations/ associations from the general public.
X X X X

®  Republic Act No. 10364, or the “Expanded Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act of 2012" amended
Sections 6 and 10 of Republic Act No. 9208 to pertinently read as follows:

Section 9. Section 6 of Republic Act No. 9208 is hereby amended to read as follows:
“SEC. 6. Qualified Trafficking in Persons. — Violations of Section 4 of thisAct shall be considered
as qualified trafficking:
“X X X
“(d) When the offender is a spouse, an ascendant, parent, sibling, guardian or a person who
exercises authority over the trafficked person or when the offense is committed by a public officer
or employes;
“X XX
“(f) When the offender is amember of the military or law enforcement agencies;
“(9) When by reason or on occasion of the act of trafficking in persons, the offended party dies,
becomes insane, suffers mutilation or is afflicted with Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) or
the Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS);
“(h) When the offender commits one or more violations of Section 4 over a period of sixty (60) or
more days, whether those days are continuous or not; and
“(i) When the offender directs or through another manages the trafficking victim in carrying out
the exploitative purpose of trafficking.”

Section 12. Section 10 of Republic Act No. 9208 is hereby amended to read as follows:
“X XXX
(e) Any person found guilty of qualified trafficking under Section 6 shall suffer the penalty of life
imprisonment and a fine of not less than Two million pesos (£2,000,000.00) but not more than
Five million pesos (P5,000,000.00);
XXX X"
Section 11 of Republic Act No. 9165 or the Comprehensive Dangerous Drugs Act of 2002 pertinently
provides:

63

Section 11. Possession of Dangerous Drugs. - The penalty of life imprisonment to death and a fine
ranging from Five hundred thousand pesos (P500,000.00) to Ten million pesos (P10,000,000.00) shall
be imposed upon any person, who, unless authorized by law, shall possess any dangerous drug in the
following quantities, regardless of the degree of purity thereof:

X X X X
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reclusion perpetua or even, life imprisonment, are merely required to
contain allegations of ultimate facts.

The ponencia exaggerates the crime of plunder by implying that it isa
very complex crime involving “intricate predicate crimina acts and
numerous transactions and schemes that span a period of time.”® The
ponencia unreasonably classifies plunder as a crime more complicated to
commit than other crimes similarly punishable with reclusion perpetua or
with the more severe penalty of life imprisonment. As a consequence, the
ponencia unjustifiably treats those accused of plunder extraordinarily. There
Isplainly no basis for such special treatment.

Suffice it to state, plunder is no more complex than murder or
syndicated estafa, or any other crime. For instance, there is plunder if the
accused public officer acquired ill-gotten wealth by committing two acts of
malversation of public funds with a total amount of at least £50,000,000.
Murder, on the other hand, involves killing another person attended by any
of the qualifying circumstances in Article 248 of the Revised Penal Code.
Meanwhile, syndicated estafa is committed by five or more persons formed
with the intention of defrauding members of associations and
misappropriating the latter's money. Simply put, the rule requiring merely
the ultimate facts to be aleged in the Information applies equally to all types
of crimes or offenses, regardless of the nature thereof. Otherwise, to accord
those accused with plunder an exceptional treatment, by requiring the
prosecution to allege in the Information all the unnecessary finer details in
the commission of plunder, denies those charged with similarly serious or
more serious crimes the equal protection of the law.

Pernicious Consequences in Granting the Petition

The ponencia’s disposition of this caseto (1) set aside the ruling of the
Sandiganbayan as having been rendered with grave abuse of discretion even
though the Sandiganbayan merely followed existing law in the proper
exercise of its discretion; (2) order the prosecution to provide petitioner with
most of the details listed in his motion for a bill of particulars even though
petitioner had access to and possess such details; and (3) direct the

prosecution to amend the Information filed against petitioner in light of its

#  Section 7 of Republic Act No. 8042 or the Migrant Workers and Overseas Filipinos Act of 1995, as
amended by Republic Act No. 10022, pertinently provides:

XX XX

(b) The penalty of life imprisonment and a fine of not less than Two million pesos (£2,000,000.00)
nor more than Five million pesos (P5,000,000.00) shall be imposed if illegal recruitment
constitutes economic sabotage as defined therein.

Section 5(m) of the same law states that: “Illegal recruitment when committed by a syndicate or in
large scale shall be considered as offense involving economic sabotage.”

% Ponencia, p. 34.
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finding that the allegations in the Information are vague even though they
are clear, throws in disarray the orderly application of remedial rules in
criminal proceedings. The ponencia turns on its head the purpose of
remedial rules of “securing ajust x x x disposition of every action x x x.”®

More alarmingly, the ruling unwittingly opens the door for persons
presently facing prosecution to seek re-arraignment and new trial. By
mutating the nature of an Information to require allegation not only of the
ultimate facts constituting the elements of the offense charged but also all
the details substantiating them, ostensibly to satisfy the procedural due
process right of the accused, the ponencia not only repeals Rules of Court
provisions on the nature and content of an Information,®” but also vastly
expands the breadth of the procedural due process right of the accused to a
degree unheard of since the advent of criminal procedure in this jurisdiction.
As a new doctrine favoring the accused, the ruling hands to any person
facing criminal prosecution today a new doctrinal basis to demand re-
arraignment and re-trial on the ground of denial of due process. The
Informations filed against these persons aleged only the ultimate facts,
devoid of supporting details, following the Rules of Court and relevant
jurisprudence.

The Court foresaw and prevented a similar scenario from unfolding in
the recent case of Estrada v. Ombudsman® where the petitioner, also a
public official undergoing prosecution for plunder, sought to redefine the
nature of preliminary investigation to make it comparable to administrative
proceedings. We rejected such theory, cognizant of the nightmarish chaos it
would unleash on the country’s criminal justice system:

[T]o x x x declare that the guidelines in Ang Tibay, as amplified in
GSS are fundamental and essential requirements in  preliminary
investigations will render all past and present preliminary investigations
invalid for violation of constitutional due process. This will mean
remanding for reinvestigation all criminal cases now pending in all courts
throughout the country. No preliminary investigation can proceed until a
new law designates a public officer, outside of the prosecution service,
to determine probable cause. Moreover, those serving sentences by
final judgment would have to bereleased from prison because their
conviction violated constitutional due process.® (Emphasis supplied)

Estrada is a cautionary tale against tinkering with settled rules of criminal
procedure in the guise of affording the accused his constitutional due process
right.

®  Section 6, Rule 1, Rules.

¥ Rule 110, Section 4 on the definition of an Information provides: “An Information is an accusation in
writing charging a person with an offense x x x.” Rule 110, Section 6 states the rule on the
sufficiency of an Information: “A complaint or information is sufficient if it states the name of the
accused; the designation of the offense given by the statute; the acts or omissions complained of as
constituting the offense; the name of the offended party; the approximate date of the commission of
the offense; and the place where the offense was committed.” (Emphasis supplied)

®  G.R. Nos. 212140-41, 21 January 2015.

® ld.a 34
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On the other hand, the pernicious practical implications of the
ponencia are: (1) the discretion of trial court judges, so vital in the
performance of their day-to-day functions, will be hamstrung by this Court’s
loose application of the heightened certiorari standard of review of grave,
not simple, abuse of discretion; (2) the remedy of a bill of particulars will
become a de riguer tool for the accused awaiting arraignment to delay
proceedings by simply claiming that the allegations in the Information filed
against him are vague even though, taken together with the preliminary
investigation resolution, they clearly state the ultimate facts constituting the
elements of the offense charged; and (3) the prosecutorial arm of the
government, already hampered with inadequate resources, will be further
burdened with the task of collating for the accused the details on the
allegations in the Information filed against him even though such are found .
in the preliminary investigation resolution.

The entire rubric of the rules of criminal procedure rests on the
guarantee afforded by the Constitution that “no person shall be held to
answer for a criminal offense without due process of law.”” The “due
process of law” contemplated in this guarantee, however, means procedure
bounded by reason. It does not envision procedure defying law, logic and
common sense.

Accordingly, I vote to DISMISS the petition for lack of grave abuse
of discretion on the part of the Sandiganbayan (Third Division).

o~

ANTONIO T. CARPIO
Associate Justice

0

Section 14(1), Article I1I, Constitution.
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Annex “B”

COMPARATIVE TABLE ON THE DETAILS SOUGHT IN PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR BILL OF PARTICULARS
WHICH THE PONENCIA GRANTS, THE CONTENTS OF THE OMBUDSMAN RESOLUTION
DATED 28 MARCH 2014 AND THE DISSENT OF CARPIO, J.

Petitioner’ s Motion for Bill of Particulars

Ponencia of Brion, J.

Ombudsman Resolution of 28 March 2014
(Resolution) and Dissent of
Carpio, J.

What are the particular overt acts which
constitute the “combination”? What are
the particular overt acts which constitute
the “series’ ? Who committed these acts?

GRANTED. x x x x [T]he various overt acts that
constitute the “combination” and “series’ the
Information aleged, are material facts that should
not only be alleged, but be stated with sufficient
definiteness so that the accused would know what
he is specifically charged of and why he stands
charged, so he can properly defend himself x x x.

(p-27)

The details sought and granted are discussed on
pp. 11-24, 62-68 of the Resolution.*

If [the kickbacks were received] on
several occasons and in different
amounts, specify the amount on each
occasion and the corresponding date of
receipt.

GRANTED. [T]he amounts involved x x x should
be stated; these transactions are not necessarily
uniform in amount and cannot simply collectively
be described as amounting to P172,834,500 without
hampering Enrile sright to respond x x X. (p. 28)

Enrile should likewise know the approximate dates
a least of the receipt of the kickbacks and

The details sought and granted are found on p. 28
of the Resolution. (Indicating the breakdown of
kickbacks petitioner indirectly received from
Napoles annually during the period 2004-2010,
totaling P172,834,5007).

1 Inits Resolution, the Office of the Ombudsman (Ombudsman) found that the accused’ s modus operandi, encompassing the series or combination of acts within the meaning of the Plunder Law,
consists of petitioner’s staff, either through Atty. Jessica Reyes (Reyes) or Atty. Jose Antonio Evangelista Il, tipping the camp of his co-accused Janet Napoles (Napoles) of available pork barrel
funds for use in a pre-agreed scheme to funnel such funds to Napoles private organizations (NGOs) to finance ghost projects concocted by Napoles in exchange for kickbacks or commissions
indirectly paid to petitioner and his co-accused, with Napoles and other public officials also receiving their share of “commissions.” This modus operandi, the Ombudsman stated, was followed in
nine projects funded by petitioner’s pork barrel funds for which petitioner received atotal kickback of at least P172,834,500.

2 Namely, P1,500,000 in 2004; £14,662,000 in 2005; £13,300,000 in 2006; £27,112,500 in 2007; 62,550,000 in 2008; £23,750,000 in 2009 and £30,000,000 in 2010. The Resolution stated (p. 28)

that these figures were based on the entriesin the ledger kept by Benhur Luy (Luy), akey prosecution witness. Such entries are evidentiary matters which are properly disclosed during trial and need
not be alleged in the Information.



commissions, so that he could prepare the necessary
pieces of evidence x x x to disprove the allegations
against him. (p. 28)

Describe each project identified, how and
by whom identified, the nature, location
and cost of each project.

GRANTED. x x x [T]he “identified project” and
“Napoles NGO” are material facts that should be
clearly and definitely stated in the Information to
alow Enrile to adequately prepare his defense
evidence on the specific transaction pointed to. (p.
29)

The details sought and granted are found on pp.
14-16 of the Resolution. (The list of the Napoles
NGOs is found on pp. 14, 65° while a tabular list
of the projects in question, their respective
beneficiaries, costs, implementing agencies and
partner Napoles NGOs is found on pp. 15-16.7)

When and to whom did Enrile endorse the
projects in favor of “Napoles [NGOs]”
which became the recipients and/or target
implementors of Enrile's PDAF Projects?
Name the Napoles NGOs which became
the recipients/target implementors of
Enriles PDAF Projectss. Who pad
Napoles, and from whom did Napoles
collect the funds for the projects which
turned out to be ghosts or fictitious? Who
authorized the payments for each project?

GRANTED. The government agencies to whom
Enrile endorsed Napoles NGOs are aso material
facts that must be specified, since they served a
necessary role in the crime charged — the alleged
conduits between Enrile and Napoles NGOs x x X.

(p. 29)

The details sought and granted are found on pp.
11, 14 of the Resolution.”

The other details sought by petitioner are found on
pp. 15-16 of the Resolution. (see note 6)

% The Resolution identified these NGOs as Agri and Economic Program for Farmers Foundation, Inc. (AEPPF); Agricultura Para sa Magbubukid Foundation, Inc. (APMFI); Countrywide Agri and
Rural Economic Development Foundation, Inc. (CARED); Masaganang Ani Para sa Magsasaka Foundation, Inc. (MAMFI); People’s Organization for Progress and Development Foundation, Inc.
(POPDFI); and Socia Development Program for Farmers Foundation, Inc. (SDPFFI).

* The Resolution listed nine (9) projects.

® The Resolution stated that the relevant implementing agencies are the National Agribusiness Corporation (NABCOR), Nationa Livelihood Development Corporation (NLDC) and Technology
Resource Center (TRC).
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For resolution by the Special Panel of Investigators?

constituted on 21 September 2013 by the Ombudsman to

| . )
conduct preliminaty. investigation on: 1) the complaint filed on

September 1€, 2013 with this Office by the National Bureau of

Investigation | (NEI) and Atty. Levito Baligod (The NBI

Complaint), for viglation of Republic Act (RA) No. 7080 (An Act

Defining and Penplizing the Crime of Plunder), and 2) the

complaint filed lon November 18, 2013 by the Field

Investlgatlon OfﬁJ:e (FIO), Office of the Ombudsman, for

violations of Sectmn 3{e) of RA 3019 (The Ant1 Graft and

Corrupt Practi’ces'Actl and Plunder, in connection with the

alleged anomalou§ utilization of the Priority Development

|

Assistance Fund (I'IDAF) of Senator Juan Ponce Enrile {Senator

Enrile) from 2004 to 2010.

The NBI' Corr%plajnt for Plunder, docketed as OMB-C-C-

13-0318, charges ;the following respondents:

Name |

Position/Agency

Juan Ponce Enrile (Enrile}

Senator

»

dJessica Lucﬂa Gonzales Reyes {Reyes)

Jose Antonio Valera Evangelista il
(Evangelista)

Chief of Staff /Office of Senator Enrile |
Former Director V/Deputy Chiefof | °
Staff /
Office of Senator Enrile:

Janet Lim Napoles (Napoles)

Private respondent

— i , o
? Per Office OrderNo, 349, Sertes of 2013,
H

!
ot
|
|
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Ruby Tuason (Tuasonj

Private respondent

Alan A. Javellana (Javellana

Former President
National Agribusiness Corporation

Gondelina Guadalupe Amatﬁx (Amata)

President
Nat’l Livelihood Development Corp.

i
Antonio Yrigon Ortiz (Crtiz)

Director General
Technology Resource Center

Jocelyn Ditchon Piorato (Piorato)

Agricultura Para Sa Magbubukid.
Foundation, Inc. (APMF])

Nemesio Pablo, Jr. (Pablo)

Private respondent .

Mylene Tagayon Encamacidn (Encarnacion}

Private respondent

John Raymond Sales De Asis {De Asis)

Countrywide Agri-aind Rural Economic
Development Foundation, Inc.

Evelyn Ditchon De Leon (De ’Leon)

Private respondent

Dennis Lacson Curianan {Cynanan)

Deputy Director General
Technology Resource Center

Victor Roman Cacal (Cacal)

Paralegal
National Agribusiness Corporation

Romulo M. Relevo  (Relevo)'

National Agribusiness Corporation

Maria Ninez Guatizo (Guafizo)
]

Bookkeeper/OIC Accounting Division
National Agribusiness Corporation

. ]
Ma. Julie Asor Villaralvo-Johnson (Johnson)

Former Chief Accountant/National
Agribusiness Corporation

Rhodora Bulatad Mencoza (:Mendoza)

.
L}

Former Director for Financial
Management Services and Former Vice
President for Administration and
Finance/National Agnbusmes
Corporation

Gregoria G. Buenaventura (Buenaventura)

National Livelihood Development
Corporation

Emmanuel Alexi$ Gagni ch{dal (chidal)

Director IV .
National Livelihood Development
Corporation

'
t
i

Sofia Daing Cruz {Cruz)

Ch1ef Financial Specialist/Project
Development Assistant IV/National
Livelihood Developrment Corporation

Chita Chua Jalandoni (Jalaindoni)

Department Manager II1
National Livelihood Development
Corporation

Francisco Baldoza Figura (l:"‘igura)

Department Manager lil Technology
Resource Center -

Marivic Villaluz Jover ( J'pver) ' Chief Accountant/ Technology
) . . Resource Center
_ Undersecretary for
Mario L. Relampagos (Relampagos) Operations/Department of Budget and
e e : Management (DBM)

Leah?

Office of the Undersecretary for
Operations/Department of Budget and,
Management (DBM)

Lalaine!

Office of the Undersecretary for

3 See riote 116 ‘which idvntifics her as Rosario Nufiez.

Scenote 116which fdentitics Lier as Lalaine Panle,

Operations/Department of Budget and
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Management (DBM]) .

Malou®

Office of the Undersecretary for
Operations/Department of Budget and
Management (DBM])

) l
JOHN and JANE DOES !

The FIC; con;xplaint,s on the other hand, docketed as

OMB-C-C-13-0396, charges the following individuals with

Plunder and violation of Section 3(e) of the Anti-Graft and

Corrupt Practices Act:

- 2 -

Name

Pasition/Agency 1

.Juan Ponce Enrile (Enrile)

.Senator

Jessica Lucila Gonzales Reyes! (Reyes)

Chief of Staff /Office of Senator Enrile

Jose Antonio Valera Evangelis'Fa II (Evangelista)

Former Director V/Deputy Chief of
- Staff
Office of Senator Ennle

Alan Alunan Javellana (Javellana)

Former President
National Agribusiness Corporation

Rhodora Bulatad Mendoza (I\/Jjendoza) '

Former Director for Financial -
Management Services and Former Vice
President for Administration and
Finance
National Agribusiness Corporation

Victor Roman Cacal ('Ca;:al) |
I

Paralegal
National Agribusiness Corporation .

Maria Ninez Paredes Guaiizo |(Guaf1izo)
|

Bookkeeper/OIC Accounting Division
National Agribusiness Corporation

g}ncarnita Cristina Potian Munsod (Munsod)

Former Manager of Human Resources
Administrative Service Division
National Agribusiness Corporation

. . !
Ma. Julie Asor Villaralvo-Johnson (Johnson)

- Former Chief Accountant
National Agribusiness Corporation

Shyr Ann Montuya  (Montuya)

‘ Accounting Assistant
National Agribusiness Corporation

Gondelina Guadalupe Amata i(Amata)

~ President
National Livelitiood Development
Corporation

, -
Chita Chua Jalandq_ni . - (Jaldndoni)

Department Manager I11
N ational Livelihood Development
Corporation

“mma.nucl Alems Cragm Sev1d1al (Sewdal)

Director IV
Natmnal Livelihood Development
Caorporation

Ofcha Olcnto Ordonez . (Ordonez)

5 See note {16 which identifies her as Marilou Bare,

P.ccmds:, ro- 5-157, Bluc Foldgr, OMB-C-C-11-0306, -
. o t oL L

Cashier IV
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National Livelihood Development
Corporation

I
: !
’Filipina Tolentino Rodriguez (Rodriguez)

Budget Officer IV
National Livelihood Development
Corporation

Chiel Financial Specialist/Project
Development Assistant IV
National Livelihood Development

Corporation '

|

|

Sofia Daing Cruz (Cruz) |
| i

!

|

Antonio Yrigon Ortiz (Ortiz)

Director General
Technology Resource Center |

Dennis Lacson Cunanan (Curianan)

Deputy Director General
Technology Resource Center

Maria Rosalinda Masongsong Lacsamana
{(Lacsamana)

Former Group Manager
Technology Resource Center

Consuelo Lilian Reyes Espiriti (Espiritu) Techn]?)lllgdg%re;eosfglclz eI \é enter
; . . Department Manager II1
Francisco Baldoza Figura (Figura) Techgology lfv‘.f:soﬂn.u'cx':g %enter
Chief Accountant

Marivic Villaluz Jover ‘J over‘;')

Technology Resource Center

Janet Lim Napoles {Napoies)

Private respondent

Ruby Tuason/Ruby Tua.on {Tuason)

Private respondent

Jo Christine Lim Napoles (Jo|Christine)

Private respondent

James Christopher Lim Napol}es (James
Christopher) ¢

Private respondent

- !
Euwlogio Dimailig Rodriguez | (Rodriquez)

Private respondent

Evelyn Ditchon De Leon (De Leon) Private respondent
Ronald John Lim ) (Lim) Private respondent
Fernando Ramirez / {Ramirez) Private respondent
Nitz. Cabilao _{Cabilao) Private respondent
Atty. Mark S. Oliveros (Oliveros) Notary Public
Atty, Editha P. Talaboc (Talaboc) Notary Public
Atty. Delfin Agcaoili, Jr. i (Agcaoili) Notary Public

tty Daniel Balanoba ! (Balanoba) Notary Public
Atty. Lucila M. Lawas-Yutoc | (Yutoc) Notary Public
Atty. Antonio M. Santos (Santos) Notary Public
SuS.an R. Victorino i (Victorino) Certified Public Accountant
Lgmta P. Solomon ' (Solomon) Certified Public Accountant
Wilberto P. De Guzman (De Guzman) Certified Public Accountant
John Doe ! Proprietor of Nutrigrowth Philippines
John Doe ' | Proprietor of MMRC Trading
Myla Ogerio (Ogerio) Agri and Economic Program for

Farmers Foundation, Inc.

- i
Margarita A. Guadinez s (Guadinez)

Agri and Economic Program for
Farmers Foundation, Inc.

Jocelyn D1tchon Plorato (Piorato)

Agricultura Para Sa Magbubukid
Foundation, Inc.

C
%onlyn Agbay Fabian "/ (Fabian)

Agncultura Para Sa Maghubulkid
. Fouridation, Inc.-

Hernani Ditchon Ditchon)

]

Agrlcultura Para Sa Magbubl‘..lkld Inc.

Rodfigo B. Galay | (Galay)

Employee/Agricultura Pata sa

. Magbubukid Foundation, Inc.
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Laarni A. Uy (Yy) ' Employee/Agricultura Para sa-
o Magbubukid Foundation, Inc.
mparo L. Fernando (Fernando). Countrywide Agri and Rural Economic
“A i Development Foundation, Inc.
Aileen Palalon Palama (Palama)/ Countrywide Agri and Rural Economic
' Development Foundation, Inc. .
John Raymond Sales De Asis ; {De Asis) Countrywide Agri and Rural Economic
. Development Foundation, Inc.
Mylene Tagayon Encarnacior{ (Encarnacion) Countrywide Agri and Rural Economic
L Development Foundation, Inc.
Renato Soson Oimopia  (Orropia)~ Masaganang Ani Para Sa Magsasaka .
: : Foundation, Inc.
Jesus Bargola Castillo :(Castillo) ~ People’s Organization for Progress and
i Development Foundation, Inc.
Noel V. Macha ‘MacHa) Employee/Social Development Program |* )
“ : for Farmers Foundation, Inc.

i S -
Having arlsjn from the same or. similar facts and
transactions, thesé cases are resolved jointly.

|
|

I. | THE FACTUAL BACKGROUND

|
On March 2f, 2013, agents of the NBI, acting on a '
complaint from the parents of Benhur Luy (Luy) that Luy had

: |
® been ' illegally detained, swooped down on the South Wing

Gardens of the Pa{mﬁc Plaza Tower in Bonifacio Global Clty,
Taguig City énd rescued Luy. A criminal case for Senous
Illegal Detentin was soon after filed against Reynald Lim’ and

his sister, Janet Liim Napoles® (Napoles), before the Regional .

Tnal Court of Mak: m City where it remains pend.mg

7 Still at large. |
Vresently detained mi Fart Sto, |Dr.\miug0. Sta. Rosa, Laguea.
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Before the NBI Luy claimed that he wa.L detained in

l

connection with tLe discharge of his responsibilities as the
“lead employee” oflthe JANET LIM NAPOLES Corporation (JLN)
which, by his a&:count, had been involved in overseeing

anomalous implementation of several government-funded

pfojects sourced fr‘om among others, the Priority Developmen£
Assistance Fund (FDAF) of several congressmenn and senators
of the Republic. The NBI thus focused on what appeared to be
misuse and’ irrergularities attending the utilization and
implementati¢n c?f | the PDAF of certain lawmakers, in
connivance ,with‘ other government émployees private
individuals and nqn— governmental orgamzatlons (NGOS) which

had been set up by JLN employees, upon the instructions of

Napoles. |

In the coursie of the NBI investigation which included
conduct of intervic;Fvs.rs and taking of sworn statements of Luy
along with several .other JLN employees including Marina Sula

(Sula) and Merlina Sufias (Sufas)® (the whistleblowers), the

NBI uncovered thd “scheme” employed in what has now been
commonly referred to as the PDAF or Pork Barrel Scam,
|

SR L L :
outlined in géneral as follows: ’

i R 0

8 - N o . S
Luy, Sula and Sufiex heve beeq adnsiled inta the Depannent nlJustice’s Wilsess Pioteclion Progrm.
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1. Either thd lawmaker or Napoles would commence

“ ' negotiatioriis on the utilization of the lawmaker’s PDAF;
2. The lam;ker and Napoles then discuss, and later 3

approve, tile list of projects chosen by the lawméker,

the c?nes%oﬁdng Implementing Agency (IA), namely

the National Agribusiness Corporation (NABCOR), the

Natiorll.a.l L‘ivelihood Development Corporation (NLDC),

“ | and the ’I‘iechnology Resource Center (TRC [formerly

Technology and Livelihood Resource Center]|), through

which the Eprojects would be coursed, and the project.

cost, as w‘fell as the lawmaker’s “commission” which

would ranfge between 40%-60% of either the project

cost or the amount stated in the Special Allotment

Release Orfder (SARO);

3. After the :negdtiations and upon instructioqs from

o Napoles, I;uy prepares the so-called “listing” Which.

containé the list of projects allocated by the lawmaker

to NaI;olesand her NGOs, the name of the IA, and the

projeclt cosi;;

4. The lawmaker would then adopt thé “listing” and write

“to the Senate President and the Financé Committee

® "' 'Chairperson, in the case of a Senator, and to the

House Speaker and Chair of the Appropnauons

f‘ommxttee in the case of a Convre sman, requesting
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3
the irimmediate release of his allocation, which letter-

@ request th:e Senate President or the Speaker, as the
case mayl llae, would then endorse to the Department of
Budget and Management (DBM); |

5. The DBM soon issues a SARO addressed to the chosen
1A indical'ting the amount deducted from the
Iawma.ker’§ PDAF allocation, and later issues a Notice

) of Cash. Allocation (NCA) to the IA which would
thereafter :issue a check to the Naﬁoles-controlled NGO
i
listed in the lawmaker’s endorsement;

6. Napoles, who recommends to the lawmaker the NGO
which’ woéuld implement the project, directs her
emplcyee; éto prepare a letter for the ‘lawmaker’s
signature éndorsing the selected NGO to the IA. The IA
later prepares a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA}

“ covering the project to be executéd by the lawmaker or
his/her alglmorized staff merﬁber, the IA and the
chosen NGO |

7. The Head of the IA, in exchange for a 10% share in the
project cos:t, subsequently releases the check/s to the

! 'Ne;p:o'ile&c‘:.o'ntrolled NGO from whose bank accounts

o * Napoles withdraws the proceeds thereof;
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8. SucceFdinﬁg tranche payments are released by the IA

upon [compliance and submission by the NGO of the

requerd documents.

From 20!34 tc; 2010, Senator Enrile, then and presently a
senator of tl%e Republic of the Philippines,”® continuously
indorsed the |implementation of his PDAF-funded livelihood
and agricultu.ral production projects in different parté of the
country to N 3052 associated with, or <_:ontrolled: by, :private

respondent Napoles.
} .

From 2007 'to 2009, a total of Php345,000,000.00

covered by ninje (9) SAROs was taken from his PDAF, to wit:
1. Rocsro7-c§>4'6 18 dated 06 March 2007;"

2. ROCS -08-(2313:47 dated 31 January 2008;™

3. ROCS§-08-(;)5216 dated 11 June 2008;"

4. ROCS!08-07211 dated 3 October 2008;™"

o

ROCS}{09-00804 dated 13 February 2009;"
6. ROCS|09-00847 dated 12 February 2009;®
7. Rocs}09-é4_952 dated 09 July 2009;"
8,

: ROCS109-04996 dated 10 July 2009;"®

'° Records, pp. léS—lG?LFoldcr 1, OMB-C-C-13-0396,
Records, p. 547, Folder 3, OMB-C-C-13-0396 (Annex W-10).

214, at 581.

13 . Lo

(4 14,2t 597,

3 1d. at 600.

pdat7o2 b

£ 1d. 8t 706, AR
1d. at 627, )
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After the SAROs were released by the DBM, Senator

Enrile, through his Chief of Staff respondent Reyes,” identified

the following Gove.rnment-Owned and-Controlled Corporations

(GOCCs) as the IA'fs of the projects to be funded by his PDAF:

a) NABCOR, b} NLDC, and c) the TRC.

Senatozj

Enrile, through Reyes, authorized respondent

Evangelista to|act for him, deal with the parties involved in the

process, and sign documents necessary for the immediate and

timely implement'aFion of his PDAF-funded projects.

Through

.

Evangelista, the Senator also designated® the

following NGCis as, “project partners” in the implementation of

the livelihood

-

‘projects financed by his PDAF, viz:

a. Agri aid Economic Program for Farmers Foundation, Inc.

(AEFFEI) of: which respondent Nemesio C. Pablo, Jr. was
Presidgnt; ;

b. Agricultura;Para sa Magbubukid Foundation, Inc. (APMFI)
of which respondent Jocelyn D. Piorato was President;

C. Countlijid;e Agri and Rural Economic , Development
Foundation; Inc. (CARED) of which Simonette Briones was
President;

d. Masaganang Ani Para sa Magsasaka Foundation, Inc.
(MAMH]) of which witness Marina Sula was President;

e. Peoplels Organization for Progress and Development
Foundation, Inc., (POPDFI) of which witness Merlina

" Sufias

'‘was President; and

:: Id. at 643,

1d. at 665.
0 Records, pp. 717,739
“ Recards. pp.740, 157

764, 784, 806, B88, Folder 4, OMB-C-C-13-0396. _
TSR, 763766, 735, 305, 813, §74, 887, Fulder 4, OMB-C-C-13-0396.

.
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f. Social De’vélopmeﬂt Program for Farmer’s Foum.iation, Inc.
(SDPFFI) of which witness Benhur Luy was President.

The follpwing table discloses the details of Senator

Enrile’s utilization of his Php345,000,000.00 PDAF:

Implementing

Sur .
Carrasacal, Surigao
del Sur ol

25,000,000

SARO NO. & Projects/ .3 Total Pojects/ Project
Amount Activities Benefg:,“ms/ Activities Costs Agency Partuners
(in Php) aus {in PHP) /NGOs

1. ROCS-07- Financial
04618 Assistance Bacuag, Surigao del
Grants/Subsidics | Narte e ettty
Php20,000,000 | for Tools anl .
Implements Guigaguit, Surigao )
] Technical * | del Norte
¢ Assistance TRC/TLRC CARED
Technology L San Benito, Surigao .
Transfer through | del Norte 50,000.00 for each
Video course municipality
(VCDs) anE San Agustin,
Printed Materials | Surigao del Norte ..
provided by TLRth
Service Fee (3%) 150,000.00 for each
by TLRC municipality .
2. ROCS-08- | Vegetable Seeds, | Passi City, lloilo
01347 Hand Tools, { Sta. Maria, Bulacan
Gloves, Masks, | Dofia Remedios | 5,000,000 for each
. Garden, Tool4, | Mabuhay, :
and Knapsack | Zamboanga Sibugay
Sprayer Dinas, Zamboanga
del Sur
3. ROCS-08- Don Marcelino,
05216 Davao del Sur
Banaybanay, Davao .
Frp20,000,000 Qromsal 20,000,000 NABCOR MAMFI
1,294 sets of !
Fertilizer, Zamboanga del Norte
Gardening Magpet, North
Cotabato
Krl::.c l::fl::s' and.( General Tinio, Nueva
Tuamuini, Isabela
La Trinidad, Benguet 30,000,000 NABCOR SDPFFI
, | San Juan, Batangas
1| Boac, Marinduque
4. ROCS-08- | Agrieultural Kibungan, Benguet .
07211 Production ‘San  Gabriel, La )
Package + | Union
Php50,000,000 | {knapsack J Luna, la Union 25,000,000 NABCOR MAMFL
Sprayer, fertilizer, | Natividad, '
and gardenirz | Pangasinan
tools) Passi City, lloilo
“ * Glan, Saranggani
Maitum Saranggani
Cagwait, Surigao del NABCOR SDPFFI
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5. ROCS-09- Lagangilang, Abra
00804 Agricultural Tu%a, N Benguet 15,000,000 MAMF1
Production n Bacnotan, La Union i
P p,000,000 Packages Malungan, Sarangani
W {farm inputs) Marihatag, Surigao 10,000,000 NABCOR SDFFFIL
) del Sur
6. ROCS-09- Agricultural j | Umingan,
00847 Livelihood Pangasinan
Assistance Rosales, Pangasinan
Packages San Agustin, Surigao
. Php25,000,000 | (vegetable seeds| | del Sur
' production tooly | San Luis, Surigao del .
and accessories| | Sur TLRC/TRC APMFI
like planting L San Juan, La Union 25,000,000 '
materials, variou
toals for backyargd
gardening,
sprayers, and
agricultural .
chermmicals)
' q. CS-09- 604 Agricultura] | Hingyon, Ifugao
4952 Improvement Divilacan, Isabela
Livelihood Umingan,
- PhpS50,000,000 Packages | | Pangasinan 25.000.000 NLDC AEPFFI
) (sprayers, botﬂe£ Dona Remedios e
of fertilizers, rake | Trinidad, Bulacan
and pick | | Oas, Albay
mattock) | .
Alubijid, Misamis
* | Oriental
i | Llorente, Eastern
Samar
Bansalan, Davao del 25,b00,000 NLDC APMF
Sur
Montevista,
Compostela Valley
Y | Tupi, South Cotabato
8. ROCS-09- Balaoan, La Union .
04996 1,159 sets of g:l.gasinan Maria, . I
' Php60,000,000 | Small Soale Agnd | 5 T N arinduque | 40:000,000 NLD
: ackage ’
‘ : Pantukan,
Compostela Valley
Sablan, Benguet & NLDC MAMFI
Sta. Maria, Bulacan 20,000,000 ' .
. G%09~ Bacnotan, La Union
07112 Supiden, La Union ;
San Juan, La Union 40,000,000 NLDC CARED
San  QGabriel, La .
hp40,000,000 Union
The furids representing the activities’ costs were
transferred fiom the JAs to the NGOs/project partners
@ bursuant to several MOAs signed by the following individuals:
!
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Signatories to the MOA
SARO No. & ~ :
No. of MOAs | Office of | Implementing | NGO/Project
% Senator Enile Agencies Partner
1;; lidogz;gz "04618 Evangelista TRC-Ortiz. CARED-Encamnacion | Atty. Talabac
2.ROCS- 08-01347 . Atty.
NABCOR- = ¥y
1 MOA23 Javellana POPDFI-Sunas Balanoba
NABCOR- _Sul .
5.ROCS-08-05216 Javellana MAMFI-Sula Ay, Lawas-
- t
2 MOAs | NABCOR SDPFFL-Luy nee
4 Javellana
4. ROCS-08-07211 NABCOR-
MAMFI-Sula
25 Eva.n‘gclista Javellana Atty. Agcéoili“
2 MOAs : NABCOR-
SDPFFI-Luy
J Javellana
&Rocs-ogmosoct ! 1}:2?121}12; MAMFI-Sula -
2MOASZ Evax%ehsta NABCOR SDPFFL Tiy Atty. Agcaoili
Javellana,
6. ROCS-09-00847 P ,
5 MOAgZ? Evangelista ‘TRC-Ortiz APMFI-Piorato Atty. Talaboc
7."-ROCS-09-04952 . NLDC-Amata AFEPFFI- Pablo. Jr.
2 MOAs?® Evangelista NLDC-Amata APMFI- Piorato Atty. Santos
8. ROCS-OQ-%4996 ) NLDC-Amata CARED-Briones
2 MOAs Evanjgelista NLDC-Amata MAMFI-Sula Atty. Santos
. G-09-07 , . .
1 MO Aaol 12 Evanjgelista NLDC-Amata CARED-Briones Atty. Santos
After thg execution of the MOAs, the agricultural and
@ livelihood astistance kits/packages were supposed to be
delivered by the NGOs to identified

beneficiaries/ 4nunicipa11‘ties in different parts of the country,

but, as will belstéted later, no deliverie!s were made.

The NGC}S /project partners were later paid in full by the

IAs -upon the(NGOs submission of Disbursement, Progress,

» Records, pp. 1964-1947, 1971-1974, 1978-1981, 1985-1988, Folder 1
Id. at 2064-2066.

2 Records, pp.2118-219 & 2213-2214, Folder 12, OMB C-C-13-0396.
Id at 2482-2486 & 2341-2545. :

1, OMB-C-C- 13-0396

% Records, pp.2696-2701 & 2780-2784, Folder 14 0MB-C-C-13-0396.

;Records DP.'2862-2886, Folder 15, OMB-C-C-13-0396.
Records, pp.2935-2940 & 3046-3051, Folder 16, OMB-C-C-13-0396.

,‘ Records, pp..3325-3330 & 3461-3466, Folder 17, OMB-C-C-13H0396.

ae o O Records, pp. 35773542, Folder 18, OMH-C-C- 10396
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Accomplishmdnt, Fund Utilization, Inspection, and Delivery
“ Reports, as wf:ll as the Certificates of Acceptance. The details
i - : .
of payments tF the NGOs/project partners are reflected in the
table below:
- Paying
SARONo. | o D“}:“’“‘““-‘f& Date of DV Am"(';,‘}flf)f by Agency/
oucher (DV)No. Check No. Claimant or Payee
ROCS-07-04618 01-2007-0406]1 Undated 5,000,000 850457 (LBF) TRC-CARED
01-2007 -040672 Undated 5,000,000 860458 (LEF) TRC-CARED
01-2007 -040669 Undated 5,000,000 850460 (LBP) TRC-CARED
01-2007-0406)0 Undated 5,000,000 850462 (LBF) TRC-CARED
ROCS-08-01347 08-04-01201 11-Apr-08 21,825,000 (0000416657 (UCPB)]  NABCOR- POPDFI
08-07 -0231% 09-Jul-08 2,425,000 10000417294 (UCFB) NABCOR-POFDF1
ROCS-08-05216 08-09-03575 23-Sep-08 17,460,000 437221 (UCPB) NABCOR-MAMFI
19-N4-1622 19-Mav-(19 1.940.000 46937 (UCEB) NABCOR- MAMEI
ROCS-08-05216 08-09-03572 23-Sep-08 26,190,000 | 437226 (UCPB) [’ NABCOR- SDPFFI
09-05-1751 25-May-09 2,910,000 | 455997 (UCPB) NABCOR- SDPFFI .t
ROCS-08-07211 09-05-1773 27-May-09 3,637,500 | 462921 (UCFB) NABCOR- MAMFI ,
09-06-202% 15-Jun-09 20,612,500 | 462940 (UCPB) NABCOR-MAMFI -
ROCS-08-07211 09-05-1774 27-May-09 3,637,500 462922 (UCPB) NABCOR-SDPFFl
09-06-2022; 15-Jun-09 20,612,500 | 462938 (UCPB) NABCOR- SDPFFI
ROCS-09-00804 09-05-1767 . 27-May-09 2,182,500 462919 (UCFB) NABCOR- MAMFI
09-06-2028 15—Jun-09 12.367.500 462939 (UCPB) NABCQOR-~ MAMFI,
ROCS-09-00804 09-06-182% 01-Jua- 09 1,455,000 462926 (UCPB) NABCOR- SDPFFI'
09-06-2027 15-Jun-09 8,245,000 462939 (UCPB) NABCOR- SDPFF1
ROCS-09-00847 01-2009-040949 Undated 20,000,000 850009 (LBP) TLRC-APMFI
01-2009-051370 04-Jun-09 2,500,000 917019 (BF) TLRC-APMFI
09-10-1530 26 -Oct-09 | 8,000,000 244589 (LBP) CARED-NLDC
ROCS-09-04596 09-09-1355 23-Sept-09 6,000,000 244554 (LBP) MAMFI-NLDC
09-10-1443 12-Oct-09 10,000,000 244570 (LBP) MAMFI-NLDC
‘ 09-10-1534 26-Oct-09 4,000,000 244585 (LBP) MAMEFI-NLDC
G-08-07112 09-12-1834 16-Dec-09 12,000,000 244622 (LBP) CARED-NLDC
10-01-0004 07-Tan-10 20,000,000 244632 (LBP) CARED-NLDC
10-01-0118 25-Jan-10 8,000,000 244649 {LBP) CARED-NLDC
10-05:0747 06-May-10 4,000,000 260944 ((LBP) CARED-NLDC
ROCS-09-04952 09-09-1353 18 -Sep-09 7,500,000 244552 (LBP) NLDC-AEPFFI
B ' 09:10-1444 12-0ct-09 12,500,000 | 244571(LBP) NLDC-AEPFFI )
m -09:10-1540 26-0ct-09 5,000,000 244590 (LBF) NLDC-AEPFFI
CS-09-04952 09-09-1358 23-Sep-09 7,500,000 | 244557 (LBP) NLDC-APMFI
. 09:10-1449 12-0ct-09 | 12,500,000 244576 (LBP) | NLDC-APMFI
09-10-1535" 26-0c1-09 5,000,000 244592 (LBP) NLDC-APMFI
ROCS-09-04996 * 09-09-1354 23-Sep-09 12,000,000 |, 244553 (LBP) NLDC-CARED
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| 09-10-1447

] S0 | 20,000,000 | 244579 LBP) l

-

Signatori?es to all the Disbursement Vouchers (DVs)

covering paymlent by the IAs for the agricultural and live]jhooq

projects, who

table below:

are respondents herein, are indicated in the

Signatories of the DV .
BOX A BOX B
ExpensesfAdvances Supporting Documents Certified
& SARO Disbursement n(ec:;ary lawful, and Complete and by/supporting BOX C
Vaucher No: X ! ' Proper/Budget documents (Approved
i incurred under my Utilization/Verification ocum for Payment)
direct supervision /Certification attached
as to Cash/Fund Availability ’

Rgﬁ:g' 01-2007-040571% Fiaura Allen T, Baysa Jovar Ortiz
01-2007-040672% Figura Allen T. Baysa - Jover Ortiz
01-2007-040669™* Figura Allen T. Baysa . Jover Ortiz
01-2007-040670™ Figura' Allen T. Baysa Jover Ortlz

ROCS-D8- " ,

01347 08-04-01201%° Munsod Johnson Javellana
08-07-02312% Relevo Jahnsan favelfana .
ROCS-08- i
05216 08-09-03575% . Cacal Guafizo Javellana
05-04-1622% Cacal . Guahlzo Javellana
08-09-03572% . Cacal Guafiizo Javeliana
09-05-1751*° Cacal Guafiizo Javellana
ROCS-08-
07711 03-05-17734 Cacal Guafizo Javellana
: D9-06-2025- ° - Cacal Javellana
:; Recards, p. 1935, Folder 11, OMB-C-C-13-0396.
o ld-at1938.
3‘Icl. at 1941, o
Id. at 1944,
3 Yd. at 2004. . '

’j 1d. at 2008. °
:B Records; p. 2111, Folder 12, OMB+C-C:13:0396.
Id.at2116. . : :
* 1d. at 2329.
:":Id. at 2326
Records, p. 2624, Folder 13, OMB-C-C13-0396.
42 Y
Id at2631. =« - | :
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Guaiiizo
09-05-1773% Cacal Guafiizo Javellana
il ROCS-08-
07211
09-06-2022 Cacal Guafiiza Javeltana
. ROC5-09- A4 = Javellana
[0 -1767 Cacal Guafiizo
00804 9051
09-06-2028* Cacal Guafizo Javellana
05-06-1825° Cacal Guafiizo Javellana
03-06-2027"" Cacal Guafizo Javellana
ROCS-05- 01-2009-040929* Cunanan Consuelo Lilian Espiritu Jover Ortiz
00847 .
01-2009-051300% Cunanan Consuelo Lilian Espiritu Jover Ortiz
q ROCS-09~ 09-09-1353% Sevidal Ordofiez Cruz Amata
043952 : : .
039-10-1444° Sevidal Ordofiez Cruz Amata .
09-10-1540 Sevidal Ordofiez Cruz Amata |
. 53 = Ariata
ROCS-03- 03-05-1358 Sevidal Ordofiez Cruz
04352 09-10-1449% X Sevidal Ordafiez Cruz Amata
09-10-1535> Sevidal Ordoriez Cruz Amata
09-09-1354°° Sevidal QOrdoiiez Cruz Amata
ROCS-09- 09-101447° Sevidal Ordofiez Cruz Amata
04536 09-101530™ Sevidal Ordofiez Cruz  Amata
09-09-1355%° Sevidal Ordoiiez Cruz Amata
09-10-1443% Sevidal Ordofez Cruz Amata
09-10-1534°' Sevidal Ordofiez Cruz Amata
G-09- 09-12-183452 Sevidal Ordoiiez Cruz Amata
07112
10-01-0004% Sevidal Ordofiez Cruz Amate

“A1d, at 2624.
“1d. a1 2694.
514 a1 2707.
:“ Id.at 2775.

m at 2707.

51 1d. at 2950.
5214 ar2955.
S1d.at3044: .

Records p. 2825, Folder 15 OMB-C-C-13-0396,

““Id al 2831..

Records, p. 2933, Fol ler16 OMB-C-C-13-0396

“1d.at 3062,

5 o0 Jd. at 3070,

©1d a13478. -
8114, a1 3485, ©
:chcordq . 3576, Fo]ﬁ

Td. )\3:94

o Rccords, p. 3323 Ful#cr 17, OMB-C- C- 13-0397.
[d at 3336.

Id at 3350.
*1d, at 3459.

er 18, OMB-=C-C-13-03917.
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10-01-0118% Sevidal Ordofiez. Amata '
10-05-0747° Sevidal Rodriguez Amata 4] -

Details oh" the checks issued by the IAs in payment of the

projects, and

the signatories thereto are indicated.in the

following tabla:
SARO No. Disburgement L Net Amount | Implementing | Official Received |
Voucher Na, Check No, (Php) Agency/ies & | Receipt Payment’
_ (After Signatories of | Issued (see DV}
® deducting 3% | the Check |
management
fee)
1 TLRC/TRC )
ROCS-07- | 01-2007-040671 LBP 4,800,000 Figura and CARED | Encarnacion
04618 850457°%° Ortiz OR 023
TLRC/TRC
. LBP . CARED .
01-2007-040672 850 45857 4,800,000 Fxggrr?i:nd OR 022 Encarnacion |
TLRC/TRC
1LBp . CARED .
01-2007-040669 850 46083 4,800,000 Figg.:.iz and OR 025 Encarnacion
TLRC/TRC
LBP . CARED .
01-2007-040670 850 46259 4,800,000 Flggr:jz and OR 021 Encarnacion
ROCS-08- : NABCOR POPDFI | ‘gua
01347 08-04-01201 OOO(:;T}?EE 5770 21,825,000 Mendoza and OR .
. Javellana, 001426
" UcPrB NABCOR POPDFI .
08-07-02312 00004172947} 2,425,000 Mendoza and OR Suias
__m Javellana 3765
NABCOR MAMFI .
ROCS-08- 08-09-03575 UCFPB 17,460,000 Mendoza and OR Sula
05216 43722772 Javellana 3615
+ UCPB NABCOR MAMFI
09-04-1622 4559137 1,940,000 Mendoza and OR Rodriguez
‘ Javellana 3625
UCPB . NABCOR
ROCS-08- 08-09-03572 . 74 26,190,000 Mendoza and | SDPFFI Luy
05216 ¢ 437226 Javeliana OR 214
Id at 3602, .
“d at 3612.
WRccords, p. 1933 Folzer 11, OMB-C-C-13-01396,
“ Id at 1936, .
Id at 1939,
1o 1. at 1942, ,
Id. at 2007. ) *
Tl yd at 2009.

7 Records, p- 21 12, Fold

n T 1d at21ls,
‘1. at 2330.

er 12, OMB-C-C-13-0396,
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NABCOR v
09-05-1751 UCFB 2,910,000 Mendoza and .| SDPFFl | Rodriguez
4559977 Javellana | OR 269
[ UCPB NABCOR MAMFI
09-05-1773 46292176 3,637,500 Mendaoza and OR Sula
ROCS- 08- Javellana 3628
07211 3 UCPB NABCOR OR .
09-06-2025 46294077 20,612,500 Mendoza and 3574 de Asis
Javellana
05~ UCPB SDPFFI de Asis
ROCS-08- 09-05-1774 4629227° 3,637,500.00 OR 267
07211
09-06-2022 46‘;‘;’;279 20,612,500 SDPFFI Luy
OR 301 .
ROCS-09- 09-05-1767 UCPB 2,182,500 MAMF1 Sula
00804 462919 OR
3627
“ NABCOR
09-06-2028 UCPB 12,367,500 Mendoza and OR de Asis
462937 Javellana 3573
NABCOR
ROCS-09- 09-06-1825 . UCPB 1,455,000 Mendoza and | OR 273 Luy
00804 462926m Javellana .
B UceB NABCOR .
09-06-2027 82 8,245,000 Mendoza and | OR 303 Luy
462939 3
avellana R
TLRC/TRC
ROCS-09- | 01-2009-040929 LBP 20,000,000 Ortiz and OR 204 | Rodrigo B.
00847 890099% Figura Calay
. ' TLRC/TRC .
01-2009-051300 LBP 2,500,000 Ortiz and OR Rodrigo B.
917015% Figura Calay
4 NLDC AEPFFI
09-09-1353 LBP 6,750,000 Jalandoni and OR Sufas
0000244552% Amata 0255 -
NLDC AEPFFI
S-09- 09-10-1444 LBP 12,500,000 | Jalandoni and OR Sunas
4952 244571% Amata 0256
NLDC
09-10-1540 LBP 5,000,000 Jalandoni and | AEPFFI! Sunas
244590% Amata OR
0257
na. . NLDC ‘
Rgggscz)g 09-09-1358 LBP 6,750,000 | Jalandoniand | APMFI | Laarmi A. Uy
: 244557% Amata OR 411
Id at 2327,
Rccords p. 2625, Fo1rer 13, OMB-C-C-13-0396.
Id at 2632,
Id at 2535,
ld at 2547, |
- %9 Records, p. 2694, Folder 14, OMB-C-C13-0396.
“ Id a1 2776.
8214, a1 2788.
. Records, p. 2823, Fol'er 15, OMBLC-C:13-0396.
Records.p 2830, Folger 15, OMB-C-C-13-0396. :
o Records, p. 2932, Folder 16, OMB-C-C-13-0396. '
%14, at 2949, .
714, at 2954. '
R 1d.ar304, "
.
- )
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NLDC
09-10-1449 LBP 12,500,000 | Jalandeniand
- 244576%° : Amata
& NLDC
) 09-10-1535 LBP 5,000,000 Jalandoni and
2445925 Amata
NLDC
ROCS-09- 09-09-1354 LBP 10,800,000 | Jalandoniand | CARED de Asis
04996 244553%! Amata OR 147
NLDC :
09-101447 LBP 20,000,000 | Jalandoniand | CARED de Asis
244574 Amata OR 149
NLDC .
09-101530 LBP 8,000,000 | Jalandoniand | CARED de Asis
244589%° Amata OR 153
NLDC . '
ROCS-09- 09-09-1355 LBP 5,400,000 Jalandoni and | MAMFI | Rodriguez
04996 2445543 Amata - OR
| 3596
") LBP NLDC MAMFI
09-10-1443 244570% 10,000,000 | Jalandoni and OR . Rodriguez
Amata 3598 )
NLDC MAMFI
09-10-1534 LBP 4,000,000 | Jalandoni and OR Rodriguez
244585% Amata 3652
: NIDC
09-12-1834 LBP 10,800,000 | Jalandoniand | CARED de Asis
' 244622% , Amata OR 155
"NLDC
10-01-0004 LBp 20,000,000 Jédlandoni and | CARED de Asis
G-09- 244632% Amata OR 156
07112 NLDC
10-01-0118 LBP 4,000,000 | Jalandoniand | CARED de Asis
244649% - Amata OR 157
NLDC
10-05-0747 LBP 4,000,000 Jalandoni and de Asis
260944 %9 Amata

Field vsdrifications

conducted by complainant FIO

revealed that the Php345,000,000.00 PDAF of Senator Enrile

was never usq

d for the intended proiects. It appears that the

documents submitted by the NGOs/project partners to the IAs

Id at 3061,
% 1d. at 3069.

# 14, at 3458.

s o d. at 3477.

%14, at 3485.

e Records p. 3574, Fol
Id. at 3593,

® 1d. at 3601.
Id. at 3601, ¢

i

:2Rccords . 3322 Folder 17, OMB-C-C13-0396,
 Id. at 3335,
o) Jd. 213345,

er 18, OMB-~C-C-13-0369.
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such as DlsLmrsement Progress, Accomplishment, Fund

@

Utilization, Ir*spectmn, and Delivery Reports, as well as

Certificates of 'tAcceptance, were all fabricated.

The livel'hood and agricultural production kits/packages
never reached|the intended beneficiaries, i.e., either there were

oods were never delivered. The mayors and the

no projects or
municipal agriculturists, who had reportedly received the
livelihood aspistance kits/packages for their respective
municipalities) never received anything from the Office of

Senator EnrilrJ., the IA, or any of the project partners. None of

the mayors or' municipal agriculturists were even aware of the

projects.

As reﬂecred above, the signatures on the Certificates of

Acceptance or Delivery Reports were forged, and the farmer-

recipients enymerated on the lists of purported beneficiaries

denied  having received - any livelilhood  assistance

kits/packages
lists as farmej

voters of the p

In fact, many of the names appearing on the
-recipients were neither residents nor registered

lace where they were listed as beneficiaries, were

fictitions, or had j

deceésé:'d. Inc

projects.”

ad jumbled surnames while others were already

[T
\

ther words, these livelihood ‘projects were “ghost
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The Cominission on Audit (COA), through its Special

Audits Office, ponducted an audit of the PDAF allocations and

disbursements covering the period 2007-2009 subject of these

complaints, it findings of which are found.in the COA Special

Audits Office Ileport™ (the “2007-2009 COA Report”).

Among ﬂlle observations of the COA were: (a) the

implementing |agencies, including NABCOR, NLDC and TRC,

did not actually implement the PDAF-funded projects; instead, .

the agencies re¢leased the funds to the N GOs, albeit charging a
“management |fee" therefor; (b) the direct releases of PDAF

disbursements to NGOs contravened the :DBM's regulations

considering that the same were not preceded by endorsements.

from the exeaﬂtive departments exercising supervisory powers

over the IAs; 16) worse, the releases were made essentially

at the behest of the sponsoring legislator; (d) almost all of

the NGOs that rec¢ived PDAF releases did not have a track
record on thél implementation of government projects, and
their addres‘ses were dubious; (¢] the selection of the NGOs, as
well as the procurement of the goods for distribution to the
beneﬁma_'mes, did not undergo public biddjhg; and (f) some of

the suppliers [who allegedly provided the goods to the NGOs

1 SAOR Wo. 2012-03
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denied ever h'iaving dealt with these NGOs, conirary to tﬁe
& NGOSs’ claims.'i
! :
The COA ialso found that the selections of the NGO were
not compliant{ with the provisions of COA Circular No. 2007-
001 and GPPB Resolution No, 12-2007; the suppliers and
reported beneficiaries were unknown or cannot be located at
Y their given afldress; the NGOs had provided non-existent

addresses or their addresses were traced to mere shanties or

high-end resid ential units without any signage; and the NGOs
submitted qufl:stionable documents, or failed to liquidate or

fully documenk the ultilization of funds.

Verily, the findings in the 2007-2009 COA Report iibe with

the whistleblgwers’ testimonies and are validated by the

' “ resulﬁs of the FIO’s on-site field verification.

IN FINE, the PDAF-funded projects of Senator Enrile were

“ghost” or inexistent,

t

1—-.Eégﬁ1p1aj.\ua.nts contend that the amount  of
“ Php3'45,00'0,0\t)0'.;00 allotted for livelhood and agricultural
prodﬁétion ;Lrojects was instead misappropriated and

"
.

A I LSS Z!“S i
1

SIS £ CAR AT -CAGAT. voavs oo
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converted to the personal use and benefit of Senator Ennle in

conspiracy with Napoles and the rest of respondents.

—

Witnesse > Luy, Sula, and Sunas clajrﬁ that the six
foundation-N IOs endorsed by Senator Enrile were all
dummies of Na}poles who operated them from her JLN office at
Unit 2502, Dv ¢covery Center Suites, Ortigas Center, Pasig City,
and were created for the purpose of funnelling the PDAF

through NABGOR, NLDC, and TRC/TLRC; the majority of the

incorporators,| officers, and members of these ‘NGOs are

household hellpers, relatives, employees and friends of
|

Napoles; somc' mcorporators/corporators of the NGOs were

aware of their [involvement in the creation thereof while others
were not; and the signatures in the Articles of Incorporation of

the NGOs of tHose unaware of their involvement were forged.

|
]

Luy, Sule} and Sufias add that the pre-selected President
of each of the fnre -selected NGOs, in add1t10n to being required
to furnish the names of at least 5 persons to complete the list
of incorporatr.;rs, were obliged to sign an application for

L aner e
opening bank 'accounts in the name of the NGO, and to pre-

accounts with eéither METROBANK Magdalena Branch or

LANDBANK HDSA-Greenhills Branch, from which Napoles

sign blank 'withdrawal slips: these NGOs maintained bank

R}

1
Paiat
< s.ﬂ‘ Y ﬁ‘
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would withdraw and/or cause the wﬁhdrawal of ﬂ'\(e proceeds

of checks paid by the IAs to the NGOs involved.

Per Luy’s records, Senator Enrile received, through
respondents Reyes and Tuason, total commissions, rebates, or

kickbacks amounting to at least Phpl72,834,500.00 from his

PDAF-funded projects from 2004 to 2010: Phpl,500,000.00
for 2004; Php14,622,000.00 for 2005;'Php13,300,000.00 for
2006; Php27,112,500.00 for 2007; PhiJGQ,SS0,000.00 for
2008; Php23,750,000.00 for 2009; and PhpS0,000.,OO0.00 for
2010. The “péyoffs” usually took place at the JLN office in
Ortigas. In fakt, Luy, Sula and Sunas often heard Napoles’
refer to Senator Enrile by his code name “Tanda” and saw

Napoles hand over the money meant for the Senator to Tuason

at the premises of JLN. The cash would come either from Luy’s

vault or from Napoles herself.

On the other hand, Napoles’ share of the money from
Senator Enrile’s PDAF was by the claim of witnesses Lu3;,
Sula, Sunas, delivered in c'ash by them, along with
resﬁg'fiéie_:n_ts' Epcarnacion and De Asis, either at the JLN office
or at 'N‘aﬁéles’ residence at 18B, 18t Floor, North Wing Pacific
Plazla T.'o‘;s'rer (f‘ondo:ﬁinium, Tagui;g City. In: the ex}ent of space

constraints at her residence, Napoles would deposit some of
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the cash to.the bank accounts of the following companies

O which she owned:
Registered Qwner Bank Account Number
of the Account '
JO-CHRIS Trading | Metrobank 7255-50955-8
JO-CHRIS Trading Metrobank 007-026-51152-2
. {Checking Account)
JO-CHRIS Tr‘adin‘g Metrobank 3600024885
w JLN Corporation Metrobank 073-3-07352390-8
JLN Corporatiord Metrobank 007-073-50928-5
. {Checking Account)
JCLN Glohal Metrobank 007-035-52543-9
Properties
o Development
Corporation

II. THE CHARGES

The NBI thus charges Senator Enrile with PLUNDER for
acquiring/receiving on various occasions, in conspiracy with
0 his Co-respondents, commissions, kickbacks, or rebates, in

the total amcunt of at least Phpl172,834.500.00 from the

“projects” ﬁna.:med by his PDAF from 2004 to 2010.

The FIO, on the other hand, cha.rges Senator Enrile and
. the rest of respondents with violating SECTION 3{E) .of RA

‘ 3019 as amended for giving unwarranted benefits to private

- respérident Napoles ‘and’ SDFFI, APMFI, CARED, MAMFL

POPFDI and APMFI in the implementation of his PDAF-funded
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“projects,” thus, causing undue injury to the government in
Proj

& the amount of Php345.000,000.00.
-
By Ordevs date;'d 19 and 29 November 2013, this Office
directed respondents to file their respective counter-affidavits

in these cases. Despite receipt of said Orders, respondents

Ortiz, Jalandoni, De Leon, Piorato, Ornopia, Lim, Ramirez,

W Rodriguez, Napoles, Lawas-Yutok, Guadinez, and Cabilao

failed to file any counter-affidavits, prompting this Office to

consider them having waived their right to file the same.

i
{

Despite varnest efforts, copies of the same Orders could

not be served on  respondents Lacsamana and Santos,

Proprietors of Nutrigrowth Philippines and MMRC Trading,

respectively, Hernani Ditchon, Uy, Galay, Macha, Talaboc,

@ Casti_lloJ Balanoba, Oliveros, Ogerio, Fabian, and Fernando,
they being said to be unknown at their last or given addresses,

or had moved out and left no forwarding address, or were noh-

existent.

e I,I:. RESPONDENTS’ COUNTER-AFFIDAVITS
“ . In hlS Counter-Affidavit dated 20 December 2013,

SENATOR ENRILE decries the accusations against him,

"2 Records, pp. 40-169, Folder 21, OMB-C-C-13-1196.

-
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alleging that it was unfortunate that, “in the tl:Ull;gt years of
(his) government service, ... (he) stand(s) accused of trumped uﬁ
charges of corruption” as he has never béen charged with any
administrative or criminal offense in his more than 40 years in
the civil service; at the time material to the charges,' the PDAF
was a legitim:ate source of funds for projects sponsored by
legislators; the implementation of PDAF-related projects “is the
exclusive function and responsibility of the executive
department” such that the IAs and the‘ DBM §ilou1d have
strictly complied with laws and rules on government
expenditures to ﬁrevent possible misuse or irregularities; 1As
were responsible for ensuring that the NGOs tasked to

implement the projects were legitimate; and  his only

involvement in the utilization of the PDAF was to endorse

specific projects for local government units.

He maintains that he did not pefsuade, influence or
induce any official or employee of the [As concerned to violate
existing procuremént or audit laws and rules; as a member of
the legislativé branch, he has no power of control or
supervision over IAs, which are part of the executive branch;

he did not endorse any NGO as conduit for the implementation

of the PDAF projects; it was Napoles and her cohorts “who

persuaded and influenced the implementing agencies to violate
o, } * . : ) © :
their duties and functions;” complainants’ witnesses never

(e
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who received

categorically .dentified him as one of thos
kickbacks arising from PDAF transactions and neither was he
mentioned as among those public officers who visited Napoles’
offices; he never authorized anyone to transact with, much
less receive éommissions, kickbacks or rebates “from the
Napoles group;” he never had personal dealings related to the

PDAF with Tuason; all authorizations he issued to Reyes and

Evangelista were limited to lawful acts; and evidence allegedly

showing that he personally benefitted from the PDAF anomaly

is hearsay.

For her pa‘-;s.rt, REYES alleges in her Consolidated Counter-

Affidavit date!l 26 December 2013, that the averments in the
compléints are hearsay és they are not based on personal
knowledgé of ‘complainants' agents or their witnesses; their
statements are inadmissible based on the res inter alios acta
rule; she did- not cpmmit any illegal or prohibited act in
relation to the PDAF projects; and her signatures in eight
letters and two liquidation reports pertaining to the PDAF
transactions, and wfﬁch contain the names of the IAs and
NGOs ‘ éﬂeééaly tasked to implement the projects, were
forgeries; she did not receive any amount from the PDAF nor

connive with any of her co-respondents to acquire, amass or

" Recarda, pp. 276-383, Tohler 2¢, OMB-C C-11-5304,
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accumulate ill-gotten wealth; and none of the “overt or
O criminal acts” constitutive of Plunder has been shown to be

present.

EVANGELISTA, in his Joint Counter-Affidavit dated 20

December 2013, asserts that the complaints failed to specify

the acts or omissions committed by him which constitute the

o offense/s cha'rg‘éd and that most, if not all, statements of
complainants" witnesses are hearsay, he was | impleaded
because of his association with Senator Enrile, his former
superior; during his tenure of office, “all that the office of

Senator Enrile has done, or may do, was to identify, endorse or
recommend particular projects;” it was the DBM and the IAs

which handled the actual release of thé PDAF,; and Senator

Enrile’s office “did not have any say in the actual

@ implementation of any project.” He insists that his signatures
in letters addrzassed to the IAs as well as in MOAs pertaining to

PDAF projects; were “immaterial ~ funds would still have been
_released, the : projects émplemented, and' the PDAF diverted,
‘whether or not (he} signed those documents;” some of the.
signatﬁrés a'ppearing in the PDAF documérits are forgeries; he

® was not Eamorig"those identified by witnesses Luy and Sufas

as a i'écipient of PDAF-related kickbacks; and he did not
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personally know Tuason or Napoles and nelther has he met

with them.

i
1

In her Coun}fer—AfﬁdaVit dated 21 February 2014,
TUASON admits piarsonally knowing Napoies, having met her
in 2004. She claun:s that because of her (Tuason) association
with former Presi }ent Joseph E. Estrada,: she was requested
by Napoles to reifer her (Napoles) to poht1c1ans; and to
accommodate Napclnles, she (Tuason) approached and informed

Reyes that Napoles wished to transact with Senator Enrile in

relation to the latter s PDAF, to which request Reyes agreed.

She- “belzeved t{tat Atty. Gigi Reyes had the full authority to
act for and on behqlf of Senator Enrile with respect to his PDAF
allocations;” she (Ti:Jason)' acted as the “go-between” of Napoles
and Senator Enrilf%’s PDAF-relatéd arrangements; after Reyes
or Evangelista info;rmed her (Tuason) that a budget from the
PDAF was availat%vle, she would relay the information to
Napoles or Luy W].’IELO would then prepare a listing .of projects
available, indicaﬁrlig the IAs, which would be sent to Reyes;
Reyes would theré:after enddrse said list to the DBM, and
after the hstmg WZIS released by Senator Enrile’s office to the
DBM Napole'-‘ wodld give her (Tuason) a partial payment of

the commission dqe her, which was usually delivered by Luy

o i
% Reconts, pp. 1798 106, Folder 21, OMN-C-C-13-0306
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or other Napoles cmployces and she relied on récords kept by
“ Luy on the amounts received because she did not keep her
own records. .
She admits h;f_wing received amounts ‘ corresponding to
Senator Enrile’s kii,ckbacks from the PDAF projects which she .
personally djsliver‘ed to Reyes. Ta her knowledge, her
commissions ' repléesented 5% of the transaction/project .
0 ‘ amount invol':red, ‘;vhile Senator Enrile’s share was 40%. She
adds that there were times when Napoles would withhold the
~release of her (Tuason) commissions, without clear
Jjustification.

NATIONAL LIVELIHOOD DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
(NLDC) RESPONDENTS

Denying any involvement in the misuse of the PDAF or of
“ having proﬁted from it, AMATA, NLDC's President, avers in -

her 20 Januaty 2014 Counter-Affidavit'® that, cogmzant of the

possibility of political pressure, she had at the outset
“mamfested...f'ie; diiscomfort from (sic) the designation of NLDC
as one of the Impiementing Agencies for PDAF” and “did not
want .to be mvolqed in the distribution of PDAF;” “kept a

® 'dLstance ﬁom the! solons and the NGOs" involved in PDAF-

related transactions, and had repeatedly requested in writing

195 Records, pp. 445-520, Tolded 21, OMB-C-C-13.306,

. e [ T = 2
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the DBM - to 'exclude her agency from those aukhorized to

& implement PDAF-related projects; save for these instant
complaiﬁts, s‘he ha.;‘. not been formally charged with any
administrative or c{riminal case in her more than 25 years in

the civil service; ar"1d to ensure transparency, she “caused the
preparation of standard Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) for

PDAF transactions ;&providing the safety nets for NLDC, as well

& as a Process Flow %Chart to clearly identify the responsibilities
and accountabilitie'-s 'of the [sjolons, the NGOs and the NLDC

PDAF internal protessors for easy tracking of liabilities and

- irregularities that r'n!,ay be committed.”

BUENAVENTUiRA, then a regular employee of the NLDC,

avers in her Counteé:r—Afﬁdavit dated 20 January 2014 that in

her processing of documents relating to PDAF projects, she
l :

o “did not do aﬁythi;ing illegal or violate the instructions of (her)
immediate superior”; in accordance with her functions, she
“checked and ‘venﬁéd the endorsement letters of Senator Enrile,
which designatec.l ?.Ehe NGOs that would implement his PDAF

~ projects and 'found; them to be valid and 'authentic’; and she

also confirmed thei authenticity of the authorization given by

Senator Enfile to his subordinates regarding the monitoring,

supervision ar.d i_minlqmentaﬁon of PDAF projects.

Y% 1y OMTI-C-C-13-0318.
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Denying any participation in the implementation of PDAF
projects or having received any personal benefit in relation io
PDAF projects, she ‘maintains that her evaluation and
verification reports were accurate, and she was never a party
to the purI;orted anomalies arising from FQDAF-r.elated

. i
transactions. -

In her Counter-Affidavit dated 27 January 2014,
ORDONEZ, NLDC Cashier IV, argues that her participation in

"the PDAF projects i.mpleménted by her office was limited to

having certified that “budgets and funds were available® in the

corresponding Disbursement Vouchers; the filing of the
complaintsl “may be premature because of failure to observé
' provisioﬁs of the 2009 COA Rules of Procedure,” considering
that the COA has. not yet disallowed vthe PDAF-related
expenditures; and she never misappropriated, converted,
~ misused, or n:lalversed public funds drawn from the PDAF nor
did she take advantage of her pole.ition to process the release of
PDAF sums, let alone personally benefit from these releases.
Claiming to have never met respondents Nai)OI‘CS or Enrile
let a.lone :conspire with them, Ordofiez claims that as far as
she is;: c:o:ncerne:él, “the PDAF transaction was known to the

NLDC Board of Trustees ;and top management;” she and her co- |

3

%7 Records, pp. 727-760, Feldur 21, GMR-C-C-13 0304,

TE 7 OTULCDPY
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respondents., “'lowly Government employees who were dictated
upon,” were mere victims “bullied into submiss.ian by the

lawmakers;* c'iespite their pleas, the DBM refused to help in '
getting the NLDC removed from the list of agencies authorized
to implement PDAF projects; and she performed her duties in
good faith and was “not in a position to n:egate or defy these
actions of the Lawmakers, DBM and the NLDC ngrd of

Trustees.”

In his Counter-Affidavits dated 15 and 24" February

2014, SEVIDAL, NLDC Director IV, denies having committed
the offenses charged. He alleges that complainant FIO
submitted a false certificate of non-forum shopping, the NBI

having already filed an earlier criminal complaint against him

- arising from the same set of facts averred in the FIO’s criminal

complaint; the filing of the criminal charges was premature
because the disallowances issued by the COA are not yet final

and executory; he was not among those NLDC employees

identified by complainants’ witnesses who supposedly planned

and implemented PDAF-funded projects and points to Senator

Enrile ‘and Napoles, not NLDC emplovees, as the parties

responsible for the misuse of the PDAF. He insists that

Senator Enri‘.ej thfom;ﬁ Revyes and Evangelista, were
- . -| M

" Records, pp. 8451842, Folder 21, OMB-C-C-11.03¢6
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costs_and _choosing the NGOs” which was “manifested in_the

letters of Senator ENRILE’; he and other NLDC employees
were merely victims of the “political climate” and “bullied into

submissiont by the lawmakers; and he never derived any

. personal benefit from the purported misuse of the PDAF.

NATIONAL AGRIBUSINESS CORPORATION (NABCOR)
RESPONDENTS

Denying the charges against him in his Counter-Affidavit

dated 6 February 2014, JAVELLANA, NABCOR President,

states in essence that he did not personally prepare the
checks, vouchers, memoranda of agreement and other similar

documents pertaining to NABCOR-implemented projects"

funded by PDAF as he merely signed and approved the PDAF

documents in good faith, after his subordinates had signed the

same and recommended their approval to him; and he.did not

conspire with anyone to defraud the government.

MENDOZ, in her Counter-Affidavit dated 6 March 2014,

aHegc;;:mat.ibcing a mere employee of NABCOR, .she “acted
only upon stemn instructions and undue pressure exerted upon

us by oir agericij heads;” she signed checks relating to PDAF

193 Records, pp 780-825, Falder 21, OMT-C-C- §3.03¢4.
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disbursements, specifically those covered by SARO k\Ios ROCS
08-01347, 08:05216, 08-07211, 09-00804, because she was
“designated andk authorized to sign” by respondeni_: Javellana,
and these checks “were already signed by NABCOR
President...JAVELLANA prior to the signing of the herein
Respondent .... and checks were released upon the instruction

of...JAVELLANA;” she “was given instruction to process

payments to suppliers and NGOs, without proper_bidding and

without complete documentary reqguirements;” sometime in

2011, Javellana terminated her services from NABCOR “due to

her knowledqga of irreqgularities in NABCOR;” and she denies

having obtained ‘any personal benefit from the alleged misuse

of the PDAF.

In his Counter-Affidavit'® and Supplemental Counter-

Affidavit dated 11 December 2013 and 22 January 2014,

respectively, CACAL, NABCOR Paralegal, refutes the charges
against him, which to him are unsupported by the evidence.
He claims‘that he signed Box “A” of the DVs relating to SARO
" Nos. ROCS-08-01347, ROCS-08-05216, ROCS-08-07211 and
ROCS—O9-Q08_Q4 In compliance with .his official functions and
pursi;apt to 'ﬁ}e' stern directives of his superiors, namely,

Javellana and Mendoza; by the time the vouchers are

"0 Records, pp. £35-689, Folder 21, OMT-C-C-17-0305,
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presented to him for signature, Javellana and Mendoza have

W already signed Boxcs “B” and “C” therein and they have

“already prenared and signed” the corresponding checks

drawn from PDAF funds, which is “indicative of their interest to

fast_track the transaction” he never met with either the

. legislators or'Napoles, his interaction in relation to PDAF-
related projects having been limited to Luy; he always

o exam.ined thelvoucher’s supporting documents before issuing
the aforemenﬁoned certification; he previously recommended
to his superiors that the agency observe COA Memorandum
Circular No. 2007-001 and revise the draft MOA used in
PDAF-related transactions but was yelled at and berated by
Javellana whenever he would question some of 1;he apparent
irregularities in the PDAF documents. He maintains that he
did not personally benefit from the implementation of PDAF

. “ projects. |

- In her 02 January 2014 Counter-Affidavit," CRUZ, NLDC

Chief Financial Specialist/Project Management Assistant IV,
denies the ciiarges, claiming that she only certifled the |
CXlSteIlCC not the authent1c1ty of PDAF documents in the
éxermse of her duties; she did not conspn'e with anyone to

commit-: t:h; oﬂ?snses.:.cha;ged nor did she receive anything in

Y. 1804269,
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relation to tﬁe PDAF projects implemented by her o

she is unaware whether the PDAF was abused by any or all of

her co-respondents.

In her March 14, 2014 Counter-Affidavit,"? JOHNSON,

NABCOR former Chief Accountant, points out that there is
nothing in the complaint “that would show, or even minutely
imply that (she} was part of an express conspiracy’ to commit
the offenses charged; thé complaints do not specifically allege
the wrongful acts or omissions she committed as her
participation in the PDAF transactioﬁs was merely ministerial
In nature, limited to a veriﬁcation‘ of “whether or not the
documents enumerated on the face of the disbursement voucher
were attached to that disbursement voucher;” and that her job
did not include examining the authenticity of the vouchers or

the signatures thereon,

MUNSOD, former Human Resources Supervisor/Manager,

in her Counter-Affidavit dated 27 December 2013, contends

that she was impleaded for having signed DV No. 08-04-0129
in 2008 pertaining to a PDAF-related project implemented by
POPDFi; her certification therein that the expenée was

necessary and lawful was a purely ministerial function, and

i

1214, ar1278-1294. :
Records, ppv, 177-18 1, Tolder 21, OMB-C-C 13 0390,
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was issued only after examining the vouch?r and the
supporting documents because she “did NOEI‘ find any
irregularity on the face thereof that would create in my mind
any doubt as to the legality and integrity of the said Voucher;”
~and she had no knowledge of “any agreement or arrangement

on the disbursement of the funds mentioned in the Voucher.”

Claiming to have been unfairly used or exploited by those

involved in the misuse of the PDAF, MONTUYA, NABCOR -

Accounting Staff Assistant, avers in her Counter-Affidavit

dated 18 February 2014, that she was impleaded in relation

‘ta the inspection reports she signed in relation to the project
covered by SARO No, ROCS-08-07211 and 09-08804; she was
under the di;ect' §upervision of respondent Mendo?a a.nd»part
of her duties was to comply with directives issued by Mendoza,
including the 'processing of the release of sums drawn from

Enrile’s PDAF; and the inspection reports relating to PDAF-

related projects Were merely pro-forma and stored in NABCOR
computers. Mor‘ltuya relates that she once ac;:ompanied '
Mendoza in inspecting fertilizers sfored in a warchouse in’
Panch Bulacan and even took pictures of these kits; orﬂy after
the cnmmal complamts were filed d1d she ﬁnd out from

Wltness Sula that these fert1hzers were owned by Napoles she

T 6t $26-844.
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could have inspected other items for distribution in-‘the PDAF-
related projects but Mendoza refused to authorize her and
NABCOR did not offer to defray the expenses for such
inspections; she has never met Enrile or Napoles, let alone
conspire with them to defraud the government; and did not

benefit from any of these projects.

Refuting the charges against her in her Counter-Affidavit

filed on 28 January 2014, GUANIZO, NABCOR

Bookkeeper/OIC Accounting Division, claims that the
complaints did not specify the extent of her participation in
the assailed scheme; no substantial evidence exists to support
the charges, hence, the lack of probable cause; and éhe still

has remedies within the COA Rules to question the COA

report.

TECHNOLOGY RESOURCE CENTER {TRC) RESPONDENTS

In his Counter-Affidavits dated 20 and 24 February

2014," CUNANAN, Deputy Director General of the TRC at the
time material to the complaints, refutes the accusations
against him, stating that to his recollection, TRC began
recei'v'h-ig PDAF—i‘elated disbursements sometime in 2005; it

was his previous superior, then TRC Director General Ortiz,

[ |

T (. ad 1060- 1062,
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“who directly -dealt with and supervised the processmg of all
PDAF[-Jrelated projects of the TRC;” Lacsamana, then TRC
Group Manager, assisted Ortiz in the implementation of PDAF
projects and “reported directly to Director General Ortiz’s Office
in this regard;” he and other colleagues from TRC “assumed
PDAF[-[funded préjects to be regular and legitimate projects;”

because of measures instituted by Ortiz, he (Cunanan), then

Deputy Director General, “did not participate in the processing

of said projects except in the performance of (his) ministerial

duty as a co-signatory of vouchers, checks and other financial

documents of TRC;” and Ortiz, Lacsamana and Figura, TRC
Department Manager I, were “the ones who actually dealt
with the Offices of the Legislators concerned as well as the
NGOs, which supposedly implemented the projects;”

'Cunanan furthef relates that sometime in 2006 or 2007,
he met Napoles who “introduced herself as the representative of
certain legislators who supposedly picked TRC aé a conduit for
PDAF-funded projects;” at the same occasion, Napoles told him.
that “her prir.cipals were then Senate President Juan Poncg
Enrile, Senatcrs Ramon “Bong” Revilla, Jr., Sen. Jinggoy
Ejer-ci%;)! Estrdda;” in the course of his duties, he “often ended
up taking and/ o;"making telephone verifications and follow-ups
and receit;iﬁg :le;;isldtors or their staff members;” dunng his

$ . .
telenhone verlﬁuaﬁonu, he was able to speak with Reyes, who

% 6. CAGAT-CAGAT. I



¢

&.

+ JOINT RESOLUTION

i PR " T ey
ot e T

Fru‘—-'—f"’-l". TR

-~

OMB-C-C-13-0318
OMB-C-C-13-0396
Page=====-===46

NN

YRV

was acting ir{ behalf of her superior, Senator Emﬂe'; Reyes
confirmed to. him that she and Evangelista “we;'e duly
'authon'zed by respondent Enrile” to facilitate his PDAF projects
and she also affirmed to him that the signatures appe:an'ng in
communications sent to TRC were, indeed, hers and
Evangelista’s; he occasiohall& met with Luy, who pressured
him to expedite the release of the funds by calling the offices of
the legislators; aﬁd that after he was appointed as TRC's
Director General in 2010, he exerted all efforts to have his
agency removed from the list of agencies authorized to

implement PDAF projects. He maintains he did not benefit

from the alleged misuse of the PDAF.

In his Counter-Affidavit dated 8 January 2014," FIGURA,

TRC Department Manager 111, denies the charges against him,
stating that he does not personally know Napoles or the
legislators “who had their PDAF’S (sic) coursed thrOt..tgh:TRC as
implementing agency;” he “talked to him l{witness LL;y) once
over the telephone .. and vividly remember [being berated by]
him as he was name-dropping people from DBM and
Malgcaniang just to compel me to rélease from the Legal
Depaftéle;zi ‘the MOA of his foundation which was being

reviewed by niy .office;” when TRC began implementing PDAF

131 ut 284-408,
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projects in 2007, he and other TRC colleagues welcomed this

“ development because “it would potentially generate income for
TRC which does not receive any subsidy from the National
Government’ but the sefvice fee of 1% edrned by TRC from
implementing PDAF projects “was too negligible;” he was told

by TRC’s ma{:aécment that “legislators highly recommended

certain NGO'’s(sic)/Foundations as conduit implementors and

@ since PDAF’s "{sic) are their discretionary finds, they have the
prerogative to: choose their NGO’s (sic);> TRC’s managemenf

also warned aim that “if TRC would disregard it (choice of

NGO), they '{legislators) would feel insulted and would simply

take away théz:f PDAF from TRC, and TRC losses (sic) the

chance to earn éervice fees;” and Cunanan was among those

who objected to his (Figura) proposal that TRC increase its

service fee from 1% to 10%, claiming thaLt “if we imposed a

® 10% service fee, we would totally drive dway the. legislators
and their PDAF’s (sic).”
Figura adds that Ortiz issued Office Circular 000P0099,

directing him (Figura) to sign checks representing PDAF
releases sometime in 2007; Ortiz, however, subsequently

issued . Office’ Circular 000P0100, which increased TRC’s

‘ service;fe:e to 5% but limited his (Figura) qfﬁc&s participation
in PDAF projec:ts to ‘_r(-eviewing MOA; his haviné siénéd checks

and other PDAI documents were in gond faith and in
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compliance with his designated tasks; he did not personally

benefit from the TRC’s implementation of PDAF projects; he is

uncertain if Gunanan or Ortiz benefitted from the projects but

to his recollection, they repeatedly expressed undue interest

in the transactions; Cunanan “would frequently personally

follow up in my office the review of the MOA or my signature on

r

the checks,” even name-dropping then First Gentleman Jose

Miguel Arroyo whenever “he requested me to fast track

processing of the PDAF documents;” as regards Ortiz, “his office
would sbmetz’mes inquire on the status of a particular PDAF;” he
tried his best to resist the pressure exerted on him and did his
best to perform his duties faithfully; and he and other low-
ranking TRC :ofﬁcials had no power to “simply disregard the-
wishes aof Serilator Enrile,” especiélly on the matter of public

bidding for thi PDAF projects.

JOVER, TRC Chief Accountant, alleges in her Counter-

Affidavit dated 12 December 2013,"” that she was implicated

in the instant complaints for “having certified in the
Disbursement Vouchers for the aforestated project x x x that

Do e
adeqyate Junds/budgetary allotment of the amount is properly

L t

- - - . -; N .
certified, supported by documents;” her issuance of such

certification was ministerial in nature, considering other TRC

" id, al 15439,
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officials already certified, in the same vou§ ers, tﬁat
“expenses/cash advance is necessary, lawful and incurred
under direct supervision” and “expen.ses/'cash advance is-
within budget” when these documents were referred to her; her
duty was limited to verifying if the voucher was supported by
the requisite. documents; it was “beyond (her) duty to
personally ha})e an actual field validation and confirmed (sic)
deliveries to béneficiaries or to go on the details of the delivered
items or mak: a rigid inspection of the PDAF project;” she
signed the vouchers “for no dishonest purpose, nor being bias.
and no intent on any negligence;” and she had nothing to do

with “non-delivery or under delivery of PDAF project.”

ESPIRITU, TRC Budget Officer IV, in her Counter-Affidavit

dated 10 January 2014,"™ denies the charges against her and
asserts that her participa‘tion in the PDAF-related transactions
covered by SARO No. ROCS-O7-07221; ROCS-08-03024 and
D-0900847 was limited to having certified in the
corresponding DVs that “fhe amount is certified within budget,
supported by . dovycuments;” she issued the certifications in
gccqrdgnc_ge W1th her ministerial functions as a budget officer

and bcqa:usp_ the vouchers were, indeed, within the budget

provided to her agency and supported by documentation; and

Y21 g dG0-130,
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Director General and Deputy Director General, certified in the

same vouchers that the expenses were lawful, necessary and

incurred under their direct supervision.

t

DEPARTMEN'i‘ OF BUDGET AND MANAGEMENT (DBM)
RESPONDENTS

In their Joint Counter-Affidavit dated 2 December 2013,

Rosario NUNEZ, Lalaine PAULE, and Marilou BARE,™
admitting that they are the DBM personnel being alluded to as
Leah, Lalaine and Malou, respectively, and named as such in
the caption of the NBI and Baligod Complaint, state that their
names are noti specifically mentioned in the NBI's complaint as
among thase ' who allegedly participated in or abated the
misuse of. the PDAF; and that no probable cause exists to

indict them for the offenses charged.

RELAMPAGOS, DBM Undersecretary for Operations, in

his Counter-Affidavit dated 13 December 2013, contends that

the complaint “is insufficient in'form and substance;” there is
neither factual nor legal basis to indict him for Plunder as the

complaint and sworn statements of witnesses do not mention

11 .. - . .

Were not originally {;np'leadcd in the caption of the complaints as respondeats by the NBI and Baligod.
In the ?ou‘rse.of thc. pre.minary investigation, the Panel of Tnvestigators ordered thérh to subrnit counter-
alfidavits in light of the ipprowsion (hat they were the junics to the sehenie,
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his name as zmong those who supposedly misused the PDAF;

and he performed his duties in good faith.

OTHER RESPONDENTS

In his 15 January 2014 Counter-Affidavit,’” DE ASIS

admits having been an employee of the JLN Group of
Companies from 2006-2010 in various capacities as either
driver, bodyg\faard or messenger, and that he received a salary
of P10,000/month for serving as the driver and “errand boy” of
Napoles.. He 'allc;gcs that he picked up checks for Na%oles-
affiliated NGO_s 1t’mt only because he was instructed to do so;
he has no knowledge in setting up or managing corporations
such as CARED, which he allegedly helped inco;-porate ; and he

did not personally benefit from the alleged misuse of the

PDAF.

In her 16 January 2014 Counter-Affidavit,®

ENCARNACICN . denies the charges imputed against her,
insisti.ng that she was an employee (personal assistant) of JLN
Group of Companies from 2004-2008 where she }received a
'sala..'rir’".c;f :.P'l'Q,OOO/mon'th for overseeing ‘the schedule and.

1
.

servirig as “errand girl® of Napoles; she has no knowledge in

1?: Recnrd;a, . 431-447. ‘
PUd, at 4314438,

S.CAGAT-CAGAT Il |
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setting up or mianaging corporations; she signed the|corporate

papers of Napoles-afﬁliated NGOs because her superiors:
instructed her to do so; and she derived no personal benefit

from the scheme.

Denying any involvement in the irregularities arising from

PDAF-related trahsactions, SOLOMON asserts in her 27

January 2014 Counter-Affidavit'® that she has never met any
of her co-réspondents; in 2006, she performed auditing work
for a number of clients, she being a certified public
accountant; POPDFI, one of the NGOs allegedly affiliated with
Napoles’ group, was not among her clients; the signature‘s'
allegedly belolnging to her and appearing in the PDAF
documents ar<|=: markedly different from her actual signature;
and to clear her name, she is prepared to “submit {herself)

willingfullly] to' a forensic examination of (her) signature with the

National Bureau of Investigation (NBI).”

Denying any involvement in the alleged misuse of the

PDAF, AGCAOILI, a Notary Public, alleges in his 10 Decembgr

2013 Counter-Affidavit,’® that he never met the signatories to

the ;MC)A,"rreportS of disbursement, board resolutions and
' |

other 'PDAF documents that he allegedly notarized; these

:f‘j Rcéords. pp.'720-72k\ :
Lot L
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submitted to the Regional Trial Court of Quezon City; he

cannot attest to the genuineness of these records because “he

has not seen them before, nor had prior knowledge about them;”

and there are discrepancies between his actual signature and

the signature appearing in the PDAF documents that allegedly
belong to him.
1

In their Jeint Counter-Affidavit® dated 21 February 2014,

Jo Christine and James Christopher Napoles, children of
Janet Napoles, cite the FIO complaint‘s insufficiency in form.
and substanc'e for failing to specify the ‘acts or omissions
committed by them which constitute thé offenses charged,

thereby failing to allege and substantiate the elements of

Plunder and violation of Section 3(e) of RA 3019; and the
affidavits of corﬁplainant’s witnesses contain nothing more

than hearsay, self-serving statements which are “not worthy of
]
credence.”

IV. DISCUSSION

PROCEDURAL, ISSUES

Respondents Relampagos, Bare,
Nuriez and Paule were properly
impleaded ~ |

™ p. 1043-1039, ibist
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Relampagos, Bare, Nunez and Paule all insist that they
should be dropped from these proceedings because they were
never specifically named as respondents in the criminal

complaints filed by the NBI and the FIO.
This Office disagrees.

Among the documents attached to and made -an integral

part of the NBI’s complaint is witness Luy’s Affidavit dated 12

September 2013,125 in which he identified Relampagos, Bare,

Nurfiez and Paule as Janet Napoles’ “contacts” within the DBM
who helped expedite the release of SAROs and NCAs relating to
the PDAF:

82: T: Mapunta naman tayo sa pagproseso ng transaction ni
JANET LIM NAPQLES sa mga government pro_]ects, gaano
naman katagal magpropeso ng mga ito?

S: Makilis lang po kung ikukumpara natin sa norrnal na
transaction sa mga government agencies.

83. T: Alam mo_ba kung paano naman ito na_qggawanq
mapabilis ni JANET LIM NAPOLES?
S: Opo, may mga contact persons na siya kasi sa DBM.
Inuutusan po kami ni Madame JANET LIM NAPOLES na i-
follow up sa kanila iyong mga dokumento para mapabilis
ang pagpoproseso nito.

84, T: Kilala mo ba kung sinu-sino naman itong mga contact

persons ni JANET LIM NAPOLES sa DBM? .

S: Sa DBM po ay sa opisina ni Usec MARIO

RELAMPAGOS kami pinagpa-follow up ni Madame JANET
'LIM ‘NAPOLES. Ang mga tinatawagan po namin ay sina

. LEA, MALOU at LALAINF, na naka—a551,,n sa office ni
USEC RELAMPAGOS.

175 Records, p. 382, OMB-C-C 13-03 8
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85, T: Bakit doon kayo nagfo-follow up sa office ni USEC
RELAMPAGOS?
mf S: Sa pagkaka-alam ko po, doon ginagawa ang SARO.
(emphasis, italics and underscoring supplied)

In other words, complainants’ witness Luy underscores
that Relampagos, Bare, Nufiez and Paule’é participation in the
misuse or diversion of the PDAF pertains to their 'expedited
preparation a.r.;d release of the SAROs covering PDAF projects,
albeit due to x;ninistrations of Napoles and her staff. It was for
this reason that this Office ordered said public respondents to
submit their c:ounter-afﬁd'.avits'so that they may shed light on
their supposed involvement in the so-called PDAF scam. After
all, preliminary investigation is merely inquisitorial, and it is
often the only means of discovering whether a pérson may be
reasonably charged with a crime, and to enable the prosecutor

to prepare his complaint or information.126

Notably, rcspondcnts Relampagos, Bare, Nuiiez and Paule
‘chd not categoncally deny witness Luy’s claims of follow-ups
made with the DBM. Instead, they simply deny, in general
terms, haviﬁg committed the offenses charged.
The FIO did not submit a false
certiﬁqatg of non-forum shopping
¢ Sev1da1 clauns that the FIO submitted a false certificate of

non-forum shoppmg in OMB-C- C 13-0396. Accordmg to him,

Ny
78 py, api v S uhqm:L«nn (LK. Mo, 101978 2 il 7, lﬁt)l



* JOINT RESOLUTION
OoMB-C-C-13-0318
s wrireas o wOMBLC-C-]3-0396, . vy v« i . e P ,
Page:---=====56 :\ P

the FIO failed to disclose, in said certiﬁca:te:, that
) ~ earlier filed a criminal complaint for Plunder against him and
his co-respondents, docketed as OMB-C-C-13-0318, and the
charges aﬂegéd thereiﬁ arose from the same set of facts set

forth in the FIO’s complaint.
His contention fails to persuade.

Rule 7, Sgction 8 of the Rules of Court, which suppletorily
applies to these proceedings,'?? requires the complainant’s
submission of a valid, duly-accomplished certificate of non-

| forum shoppirig:

| .
Certzﬁc:ztion against forum shopping. — The plaintiff or
principal party shall certify under oath in the complaint
or other ini‘iatory pleading asserting a claim for relief, or in a
sworn certification annexed thereto and simultaneously filed
therewith: (a) that he has not theretofore commenced any
A W action or f.led any claim involving the same issues in any
court, tribunal or quasijudicial agency and, to the best of
his knowledge, no such other action or claim is pending
therein; (b) if there is such other pending action or claim, a
complete statement of the present status thereof; and (c} if he
should thereafter learn that the same or similar action or claim
has been filed or is' pending, he shall report that fact within five
(5) days therefrom to the court wherein his aforesaid complaint
or initiatory pleading has been filed. (emphasis, italics and
underscoring supplied) . .

Bgsed' on the above provision, the complainant or

& initiating party is duty-bound only to disclose the existence of

Py . . .
an earlier action or claim filed by him or her, and which

ks \ . . v g .. . . . e .
Rule V, Section 3 al Cirbadsan Administeslive Urdee Mo, 7, Serics of 195y,

)
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) the existence of pending suits or complaints previously filed by

another party. |

In this case, the FIO had no obliga;tion to disclose the
existence of OMB-C-C-13-0318 for the simple reason that it
was not the ]initiatizig party of this complaint. Rather, as
Sevidal himse;]f admits, the NBI, and not the FIO, is the
complainant n OMB-C-C-13-0318. The FIO is not even a
party to OMB--CTC—13-0318. Thus, this Office fails.to see why
the FIO should be faulted for not mentioning the existence of
this particular complaint.

The filing of the complaints
was not premature

Sevidal and Ordoriez proceed to argue that the filing of the
® criminal charges against them and their c¢o-respondents is
premature because the COA had yet to issue notices of '

disallowances (NDs) on disbursements drawn from the PDAF.
|
The above contention, however, has been rendered moot
by, the 'wezll-publicized fact that the COA had a]reédy issued

® several NDs covering disbursements relating to PDAF-funded
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& period 2007 to 2009.128

They, however, insist that the filing of the complaint
remains prémature even if the COA did issue NDs.. According
to them, the NDs are still appealable under the 2009 Revised
Rules of Procedure (the 2009 COA Rules) and no
administrative or criminal complaint arising from the NDs may
be instituted until and unless the issuances have become final
and executory. In other words, Sevidal and Ordorfiez assume
that the NDs, at Ithe very least, give rise to a- prejudicial

question warranting the suspension of the instant preliminary

!
investigation.

This argument cannot be sustained.

@ | Under Rule 111, Section 7 of the Rules of Court, a

prejudicial question exists when the following elements are

present;

The elements of a prejudicial question are: (a) the
previously instituted civil action involves an issue similar or
intimately related to the issue raised in the subsequent
criminal action and {b} the resclution of such issue determines
-whether or not the criminal action may proceed. (underscoring
.Supplied)

'28 TJ Burgonio, “Return pork, 4 solons told,” Philippine Daily Inquirer, electronically published an

Febrary 1, 2014 at htp//newsinfo.inguirer.net/572215/retum-pork-4-solons-told and last accessed on
March 13,2014,
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As reﬂected in the above elements, the concept of a
& prejudicial question involves both a ecivil and a criminal case.
There can be no prejudicial question to speak of if, technically,

no civil case is pending.129

Proceedings under the 2009 COA Rules, including those

pertaining to the NDs, are administrative in nature.

Consequently, any appeal or review sought by any of herein
respondents with the COA in relation to the NDs will not give

rise to a prejudicial question.

Signiﬁcanﬂy,' Reyna and Soria v. Commission on Audit!3¢

‘teaches that an administrative proceeding pertaining to a COA
disallowance is distinct and separate from a preliminary
mvestigation in a criminal case which may have arisen from’
the | same set of facts. Both proceedings  may proceed

“ independently of each another. Thus, Reyjna and Soria
: |
declares:

AN

On a final noté, it bears to point out that a cursory reading

of the Ombudsman's resolution will show that the complaint

- against petitioners was dismissed not because of a finding of
good faith but because of a finding of lack of sufficient

evidence. While the evidence presented before the Ombudsman

Jnay not have been sufficient to overcome the burden in

cnqnnal cases of proof beyond reasonable doubt, it does not,

however, necessarily follow, that the administrative praceedmgs

O will suffer- the same fate as only substantial evidence is
required, or that amount of relevant evidence which a

® Trinidad'y. Ombudsman G.R. ND 166038, Deccmber4 2007.
" GLR. No, Iu/m Februsry 8, 2011

(|l [

Lo
(3
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reasonable ‘mind might accept as adequate to ‘justify a

conclusion. .
0 An absolution from a_criminal charge is not a bar to an
administrative prosecution or vice versa. The criminal case
filed befory the Office of the Ombudsman is distinet and

separate from the proceedings on the disallowance before
the COA. So also, the dismissal by Margarito P. Gervacio, Jr.,
Deputy Ombudsman for Mindanao, of the criminal charges
against petitioners does not necessarily foreclose the matter of
their possible liability as warranted by the findings of the COA.
(emphasis, italics and underscoring supplied)

Moreover, nothing in existing laws or rules expressly state

& that a disallowance by the COA is a pre-requisite for the filing
of a criminal complaint for Plunder,13! Malversation!32 or
violation of Section 3 {e) of RA 3019. In fact, an audit

disallowance is not even an element of any of these offenses. .

Sevidal ar:d Ordoifiez’s reference. to Rule XIII, Section 6 of

the 2009 COf\ Rules also fails to impress. This provision

reads:

W Referral to the Ombudsman. - The Auditor shall report to
his Director all instances of failure or refusal to comply with
the decisions or orders of the Commission contemplated in the
preceding sections. The COA Director shall see to it that the
report is supported by the sworn statement of the Auditor
concerned, identifying among others, the persons liable and
describing the participation of each. He shall then refer the
matter to the Legal Service Sector who shall refer the matter
to_the Office of the Ombudsman_or other appropriate
office for the possible filing of appropriate administrative
or criminal action. (emphasis, italiecs and underscoring
supplied) )

. )

1:: As defined and penal .zed by RA 7080, as smended. .
" As delined and penaliziid by Asticle 217 of the Revised Peasd Code. :

I
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Evidently, this immediately-quoted COA Rile pedtat

& the possible fﬂingv of administrative or crimindl action in
relation to audit disallowance. Note that the tenor of the
provision is -i)ermissive, not mandatory. As such, an audit
disallowance ;'nay‘not necessarily result in the imposition of
disciplinary “sanctions or criminal prosecution of the
responsible ptrsons. Conversely, therefore, an administrativé

O or criminal case may prosper even without an audit
disallowance. Verily, Rule XIII, Section 6 is consistent with the

. - ruling in Reyna and Soria that a proceeding involving an audit
disallowance is distinct and separate from a preliminary

investigation or a disciplinary complaint.

AT ALL EVENTS, Rule XIII, Section 6 pertains to the
COA’s. filing of administrative and/or criminal cases against
o the concerned parties. It has no bearing on any legal action -

taken by other agencies not subject of the 2009 COA Rules,

- such as the NBI or the FIO.'

SUBSTANTIVE ISSUES

The diversion or misuse of the
PDAF ' 'was - 'coursed through a
complex .- scheme involving

‘ participants from the legislator’s
office, the DBM, IAs and NGOs
controlled by respondent Janet
Napo}els_..
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Based or the testimonial and .documentary ' evidence

@ presented, the widespread misuse of the subject PDAF allotted
to a legislator was coursed through a complex scheme
basically involving projects supposed to have been funded by

said PDAF which turned out to be inexistent or “ghost’
projects. The funds intended for the implementation of fhe
PDAF-funded project are, with the imprimatur of the lcgislatof,

the IAs and NGOs, diverted to the possession and control of

Napoles and her cohorts.

The Modus Operandi

Basmally, the scheme COMINENces when Napoles first
meets with a lzgislator and offers to “acquire” his or her PDAF
allocation in. exchange for a “commission” or kickback
amounting to a certain percentage of the PDAF.

Once an agreement is reached,. Napoles would then
advance to the legislator ba down payment representing a
portion of his or her kickback. The legislator would the:n
request the Senate President or the House Speaker as the case
may bf‘_forl the immediate release of his ‘or her PDAF. The
Senate ‘Iiresident- or Speaker would then indorse the request to
the DBM.133 ’i‘his initial letter-request to the DBM contains a

progra:m' or list oT IAs and: the amount.of PDAF té) Be releaséd

133

Records. 'p. 217, OM'C-C-13-0118.
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in order to guide the DBM in its preparation and fqlease of the
corresponding SARO.

The kickbacks, around 50% of the PDAF amount involved,
are received by legislators personally or through their
representatives, in the form of cash, fund transfer, manager’;
check or personal check issued by Napoles.134

After the DBM issues the SARO representing the
legislator’; PDAF allocation, the legislator would forward a

copy of said i‘suance to. Napoles. She, in turn, would remit the

‘remaining portion of the kickback due the legislator. 135

The legislator would then write another letter addressed to

the 1As which would identify his or her preferred NGO to

‘undertake the PDAF-funded project. However, the NGO chosen

by the legislator Wpuld be one of those organized and
controlled by Napoles. These NGOs were, in fact, speciﬁcalljr
set up by Napoles for the putrpose.136

Upon receipt of the SARO, Napoles would direct her staff,
at the time material to the cases, including witnesses Luy,
Sula and Suiias, to prepare the PDAF documents for the
approval of the legislator. These docﬁmcnts reflect, ainong
other thmgs the preferred NGO to implement the undertakmg,

the pI‘O_]CCt proposals by the identified NGO/s, and

M 1d st 221,
135 14 at218. -
™ Ihid.
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indorsement lettcrs to be signed by the lcélsl’a;;‘or"aﬁd/ 01; his
staff. Once mgned by the legislator or hlS /her authonzed staff
the PDAF docaments are transmitted to the IA, which, in turn,
handles the preparation of the MOA relating to the project to

be executed by the legislator’s office, the IA and the chosen
NGO.

The projects are authorized as eligible under the DBM's
menu for pork barrel allocations. Note that the NGO is directly
selected by the legislator. No public bidding or negotiated
procurement takes place, in violation of RA 9184 or the
Government Procurement Reform Act.

Napoles, through her employees, would then follow up the
release of the NCA with the DBM.1%7

After the DBM releases the NCA to the IA concerned, the IA
would expediie the processing of the trénsaction and the
release of th¢ corresponding check ‘représenting the PDAF
disbursement. Among those tasked by Napoles to f)ick up the
checks and deposit them to bank accounts in the name of the
NGO concerned were witriesses Luy and Sufias as well as

respondents De Leon and De Asis.38

1. 21219,
a2,

O
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Once the funds are deposited in the NGO’s accoumt,
@ Napoles would then call the bank to facilitate the withdrawal
thereof, Her staff would then withdraw the funds and remit the
same.to her, théreby placing said amount under Napoles’ full
control and possession.139
To liquidate the 'disbursements; Napoles and her staff
Would then manufacture fictitious lists of beneficiaries,
<9 liquidation reports, inspection reports, project activity repor.ts
and similar documents that would make it appear that the '

PDAF-related project was implemented.

The PDAF allocation of Sehator Enrile

Based on the records, the repeated diversions of the PDAF
allocated to Senator Ex;rile. during the period 2004 to 2010
~were coursed via the above-described schen.'le.v
@ In the case of Senator Enrile’s PDAF, the NGOs affiliated
and/or controlled by Napoles that undertock to implement the'
projects to be funded by the PDAF Wers MAMFI, POPDFI,
PSDFI, AMFL, CARED, PASEDFI, SDPFFI, AEPPF and
KPMFIL.140 Thase organiza’rions transacted through persons
known to be employees associates or relatives of Napoles,
® mcludmg witnesses Luy, Sula and Sufias, as well as

respondents Jo Napoles, James Napoles, De Leon, Pioranto,

:j’ bid.
9 Records, p. 12, OMB-C-C-13-0315.
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Lim, Ramirez, Cabilao, Ogerio, Fabian, Ditchon,
Fernando, De Asis, Encarnacion, Palama, Ornopia, Castillo

and Macha.

Napoles, through respondent Tuason, initially approached
respondent Reyes regarding a “business proposition” relating to
Senator Enriie’s PDAF. Tuason, in her Counter-Affidavit,
declared that Reyes, who had Senator Enrile’s full trust and
confidence, accepted Napoles’ proposition:

6. Since I was close to then President Estrada, Janet
Napoles wanted me to refer politicians to her so I approached

my friend Atty. Jessica “Gigi” Reyes, who was the Ch1ef-of-Staff
of Senator Enrile.

7. When I told her about the business proposition of Janet
Napoles, Aity. Gigi Reyes agreed to transact the PDAF of
Senator Enrile with Janet Napoles. I believed that Atty. Gigi
Reyes had the full authority fto act for and on behalf of
Senator Enrile with respect to _his PDAF allocations x x x
(emphasis, italics and underscoring supplied) ‘

Once a PDAF allocation becomes available to Senator
Enrile, his staff, either Reyes or Evangelista, would inform

Tuason of thls development. Tuason, in turn, would relay the

information to either Napoles or Luy.!4!

. 'I\laSOI_l, who admitted having acted as a liaison between

-Napoles and the office of Senator Enrile, confirmed that the

modus opérandl described by witnesses Luy, Sula and Suiias,

[ |

mdeed apphed to the disbursements drawn from Senator

Enrile’s PDAF. "I\.laso_n’s verified statements corroborate the

)

il Parageaph 1L, regporident Raby Tuazon'’s Covnter-Affidacis ditst 21 Febsoary 2014,

—
C"‘"
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modus operandi in carrying out the transactions d dcscrlbcd

by witnesses Luy, Sula and Suifias in their respective affidavits
in support of the complaints:

11. ... It starts with a call or advise from Atty. Gigi Reyes or
Mr. Jose Antonio Evangelista (also from the Office of Senator
Enrile) informing me that a budget from Senator Enrile’s PDAF
is available. I would then relay this information to Janet
Napoles /Bcnhur Luy.

12, Janet Napales/Benhur Luy would then prepare a
listing of the projects available indicating the implementing
agencies. This listing would be sent to Atty. Gigi Reyes who will
endorse the same to the DBM under her authority as Chief-of-
Staff of Senator Enrile.

13. After the listing is released by the . Office of Senator
Enrile ta the DBM, Janet Napoles would .give me a down
payment for delivery for the share of Senator Enrile through
Atty. Gigi Reyes:

14. After the SARO and/or NCA is released, Janet Napoles
would give me the full payment for delivery to Senator Enrile
through Atty. Gigi Reyes.

15. Sometimes Janet Napoles would have the money for
Senator Enrile delivered to my house by her employees. At other
times, I would get it from her condominium in Pacific Plaza or
from Benhur Luy in Discovery Suites. When Benhur Luy gives
me the money, he would make me scribble.on some of their
vouchers of even sign under the name “Andrea Reyes,” Napoles’
cadename for me. This is the money that I would deliver to
Senator Enrile through Atty. Gigi Reyes.

16. I don’t count the money I receive for delivery to Senator
Enrile. I just receive whatever was given to me. The money was
all wrapped and ready for delivery when 1 get it from Janet
Napoles or Benhur Luy. For purposes of recording the
transactions, ! rely on the accounting records of Benhur Luy for
the PDAF of Senator Enrile, which indicates the date,
description @nd' amount of money I rcccwed for delivery to -
Senator Earile.

R S XXX

18. As | have mentioned above, I personally received the
share of Senafor Enrile from Janet Napoles and Benhur Luy
and [ personally delivered it to Senator Enrile’s Chief-of-Staf,
Atty. Gigi Reyes.....Thére were occasions when Senator Enrile
(sic) would join us for a cup of coffee when he would pick her
up..For.me, his presence was a sign that whatever Atty. Gigi
Reyes was doing was wilh Senrior Burile’s blessing.

N e .
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: Aside from Tuason’s statement, the following set of
“ documentary evidence supportis the modus operandi described
T

by witnesses Luy, Sula and Sufas: (a) the business ledgers

prepared by witness Luy, showing the amounts received by
Senator Enrile, through Tuason and Reyes, as his
“commission” from the so-called PDAF scam;!42 (b) the 2007- |
2009 COA Report documenting the results:of the special audit
@ undertaken on PDAF disbursements - thatf there were serious
irregﬁlarities relating to the ﬁnplementaﬁbll of PDAF-funded
projects, including those endorsed by Sena’:cor Enrile;143 and (c}
the reports or: the independent field verification conducted in
2013 by the iinvestigators of the FIO which secured sworn

statements of local government officials and- purported

beneficiaries of the supposed projects which turned out to be

inexistent.144

A violation of Section 3 (e) of
RA 3019 was committed.

Under Section 3(e) of RA 3019, a person becomes
criminally liable if three (3) elements are satisfied, viz.:

1 ‘He or she must be a officer discharging
: :: ademstratlve » Judicial or official functions;

@

2. He or' she must have acted with ma.mfest partiality,

!
142 '

i Records, pp 240-241 OMB-C- C-13-0318

Id at 850-1063.
! Revord: A 35:104, OMB-C-C-13-0306,
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evident bad faith or inexcusable ne;gligence; and
. 3. His or her action: {a) caused any undue injury to arny
party, including the Government; or (b) gave any

private party unwarranted benefits, advantage or
preference in the discharge of his or her functions.145

The presence of the foregoing is evident from the records. : ‘

First, res‘pondents Senator Enrile, Reyes, Evangelista,
Javellana, Mendoza Cacal, Guamzo Ortiz, Cunanan, Jover,
Munsocd, Relevo, Mendoza, Amata, Buenaventura, Sevidal,
Jalandoni, &uﬁﬁéij, ‘Ordofiez, Cruz, Espiritu, Relampagos,
Nuiiez, Paule, .Bare and Lacsamana were all public officers at
the time materal to the charges. Their respective roles in the
processing and :release of PDAF disbursements'v‘vere in the

exercise of their administrative and/or official functions.

Senator Enrile himself indorsed, in wititing, the Napoles-
affiliated NGO to implement projects funded by his PDAF. His
trusted authorized staff, respondents Reyes and Evangelista,
then prepared indorsement letters and other communications
rela_tiriag to the PDAF disbursements addressed to the DéM
and the IAs (NABCOR, TRC and NLDC). These trusted staff
a.ls'o:- ﬁé}-tiéip"ated in the prepa.ration and executionn of MOAs
‘ | wrth the NGOs and the IAs inspection and acceptance reports

dlsbursernent reports and othcr PDAF documents

5 2 - .
S Catucran v. Peopls, LR, N, 175005, August 31, 2011
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The DBM, through respondents Relampagos Nunez Paule

and Bare, then processed with undue haste the SAROs and

NCAs pertaining to Senator Enrile’s PDAF projects.

In turn, the heads of the IAs, NABCOR, NLDC and TRC, as

well as their respective staff participated in the preparation

and execution of MOAs governing the’ implementation of the

projects. They also facilitated, processed and approved the

PDAF disbursements to the questionable NGOs. The table

below indicates the participation of the IA officials/employees-

respondents:

NABCOR

RESPONDENT

PARTICIPATION

Alan A, Javelana

Signatory to MOAs with CARED, POPDFI, MAMFI
and SDPFF]; approved disbursement vouchers relating
to PDAF disbursements; and co-signed the
corresponding checks issued to the NGOs.

Rhodora B. Mendoza

Cao-signatory to checks issued to the NGOs; and
attended ingpection of livelihood kits.

Victor Roman Cacal

Assisted in the preparation/review of memoranda of
agreement with NGOs; and certified in disbursement
vouchers that the PDAF releases were necessary,

Encarnita Ctistina P, Munsod

lawful and incurred under his direct supervision.
Certified in disbursement vouchers that the PDAF
releases were necessary, lawful and incurred under her

Romulo M. Relevo

direct supervision.
Certified in disbursement vouchers that the PDAF
releases were necessary, lawful and incurred under his
direct supem sion.

Ma, Ninez P. Guafizo

Certified in disbursement vouchers that funds were
available and supporting documents were complete and
proper.

" Ma. Julie V. Johnson

Certified in disbursement vouchers that funds were
available and supporting documents were complete and
proper.
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NLDC ‘
% RESPONDENT PARTICIPATION
Gondelina G. Amata Signatory to MOAs with APMFI, CARED and
. MAMFY; approved disbursement vouchers relating to
PDAF disbursements; and co-signed the corresponding
checks issued to the NGOs.
Chita C. Jalandoni Co-signed the corresponding checks issued to the
' NGOs.

Emmanuel Alexis G. Sévida] I Certified in disbursement vouchers that the PDAF
’ releases were necessary, lawful and incurred under his
direct supervision.

Ofelia E. Orduiiez Certified in disbursement vouchers that funds were
available.
SofiaD. Cruz Certified in disbursernent vouchers that supporting
‘ documents were complete and proper.
% Gregoria I uenaventura Checked and verified the endorsement letters of

respondent Enrile; confirmed the authenticity of the
authorization given by respondent FEnrile to his
subordinates regarding the monitoring, supervision and
implementation of PDAF' projects; and prepared
evaluation and verification reports.

= Filipina T, Rodriguez Certified in disbursement vouchers that funds were
L available.
IRC
~ . RESPONDENT PARTICIPATION
Antonio Y. Ortiz Signatory 'to MOAs with CARED and AFPMF];

approved disbursement vouchers relating to PDAF
disbursements; and co-signed the corresponding checks
issued to the NGOs.

Dennis L. Cunanan Certified m disbursement vouchers that the PDAF
: releases were necessary, lawful and incurred under his

W - direct supervision,
F ancisco B. Figura Assisted in the preparation/review of memoranda of

agreement with NGOs; certified in disbursement

vouchers that the PDAF releases were necessary,

lawful and incurred under his direct supervision; and

o co-signed the corr&spondin'g checks issued to the
—_—— ‘ NGOs.

Marivic Jover Certified in disbursement vouchers that funds were
available and supporting documents were complete and
proper.

— .va. Rosalinda Lacsamana | Oversaw the processing of PDAF releases fo NGOs;

’ and assisted in the preparation/review of memoranda of
LN ' agreement with NGOs,

L (onsuelo Lilian Espmtu Certified in disbursement vcuchers that funds were

r available.

¢

On the other hand, private respondents in these cases

¢ fea in'concert with their co-respondents.
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From the accounts of witnesses Luy, Sula, Sufias and
respondent Tuason, Napoles ma@e a business proposal to
Reyes regardihg the Senator’s PDAF. Senator Enrile later
indorsed NGOs. affiliated with/controlled by Napoles to
implement his PDAF-funded projects.

Respondents Jo Napoles, James Napoles, De Leon,

Piorato, Lim, Ramirez, Cabilao, Ogerio, Fabian, Ditchon,

Galay, Uy, Fernando, De Asis, Encarnacion, Ealama, gmopia,
Castillo and Macha were all working for Napoles and served as
officers of her NGOs which were selected and endorsed by
Senator Enrile to implement his projects. They executed MOAs
relative to these undertakings in behalf of the organizations

and acknowledged receipt of the checks issued by NLDC,

NABCOR and TRC representing the PDAF releases.

Second, S=nator Enrile and respondent-public officers of

the IAs were manifestly partial to Napoles, her staff and the

affiliated NGOs she controlled.

Sison v. People!4 teaches that:

* iT“Partiality” is synmonymous with “bias,” which “excites a
disposition to see and report matters as they are wished for
rather than as they are.”

!

Y5 G, Nos, 170339, 170398403, March 9, 2010, 614 SCRA 670,
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To be acﬂonable under Section 3 (¢} of the Antl-Graft and
Corrupt Practices Act, partiality must be manifest. There must
be a clear, notorious and plain inclination or prec?ilection to
favor one side rather than the other. Simply put, the public

officer or employee’s predisposition towards a particular

person should be intentional and evident.

That Napoles and the NGOs affiliated with/controlled by,

her were exter!ded undue favor is manifest.

Senator Enrile repeatedly and direttly indorsed the NGOs

headed or controlled by Napoles and her cohorts to implement

his projects without the benefit of a public bidding.

As correctly pointed out by the FIO, the Implementing

Rules and Regulations of RA 9184 states that an NGO may be
|

: 4' -
contracted only when so authorized by an appropriation law or
) |

ordinance: , : !
k :
!

53.11. ‘NGO Participation. When an appropriation ;law or
ordinance earmarks an amount to be specifically contracted out
to Non-governmental Organizations (NGOs], the procuring
entity may enter into a Memorandum of Agreement in the NGO,

. subject.to guidelines to be issued by the GPPB.

Natiohal Budget Circular (NBC) No. 476,147 as amended by

NBC No. 479, provides that PDAF allocations should be

M Otherwise kr;’fwn as: "C:iuiéclinda for the Release and Utilization of the FDAF for FY 2001 and
therealier.”

J
4
SRR N
RN vt
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directly released only to those government agencies Ldenﬁﬁed
< in the project menu of the pertinent General Appropriations

Act (GAAs). The GAAs in effect at the time material to the

charges, I owever, did not authorize the direct release of funds
i

to NGOs, let alone the direct contracting of; NGOs to

I aplemment government projects. This, howéver, did not appear
to have impeded Senator Enrile’s direct selection of the
& ' Napoles-affiliated or controlled NGOs, 'and which choice was

accepted in toto by the IAs.

Jven assuming arguendo that the GAAs allowed the

arytagement of NGOs to implement PDAF-funded pi‘ojects,

suc 1 engageinents remain subject. to public bidding

Ii:qui ements. ‘Consider GPPB Resolution No. 012-2007:

4.1 When an appropriation law or ordinance specifically

earmarks ah amount for projects to be specifically contracted

W . out to NGOs, the procuring entity may select an NGO

through competitive bidding or negotiated procurement

under Section 53.11 of the IRR. (emphasis, italics and
‘underscoring supplied)

The aforementioned laws and rules; however, were

disregarded by public respondents, Senator Enrile ha]ving just
<ho en. tpe Napoles-founded NGQOs. Such blatant disregard of
& .. pub,' «¢ bidding requirements is highly éuspect, especially in

ligh! ; of the ruling in Alvarez v. People:148

MG N 6. 192591, June 20, 2011,
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The essence of competition in public bidding is that the
bidders are placed on equal footing. In the award of government
contracts, the law requires a competitive public bidding. This is
reasonable because “[a] competitive public_bidding aims to
protect the public interest by giving the public the best possible
advantages thru open competition.” It is a mechanism that
enables the government agency to avoid or preclude anomalies
in the execution of public contracts. (underlining supplied)

Notatu dignum is the extraordinary speed attendant to the
examination, /processing and approval' by the concerned
"WABCOR, NLDC and TRC officers of the PDAF releases to the
Napoles-affiliated or controlled NGOs. In maost instances, the

DVs were accomplished, signed and approved on the same

day. Certainly, the required, careful examination of the

frensactions’ :su.pporting documents could not have taken

plac ¢ if the DV was processed and appr'bved in one day.

Javellana, Mendoza and Cunanan of the' TRC we're
categorically identified by their subordinates co-respondents-

a:s those who consistently pressed for the immediate

p1-ocessing of PDAF releases.

Cica. pointed to Javellana and Mendoza as having
;.:essv,n,d him. to expedite the processing of the DVs:

15 In most instances, Boxes “B” and “C® were already
mgned wheigin the herein Respondent was required to sing (sic)
. ox “A” of the Disbursement Vouchers. Most of the times the
B x “3® and/or Box “C” of the Disbursement Vouchers were
« waly signed ahead by Nifiez Guanizo and/or Rhodora B,
Mer, ic¢ 2a and ALAN A. JAVELLANA respectively. .

H
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16. In|other instances, the checks for PDAF leases
were_a reddy prepared and signed by NABCOR President
ALAN A, JAVELLANA and VP for Finance RHODORA B.

W MENDUZA |attached to the Disbursement Voucher before
the herein Respondent were made signs Box “A” of the said
Disbursemént Vouchers. This is indicative of the target5 (sic)
Municipalities and immediately stern instructions of herein
Respondent[s superiors to sign the Disbursement Voucher
immediately| for reasons that it is being followed up by the
concerned GO. Furthermore, the herein Respondent relied on
the duly exgcuted Memorandum of Agreement by and between
NABCOR, NGO and the Office of the Legislator. According to the
said MOA, | initial release of funds will be undertaken by
NABCOR u;ton signing thereol. Hence, payment and/or release
of fund o the NGO became a lawful obligation of NABCOR.

w . X X X

18. On many instances, sternly ordered f[sic] the
) ABCOR VP for Admin. and Finance RHODORA B.
;AENDOZA to herein_Respondent to immediately sign Box
‘A” of the Disbursement Voucher even if the NGOs have not
yet complied with the other documentary requirements to
be attached to_the said_Disbursement Voucher on the basis
on [sic] th¢ commitment of the NGO to submit the other
1equired documents (emphasis, italics and underscoring
« uppliet )

Inlis Couwntger-Afﬁdavit, respondent Figura claimed that:

X X X

b} In the course of my review of PDAF documents, DDG
Der nis L. Cunanan would frequently personally follow up
in_ ny office the review of the MOA or_my signature on the
:t ks auld come down to my office in the third floor and
t i. me that|he had a dinner meeting with the First Gentleman
a 1 some legislators so much that he requested -me to fast
1 xick processing of the PDAF papers. Though I hate name- *
¢ . ‘opping, I ﬁhd not show any disrespect to him but instead told
1 m that if the papers are in order, I would release them before
thie end of working hours of the same day. This was done by
DDG many [times, but I stood my ground when the papers
on . PDAF he’s following up had deficiencies.... (emphasis,
itali'cs; and underscoring supplied)

MWorth, notng too 1s the extraordmary speed Relampagos

and .8 co-regpondentq from the DBM proceseed the
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documents required for the release of the PDAF as wimessei
& Luy and Sufigs positively attest to, viz: the DBM’s expediteci
processing of| the requisite SAROs and NCAs was made
possible through the assistance providéd by Nuiiez, Paule and

Bare. Relampagos béing their immediate sﬁperior,'they could

not have been unaware of the follow-ups made by Napoles’

staff with regard to the SARO and NCA.

The concerned officials of NABCOR, NLDC and TRC did
not- even .bother to conduct a due diligence audit on the
selected 'NGOs and the suppliers chosen by the NGO to
provide the livelihood ldts, which supply thereof was, it bears

reiteration, carried out without the benefit of public bidding, in

contravention of existing procurement laws and regulations.

In addition to the presence of manifest pﬁrtiality on the

part of respondent public officers, evident bad faith is present.

Evident bad faith connotes not only bad judgment but also
palpably and patently fraudulent and dishonest purp"Bsc to do
moral obliquity or conscious wrongdoing for some perverse
matjve or il will. It contemplates a state of mind affirmatively

O ' dpelja:ti}'l:g with furtive design or with some motive of self-

interest or-ill will or for ulterior purposes.!49- . )

Y8 Peaple v, Aticaza. (LR No. 171671, June 18, 2012,

i
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That several respohdent public officers unduly benefited
“ .
from the diversion of the PDAF is borne by the records.

As earlier mentioned, Tuason claimed that sl}e regularly
remitted significant portions (around 50%) of the diverted

sums to Reyes, which portions represented Senator Enrile’s

“share” or “comunission” in the scheme, thus:

14, After the SARO and/or NCA. is released, Janet Napoles
would give me the full payment for delivery to Senator Enrile
through Atty. Gigi Reyes,

X X X

16. I don’t count the maoney I receive for delivery to Senator
Enrile. I just receive whatever was given-to me. The money was
all wrapped and ready for delivery when 1 get it from Janet
Napoles or Benhur Luy. For purposes of recording the
transactions, I rely on the accounting records of Benhur Luy for
the PDAF of Senator Enrile, which indicates the date,

description and amount of money I réeceived for delivery to
Senator Envile. (underlining supplied)

W Notably, Tuason admits having received a 5% commission‘

for acting as liaison between Napoles and respondents Enrile

and Reyes.

Aside from Enrile and Reyes, respondents Javellana,
Cunanan, Ortiz and Sevidal were identified by witniess Luy as

% ‘among.those who received portions of the diverted amounts:150

9 Recortls, p. 392, OMB-C-C-13-D3)8,
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126. T: May nabanggit ka na may 10% na napupunta sa
president o head ng agency, sino itong tinutokoy mo?
S: Ang alam ko nakita _kong tumanggap ay sila ALLAN
w JAVELLANA ng NABCOR, DENNIS CUNANAN at ANTONIO
Y. ORTIZ ng TRC.... Nasabi din sa akin ni EVELYN DE
LEON na may maabot din kina GIGI BUENAVENTURA at
ALEXIS SEVIDAL ng NLDC. (emphasis, italics and
underscoring supplied) X

Witness Sula, in her Affidavit dated 12 September 20 13,15t

also identified Amata as among those who benefited from the
o

PDAF disbursements:

k} Ms. GONDELINA AMATA (NLDC) — Nalkilala ko siya
noong may sakit ang kanyang asawa na hagpapagamot sa NKTI
Hospital. Silang mag-asawa ay nagpunta din sa office sa 2502
Discovery Center, Ortigas. Ako rin ang nagdala ng pera para sa
pambayad ng gamot. May tatlong (3) beses ko po silang

dinalhan ng pera sa hospital. (underlining supplied)

Indubitably, . repeatedly receiving port‘lons of sums of
money wrongfully diverted from puh:wlic coffers constitutes

evident bad faith.

Third, the assailed PDAF-related transactions caused
undue injury to the Government in the amount of

i
Php345,000,000.00. = ]

Based on the 2007-2009 COA Report as well as the
independent field verifications conducted by the FIO, the

Y projects, supposedly funded by Senator Enrile’s PDAF were

“chost™ of inexistent:: _Theré were no livelihood ldts distributed

d.arags. v

-
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to beneficiaries, Witnesses Luy, Sula and Suiias declared that,

& per directive given by Napoles, they made up lists of fictitious
beneficiaries to make it appear that the projects were .

implemented, albeit none took place.

Instead of using the PDAF disbursements received by §
them to imiplement the livelihood projccts., respondents Jo.
sj@ Napoles, James Napoles, De Leon, Piorato, Lim, Ramirez,
Cabilaag, "C.)gerio, Fabian, Ditchon, Galay, Uy, Fernando, De
Asis, Encarnacion, Palama, Ornopia, Castillo and Macha, as
well as witnesses Luy, Sula and Sunas, all acting for Napoles,
continuously ' diverted these sums amounting to

Php345,000,000._00 to Napoles’ control.

Certainly, ‘these repeated, illegal transfe;é of pﬁblic funds

™ to Napoles"ce»ntrol, purportedly for projects which did no‘F,
however, .exist‘, and just as repeated ifregular disbursements’

thereof, represent quantifiable, pecuniary losses to the

Government constituting undue injury within the context of

Section 3(e) of RA 3019.152

% Fourth, respondents Enrile, Reyes, Evangelista, Javellana,

Mendoza,. Cacal, Guafizo, Ortiz, Cunanan, Jover, Munsod,

Y2 [ lorente v. Sumliganiayan, 350 Thil. £20 (154,

Al
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Releva, Mencinza, Amata, Buenaventura, Sevidal, Jalandoni,
@)  Guanizo, Ordofiez, Cruz, Espiritu, Relampagos, Nuriez, Paule,
Bare and Lagsamana, granted respondents Janet-Napoles, Jo
Napoles, James Napoles, ‘De Leon, Piorato, Lim, Ramirez,
Cabilao, Ogerio, .Fabian, Ditchon, Galay, Uy, Fernando, De
Asis, Encarnacion, Palama, Ornopia, Castillo and Macha

unwarranted benefits. .
; .

Jurispf_ude‘nce teaches that unwarranted benefits or

privileges refer to those accommodations, gains or perquisites

that are granted to private parties’ without proper

authorization or reasonable justification.!53

L

In order to be found liablc' under the second mode of
violating Section.S(e) of RA 3019, it suffices that the offender
has given unjustified favor or beneﬁt to another, in the
exercise of his official,” administrative or judicial functions.15¢ .
Respondents Senator Enrile, Reyes, Evangelista; Javellana, ‘ o
Mendoza, Cacal, Guarizo, Ortiz, Cunanan, Jover, Munsod,‘

Relevo, Mendoza, Amata, But::na\(g:nmfa,' _chidal, Jalandoni,
Gx'xaﬁiz‘o, Ordoiiez, Cruz, Espiritu, Relampagos, Nufiez, Paule,. ?
Bare a.nd ;l;aés'amana, did just that. That they repeatedly failed

to observe thé requirements of RA 9184, its implementing

) -

Gallega y. Sandiganbayan, G.R. No. 1.-57841, July 30, 1982 and Cabrera, et aI v .S‘andxganbayan
GR Nos.'162314-17, October 25,2004,
Sisen v, I opfe,( R No. 170339, 170308402 March 9, 2010, .

[ ] ‘
[ . ]
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rules and regulations, GPPB regulaﬁons as well as national
budget circulars, shows that unwarranted benefit, advantage
or preference. was given to private respondents. The NGOs
represented ‘t?y them were chosen to undertake the
implementation of PDAF projects without the benefit of a fair
system in determining the best possible offer for the
Government. Napoles, who controlled the NGOs personally -

chosen by Senator Enrile, was able to:unduly profit from the

fictitious transactions.

Moreover, the NGOs selected by Senator Enrile did not

appear to have the capacity to implement the undertakings to

begin with. At the time material to the charges, these entities

did not possess the required accreditation té transact with the
Government, 'lct alone possess a track record .in project
implementatioh to speak of. . .

In spite of the afdfesaid irregularities, respondents
Javellana, Mendoza, Cacal, Guaiizo, Ortiz, Cunanan, Jover,
Munsod, Relevo, Mendoza, Amata, Buenaventura, Rodriguez,
Sevidal, Jalandoni, Guafiizo, Ordofez, Cruz, Espiritu,
Relaniﬁagog Nurfiez, Paule, Bare and Lacsamana, with
indecérit haste, ‘processed the SAROs and NCAs needed to
facilitafe the ielease of the .funds, as well as expedited ‘the

release of the PDAF dishursements to the NGQs affiliated with
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‘or controlled by Napoles. These efforts to accommrfodate her
& NGOs and allow her to repeatedly receive unwarranted
benefits from the inexistent projects are ‘too obvious to be

glossed over.

ALL TOLD, there is probable cause to indict the following

respondents named in the table below, for 15 counts of

violation of Section 3 (¢) of RA 3019, the material details of

&

wl ich are indicated also in the table:

A

IMPLEMENTING | DISBURSEMENT TOTAL
AGENCY/NGOs VOUCHERS NO. | AMOUNT RESPONDENTS

01-2007-040669, 01- Enrile, Reyes, Evangelista,

TRC-CARED 2007-040670, 01-| 20,000,000 | Tuason, Relampagos,
2007-040671,  01- Nufiez, Paule, Bare, Ortiz,

2007-040672 Cupanag, Figurd,

Lacsamana, Espiritu,

Jover, Janet Napoles, Jo
Napoles, James Napoles,
Eulogio Rodriguez, De
Leon, Lim, Ramirez,

“ . ’ Cabilao, =~ Femnando,
{ | Palama, De Asis and
Encamacion. )

, . | Encile, Reyes, Evangelista,
TRC-APMFI 01-2009-046929, 01-| 22,500,000 | Tuason, Relampagos,

2009-051300 Nufiez, Paule, Bare, Ortiz,
. Cunanan, Figura,
H Lacsamana, Espirin,

Jover, Janet Napoles, Jo
Napoles, James Napoles,
Eulogioc Rodriguez, De
Leon, Lim, Ramirez,
vt Cabilao, Pioranto, Fabian,
L , | Ditchon, Galay and Uy.
N . o Enrile, Reyes, Evangelista,
ﬂ NAL COF -POPDFI 1 08-04-01201, 08-07- | 24,250,000 | Tuason, Relampagos,
02312 Nuiiez, Paule, Bare,
ot * | Javellana, Mendozd,
Munsod, Relevo, Johnson,
|_ ; .- ) ‘. . * | Janet Napoles, Jo Napoles,
James Napoles, Eulogio
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Rodriguez, De Leon, Lim,
Ramirez and Cabilao.

NABCOR-MAMFI

1622

08-09-3575,

095-04-

19,400,000

Enrile, Reyes, Evangelista,
Tuason, Relampagos,
Nuiiez, Paule, Bare,
Javellana, Mendoza, Cacal,
Guafiizo, Janet Napoles, Jo
Napoles, James Napoles,
Eulogio Rodriguez, De
Leon, Lim, Ramirez,
Cabilao and Ornopia.

NABCOR-{ DPFFI

1751

08-09-3572,

09-05-

29,100,000

Enrile, Reyes, Evangelista,
Tuason, Relampagos,
Nuiiez, Paule, Bare,
Javellana, Mendoza, Cacal,
Guafiizo, Janet Napoles, Jo
Napoles, James Napoles,
Eulogio Rodriguez, De
Leon, Lim, Ramirez,
Cabilao and Macha,

e

———— —

.JABCOR-MAMF]

R

NA:,COR-SDPFFI.

NABC OR-MAMFI

NAB COR-SDPFFI

2025

09-05-1773, -

09-06-

24,250,000

Enrile, Reyes, Evangelista,
Tuason, Relampagos,
Nuifiez, Paule, DBare,
Javellana, Mendoza, Cacal,
Guaiiizo, Janet Napoles, Jo
Napoles, James Napoles,
Eulogio Rodriguez, De
Leon, Lim, Ramirez,
Cabilao and Omopia.

2022

09-05-1774,

09-06-

24,250,000

Enrile, Reyes, Evangelista,
Tuason, Relampagos,
Nuiiez, Paule, Bare,
Javellana, Mendoza, Cacal,
Guaflizo, Janet Napoles, Jo
Napoles, James WNapales,
Eulogio Rodriguez, De
Leon, Lim, Ramnirez,
Cabilao and Macha.,

2028

-

09-05-1767,

09-06-

14,550,000

Enrile, Reyes, Evangelista,
Tuason, Relampagos,
Nufiez, Paule, Bare,
J avellana, Mendoza, Cacal,
Guafiizo, Janet Napoles, Jo
Nepoles, James Napoles,
Eulogio Rodriguez, De
Leon,- Lim, Ramirez,
Cabilao and Omopia.

2027

09-06-1825,

09-06-~

9,700,000

"Eulogio

Eunrile, Reyes, Evangelista,
Tuason, Relampagos,
Nuiiez, Paule, Bare,
Javellapa, Mendoza, Cacal,
Guaiiizo, Janet Napoles, Jo
Napoles, James Napoles,
"Rodrignez, De
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Leon, Lim, Ramirez,
Cabilao and Macha.

NLDC-CARED | (9-10-1530

8,000,000

Enrile, Reyes, Evangelista,
Tuason, Relampagos,
Nuiiez,  Paule, Bare,
Amata, Sevidal, Ordoiiez,
Filipina Rodriguez, Cruz,
Jalandoni, Janet Napoles,
Jo Napoles, James
Napoles, Eulogio
Rodriguez, De Leon, Lim,
Ramtrez, Cabilao,
Fernando, Palama, De Asis
and Encamacion.

NLDC-MAMF] 09-09-1355,  09-10-
1443, 09-10-1534

20,000,000

Enrile, Reyes, Evangelista,
Tuason, Relampagos,
‘Nufiez, Paule, Bare,
Amata, Sevidal, Ordoiiez,
Filipina Rodriguez, Cruz,
Jalandoni, Janet Napoles,
Jo Napoles, James
Napoles, Eulogio
Rodriguez, De Leon, Lim,
Ramirez, ° Cabilaoc and
Qrnopia.

$9-12-1834,  10.01-
NLDC-CARED | 0004, 10-01-0118, 10-
05-0747

44,000,000

Eorile, Reyes, Evangelista,
Tuoason, . Relampagos,
Nuiiez, Paule, Bare,
Amata, Sevidal, Ordofiez,
Filipina Rodriguez, Cruz,
Jalandoni, Janet Napoles,
Jo Napoles, James

Napoles, Eulogio-

Rodriguez, De Leon, Lim,
Ramirez, Cabilao,
Femando, Palama, De Asis
and Encarmacion.

N _D >-AEPFFI | 09-091353, 09-10-
' 1 1444, 09-10-1540

25,000,000

Enrile, Reyes, Evangelista,
Tuason, Relampagos,
Nufiez, Paule, Bare,
Amata, Sevidal, Ordoiiez,
Filipina Rodriguez, Cruz,
Jalandoni, Janet Napoles,
Jo Napoles, James
Napoles, Eulogio
Rodriguez, De Leon, Lim,
Ramir; Cabilao, Ogerio
and Guadine

N LD LAPMFI | 09-09-1358,  09-10-
- 1449,09-10-1535

25,000,000

Enrile, Reyes, Evangelista,
Tuason, Relampagos,
Nuiiez, Paule, Bare,
Amata, Sevidal, Ordofiez,
Filipina Rodriguez, Cruz,

Jalandoni, Jahet Napoles,

>
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Jo Napoles,
Napoles, -

Ramirez,

James
Eulogio

Rodriguez, De Leon, Lim,

Cabilao,

Pioranto, Fabian, Ditchon,
Galay and Uy.

NLDC-CARED
1447

09-09-1354,

09-10-

32,000,000

Enrile, Reyes, Evangelista,
Tuasor, Relampagos,
Nuiiez, Paule, Bare,

Amata, Sevidal, Ordoiiez,
Filipina Rodriguez, Cruz,
Jalandoni, Janet Napoles,
Jo Napoles, Jatmnes
Napoles, -
Rodriguez, De Leon, Lim,
Ramirez, Cabilao,
Femando, Palama, De Asis
and Encamacion.

Eulogio

' Probable cause

for

Plunder exists.

Plunder is defined and penalized under Section 2 of RA

No. 7080,1ss5 és amended: .

Sec. 2. Definition of the Crime of Plunder;
Penalties. - Any public officer who, by himself or in
connivance with members of his family, relatives by affinity
or consanguinity, business associates, subordinates or other
. :rsons, amasses, accumulates or acquires ill-gotten wealth
tl.rough a combination or series of overt criminal acts as
described in Section 1 (d)56 hereof in the aggregate amount

155

it Rep. >lic Act No. 7080, July 12, 1991, as amended by R.A 7659, December 13, 1993.
8 :t.un . (d) of the samae statute stated in Section 2 above reads:

). Il!-gut' g welalth means any asset, property, business enlerprise or material possession of any person
mh'm th purview of Scf:.tion Two (2) hereof, acquired by him directly or indirectly through dummies,
& minee , agents, subordinates and/or business associates by any combination or series of the following

n. s ¢ Similar schemes:

1) Through misappropriation, conversion, misuse, or malversation of public funds or

. raids on the public weasury;

2) By receiving, direcily or indirectly, any commission, gift, share, percentage, kickbacks
or any other form of pecuniary benefit from any person and/or entity in connection with
aty go ‘ermment contract or-project or by reason of the office or position of the public
“wficer soncemed; )

») By the illegal or fraudulent conveyance or disposition of asscts belanging to the

National Government or any of its subdivisions, agencies or instrumentalities or
aovenuaznt-ownaad or -conteollad corpastivie: and 1leir aibsidiaries;

)



‘ ) « ' JOINT RESOLUTION’ ’d

- ! OMB-C-C-13-0318 'z' ATTY. 815
: e ek ey rsdDMBC-C-13-0396, .« vzv e w4 .
Page-==----—-87

:A.r-u ‘os"r TR

& ) X —— Kv‘T‘J
or tatal value of at least Fifty million pesos (PS50,000, (KOO 0Q)
. shall be guilty of the crime of plunder and shall be punished
- “ by reclusion perpetua to death. Any person who participated
with the said public officer in the commission of an offense
contributing to the crime of plunder shall likewise be
punished for such offense. In the imposition of penalties, the
degree of participation and the attendatice of mitigating and
extenuating circumstances, as provided:by the Revised Penal
Caode, shall be considered by the court. The court shall
declare any and all ill-gotten wealth and their interests and
other incomes and assets including the properties and
shares of stocks derived from the deposit or investment
thereof forfeitefl in favor of the State.

As laid down in Joseph Ejercito Estrada vs.

Sandiganbayan,is? the elements of Plunder are:

'

1. That the offender is a public officer who acts by
himself pr'in connivance with members of his family,
relatives by affinity or consanguinity, business

associates, subordinates or other persons;

& 2. That he amassed, accumulated or acquired ill-gotten
wealth through a combinatibn or series of the following

overt or criminal acts:-

: .
4) By obtaining, receiving or accepting directly or indirectly any shares of stock, eqmty
or any other form of inlerest or participation including promise of fure cmployment in
any business enizrprise or undertaking;

. o . 5) By &stabllshmg agriculteral, indusirial or commercial monopolies or other
w . combinations andlo; implementation of decrees and ordes$ intended (o benefit particular
persons or spec.al interests; or

6) By tal-ing undue advantage of official position, autharity, relationship; cohhection of
influenc. 1o unjiistly enrich himself or themselves at the expense and to the damage and
prejudic : of the Filipino people and the Republic of the Philippines.

TG AL N, 148 560, Movember 30, 2001,
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(a) through misappropriation, conversxon,
malversation of public funds or raids or the public treasury;

(b) by receiving, directly or indirectly, any commission, gift,
share, l'_percentage, kickback or any other form of pecuniary
benefits from any person and/or entity in connection with
any government contract or project or by reason of the
office or position of the public officer;

{c} by lc_l'u: illegal or fraudulent conveyance or disposition of
assets belonging to the National Government or any of its
subdivisions, agencies or instrumentalities of Government
owned or controlled corporations or their subsidiaries;

W ' (d) by obtaining, receiving or acceptinig directly or indirectly any
shares of 'stock, equity or any other form of interest or
participation including the promise of future employment in any
business enterprise or undertaking;

(e} by establishing agricultural, industrial or commercial
monopolies or other combinations and/or implementation of
decrees and orders intended to benefit particular persons or
special interests; or

{f} by 'taking advantage of official position, authority,
relationship, connection or influence to uanjustly enrich
himself or themselves at the expense and to the damage

and prejudice of the Filipino people and the Republ.lc aof the
Philippines; and,

L

3. That the ‘aggregate amount or total value of the ill-gotten
wealth amassed, accumulated or acquired is at least

P50,000,000.00.158 (emphasis supplied)

.

"8 The terms “combination,” “series,” and “pattern” were likewise defined in Estrada vs. Sandiganbayan,
supra, as follows:

- Thug-y hen the Plunder Law speaks of “combination,” it is referring to at least twa (2) acts falling
under dxffcrent categaries af enumeration provided in Sec. 1, par. {d), ©.g., raids on the public treagury in

o Sec. 1, par, (d,, subpar. (1), and Faudulent conveyauce of assets belonging o the National Government
% under Sec, 1, | ar. (d), subpar; (3).

Ou he other hand, to constinute a “series” there must be two {2) or more qvert or criminal acts
falling uad ¢ the same caiegory of enumeration found in Sec. 1, par. (d), say, misappropriatiod,
malversatic 1 and raids ¢ the public treasury, all of which fall under Sec. 1, par. (d), subpar. (1). Verily, ,
had che le islature interded a technical or distinctive meaning for "combination” and “sertes," it would
have take greater pains in specifically providing for it in Ihe law. A
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The pre‘sence of the foregoing elements has been

(] suf:ﬁcienﬂy established.

First, it is undisputed that Senator Enrile was a public

officer at the time material to the charges.!5

Second, he:amassed, accumulated or acquired ill-

gotten wealth.

As disclpsed by the evidence, he repeatedly received
sums of money from Napoles for indorsing her NGOs60 to
implement the projects to be funded by his PDAF. Senator
Fnrile, througil his authorized representative Rcyes., agreed to

tre nsact his PDAF with Napoles who acted through Tuason.6!

% As for "pattern," we agree with the observations of the Sandiganbayan 9 that this term s
£ul iciently defined in Sec. 4, in relation to Sec. 1, par. (d), and Sec. 2 —

. . . under Sec, 1 {d) of the law, a 'pattern’ consists of at least a combination or series of overt or
criminal acts enumerated in subsections (1) to (6) of Sec. I (d). Secondly, pursuant to Sec. 2 of the
law, the pattern of overt or criminal acts is directed towards a common purpose or goal which is to
enable the public officer to amass, accumulate or acquire ill-gotten wealth, And thirdly, there must
either be an ‘averall unfawful scheme' or ‘conspiracy’ to achieve said common goal. As commonty
understaod, the,term ‘overall unlawful scheme' indicates a ‘general plan of action or method' which
the principal accused and public officer and others conniving with him, follow to achieve the
aforesaid common goal. In the alternative, if there is no such overall scheme or where the schemes
or methods used by multiple accused very, the overt or criminal acts must form part of a
conspiracy o etain a commmon goal.”

[
cme,

ol ‘}e vasaSenator fro'n 2004 to 2010 and was reelected in 2010; his term ends in 2016.
, _ w0 peat, B 2sé NGUs were MAMFL, POPDF, PSDFL, AMPFI, CARED, PASEDF], SDPFFI, AEPPF
% nd KPu. "L ..
"Asna ad by Tuason who admitted having acted as a liaison betwecn pnva!;e respondent Janet
tlapoles s ad the affice of respondent Earite: I -
'ap 2' s, through respondent Tua.son, initially approached Reyes rcga.rdmg B “business .
pro, osision” e aling 10 regpondent Enrile’s PDAF; and Reyes, whd had Enrile’s full confidence, accepted
Napo’ :8' pre Jutition t6 trahsact the PNAF of Senntor Enrile with Janet Napales,
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As outlincd by witnes'ses Luy, Sula and Sunas, which

L was corroborated by Tuason: once a PDAF allocation becomes
available to Senator Enrile, his staff, in the person of either
respondent Réyes or Evangelista, would inform Tuason of this
development. 'll‘u_ason, in turn, would rélay the information to

cither Napoles or Luy. Napoles or Luy would then prepare a
listing162 of the projects available where Luy would specifically

& indicate the implementing agencies. This listing would be sent
to Reyes who would then endorse it to the DBM under her
authority as Chief-of-Staiff of Senator Enrile. After the listing

is released by the Office of Senator Enrile to the DBM, Janet
Napoles would .give Tuason a down payment fgr ‘delivery

to Senator Enrile through Reyes. After‘ the SARO and/or

NCA is réleased, Napoles would give Tuason the full
payment for delivery to Senator Enrile through Atty. Gigi'

Reyes.

It bears noting that money was paid and delivered to
Senator Enrile even before the SARO andfor NCA is

released, Napoles would advance Senator Enrile’s down

payment from her own pockets upon the mere release by his

% Office of the listing of projects to the DBM, with the. remainder

162 This ¢ ‘listing™ is & letter from the legislator containing a prograin or list of implementing agencies and

the amount of PDAF to be released as 10 guide the DBM in its preparation and release of the corresponding
SAROQ. This is also a formal request of the legislator to the DBM fot the release of his br her PDAF.

. . '
Page====mmm=a 90 e OFFICE 3003 HOISPE ."-'r_(‘u.L . PRC “M1STDR
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of the amount payable to be given after the SARO representmg

© the legislator’s PDAF allocation was released by the DBM and

a copy of the SARO forwarded to Napoles.

Significantly, after the DBM issues the SARO, Senator
Enrile, through his staff members Reyes or Eva.ﬁgelista, would

. then write another letter addressed to the IAs which would

& identify and indorse Napoles’ NGOs as his preferred NGO to
undertake the PDAF-funded project,lﬁ:*' thereby effectively
designating in writing the Napoles-affiliated NGO to implement

projects fundéd by his PDAF. Along with the other PDAF

documents, the indorsement letter of Senator Enrile is
transmitted to the IA, which, in turn, handles the préparation
of the MOA concerning the project, to be entered into by the
Senator’s Office, the IA and the chosen NGO.

As previously discussed, such indorsements enabled

Napoles to gain access!64 to substantial sums of public funds.

- .
18 Upon receipt of the SARQ, respondent Janet Napales would direct her staff, then including witnesses
Luy, Sula and Sudias, to prepare the PDAF documents for the approval of the legislator and reflecting the
preferred NGO to imple:nent the underntaking, including; (a) project proposals by the identified NGO/s; and
(b) indorsement letters to be sxgnod by the legislator and/or his staff,

Enrile’s trusted slaff, Reyes and Evangelista, then signed the indarsement letters and other conunumcanons
% refating to the PDAF disburiements addressed to the DBM and the implementing agencies (NABCOR,
TRC and NLDC). They also participated in the preparation and exesution of memoranda of agreement with

the NGO and the unp!cmcnmig agency, inspection and acceptance reports, disbursement rcports and, other
PDAF documeats.’

18 After indorsement by Senator Enrile and processing by the implementing agencies, the projects are
aulhdrized ag eligible under the DBM's meau for pork barre) aflocations; Napoles, through her emplayees,
would then fallow up l{‘c uIrN: of (he NCA with the DRAL Afier the DBM ieleases the NCA fo the
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The collective acts of Senator Enrile, Napoles, ct al allowcd

@ the illegal divce}rsion of public funds to their own personal use.

I -
It cannot be gainsaid that the sums of money received by

Senator Ennle amount to “kickbacks” ar “commissions” from a
government pf*oject within the purview of Sec. 1 (d} {2)'65 of RA
7080. He repeatedly received commissions, percentage or
kickbacks, representing his share in the project cost allocated
from his PDAF, from Napoles or her employees or cohorts in

exchange for his indorsement of Napoless NGOs to

implement his PDAF-funded projects.

Worse, the evidence indicates that he took undue

advantage of his " official position, authority and influence to
unjustly enrich himself at the expense, and to the damage and

prejudice of the Filipino people and the Republic of the

implementing agency concemed the latter would expedite the proccssmg of the transaction and the release
of the corresponding chcck representing the PDAF dxsburscment_

Once the funds are depolecd in the NGO's sccounl, respondent Janet Napoles would then call the bank td
facilitate the withdrawal theredf. Her staff would then withdraw the:fumds fnvolved and remit the same to
ker, thus placing said amount under Napoles® full control and possessicn,

From her 50% share, Napoles then remits a portion (around 10%) thereof o officials of the implementing

agencies who facilitated the transaction as well as those who served as her liaison with the legislator’s
office,

168 Sccnon l Dcﬁmuon of terms. - As used in this Act, the term:

d. "lLl-gotten wealth” means any asset, property, business eaterprise or material possession of

' any person within the purview of Section two (2) hereof, acquired by him directly or indirectly

W through dummies, nominees, agents, subordinates and/or business asscciates by any combination
or series of the following means or similar schemes:

2) By receiving, direcily or indirectly, any comumission, gift, share, percentage, kickbacks
or any other form of pecuniary benefit from any person and/or entity in connection with
any government contract or project or by reason of the office or posmon of the public
officer concerned;’

[T ¢ (P
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Philippines, w1th1.n the purview of Sec. 1 (d) (6) o R.A 70éb 155.

@ He used and” took undue advantage of his official position, .
authority and influence as a Senator of the Replilblic of the
Philippines to access his PDAF and illegally divert the
allocations to the possession and control of Napoles and her
cohorts, in exchange for commissions, .kickbacks, percentages

from the PDAF allocations.

Undue pressure and influence from Senator Enrile’s

Office, as weil as his indorsement of Napoles’ NGOs, were

brought to beur upon the public officers and employees of the -
IAs.

Figuraf an officer from TRC, claimed that the TRC
management told him: “legislators highly recommended certain.
NGOs/Foundations as conduit implementors and .since PDAFs .

“v are their discretionary funds, they have the prerogative to
choose their NGO’s”; and the TRC management warned him
that “if TRC would diéregard it {choice of NGO), they (legislators)

_ would feel insulted and would simply.'take away their PDAF |

Secuon e Deﬁnmon ot‘ terms. - As used in thig Act, the term;

) d: "Ill—gotten v.':alth" means any asset, property, business enterprise or mz!enal possession of any
w T pemon within the purview of Secuon two (2) hereof, ecquired by him directly or indirectly
througb duromies, nominees, agents, subordinates and/or business associates by any combination *
or series of tbe oollowmg means or aumlar schemes: .

6) By taking uudue advantage of officia} posmon, authority, relationship, connection or
influer<e to unjustly, carich himself or themsefves at the expense and to the darnage and
prefudice of the Filipino people and the Republic afthe Philippines.
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from TRC, anc TRC losses (sic) the chance to earmn service fees.”
Figura claimec] that he tried his best to resist the pressure
exerted on him. and did his best to perform his duties

. T

faithfully; /but/ he and other low-ranking TRC officials had

no power to “simply disregard the wishes of Senator

Enrile,” especially on the matter of disregarding public

bidding for the PDAF projects. %7

Cunanan,!68 another public officer from the TRC,
narrates that he met Napoles sometime in 2006 or 2007, who
“introduced herself as the representative of certain legislators
who supposedly picked TRC as a conduit for PDAF-funded
projects;” at the same occasion, Napoles told him that “her
principals we_vie then Senate President Juan Ponce Enrile,
Senators Ran;on “Bong” Revilla, Jr., Sen. Jinggoy Ejercito

Estrada;” in thie course of his duties, hé “often ended up taking

“and/or makir,g telephone verifications and follow-ups and

receiving legislators or their staff members;” during his
telephone veriﬁéations, he was able to speak with Reyes, -
who was acting in behalf of her superior, public
respondent Enrile; Reyes confirmed to him that she and
iiub.li.c.'responglent Evangelista “were duly authorized by

respondent Enrile” to facilitate his. PDAF projects and she

’:'7' Counter-Affidavit dasid & Yanuary 2014.
= Counter-Affidavit dated 20 Fubraary 20111

-~ - " o e !
.4 AT TN ¢ GAT'; .
_ONEL Ty L cdaoror
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also affirmed to him that the signatures appearing in

communications sent to TRC were, indeed, hers and

| Evangelista’s; and he occasionally met with witness Luy, who

pressured him into expediting the release of the funds by

calling the offices of tﬁ.e legislators.

NLDC’s Amata also mentioned about undue pressure

surrounding the designation of NLDC as one of the IAs for

PDAF 169 Her "fellow NLDC employee, Bucnaventura“° addS'

that in accordance with her functions, she checked and
verified the endarsement letters of Senator Enrile, which
designated the NGOs that would implement his PDAF
Di 'ojeqts and i_found them to be valid and authentic;” she
c nfirmed the authenticity of the authorization given by

E iwrile to his subordinates regarding the monitoring,.

supervision and im].;)lementation of PDAF projects; and her

avaluation and verification reports were accurate.

Another NLDC officer, Sevidal,}”! claimed that Senator

P arile and Napoles, not NLDC employees, who were

. responsible for the misuse of the PDAF; Senator Enrile,

thn ugh Reyes and Evangelista, were responsmle for

“id nttfying the projects determmmg the prq]ect costs

-
¥

108

o C_un.er-Affidavit dated 20 January 2014. .

" Coi der-Affidavit dated 20 January 2014,
T Co ofer-AfTiduvit dated 15 Sanvary 204,

._,) ")J;"m' Bk

o Feladl €. .
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and choosing the NGOs” which were “manifested in the
letters of Senator Enrile;” and that he and other NLDC
employees were victims of the “political climate,” “bullied

into sub nission by the lawmakers.”

NLDC’s .Ordoﬁezm claimed that as far as she was
:cacerned, she and her co-respondents, “lowly ,Gouémmenf
employees wko were dictated upon,” ﬁrere victims, “bullied
into submissjon by the lawmakers;” and she performed her

duties in good faith and was “not in a poéition to negate or

defy these actions of the Lawmakers, DBM and the NLDC

Board of Trustees.”

The corroborative evidence evinces that Senator Enrile

visec and took undue advantage of his official position,

auth ity and influence as a Senator to unjustly enrich

I ims elf at the 2xpense and to the damage and prejudice of the

Filipua .0 people and the Republic of the Philippines.

The PDAF was allocated to Senator Enrile by virtue of his
posit. on, hence, he exercised control in the selection of his
p.ric;f.it; p QJects and programs. He indorsed Napoles’ NGOs in
cor sidera "i'o'n " for 'the remiittance  of kickbacks and

conm miy sions from Napoles. These circumstances were

et i e v tvorttermemeeer e
17z -
“Com g T avil dated 27 Janoary 2014,
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compounded by the fact that the PDAF-funded Igro_]ects were

“ghost projects® and that the rest of the PDAF allocation went
into the pockets of Napoles and her cchorts. ‘Undeniably,
Senator Enrile unjustly enriched himself at the expense, and
to the damage and prejudice of the Filipino people and the

Republic of the Philippines.

)
Third, the amounts received by Senator Enrile through

kickbacks an: commissions, amounted to more than Fifty

Million Pesos {P50,000,000.00).

Wiiness Luy’s ledger'™ shows, among others, that Senator
Enrile rzceived the following amounts as and by way of

k-kbac«s and commissions:

Year Sums received
by Senator Enrile

2004 PhP 1,500,000.00
2005 PhP 14,622,000.00
2006 PhP 13,300,000.00
2007 PhP 27.112,500.00
2008 PhP 62,550,000.00
2009 PhP 23,750,000.00
2010 PhP 30,000,00.00
Total: Php 172,834,500.00

' The aggisgate amount or total value of the ill-gotten
wetlta’amassed, accumulated or acquired by Senator Enrile

stands a:: PiLP1‘721834,5b0.00, at the very least,™

"7 Gee .he Bus iness Ledgéls'attached to Luy, Sufias, Gertrutles Tiuy, Batal-Macalintal, Abunda and Lingo's .
{Inagssimeng ! fa apanng Stdeesay dated +1 Soptember 2043,
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% The sums were received by the Senator through his Chief

of Staff, Reyes, as earlier discussed.

Napoles 'provided these kickbacks and commissions.
Witnesses Luy and Sufias, and even Tuason, stated that
Napoles was assisted in &eliverj.ng the kickbacks and
commissions by her employees and cohorts, namely: John

Raymund de Asis,”™ Ronald John Lim"™ -and‘ Tuason.

Senator Earile’s commission of th_c:: acts covered by
Section 1 (d) (2) and Section 1 (d) (6) of R.A. No. 7080
repeatedly took place over the years 2004 to 2010. This shows

| a pattern —a combination or series of overt or criminal acts —
directed towards a common purpose or goal which is to enable

the Senator to enrich himself illegally.

Senator Enrile, taking undue advantage of official
- position, authority, relationship, connection or inﬂuénce as a

Senator acted, in connivance with his subordinate and duly

74 0. " . : ]
It is ncdoted that Luy and Sufias claimed that the total commissions received by Senator Enrile was

R PhP363,276,000.00, representing 50% of PhP726,550,000.00 of Edrile's PDAF allocations. However, Luy
was only able to record in his ledger the aggregate amount PAP 172,834,500.00. He explained that
sometimes: trapsactions are not recorded in his ledger because Napoles herself personally delivers the
comumissions to the legislators or their representatives outside the JLN Corporation office. Heace, there are

N no signed vouchers presented to him (Luy); nevertheless, in these cases, Napoles mercly informs him that
W the lawmaker’s commission has been paid completely. See Pinagsamang Sinumpaang Salaysay dated 11
1S7%ptcmber 2013, Records, p. 8, OMB-C-C-13-0318, .
According to witnesses Luy and Sufias; De Asis and Lim, along with witnesses’ Luy and Suiias,
prepares the money to be delivered o the legislators and/or their representatives. See p.J of Pinagsamang
Sinumpaang Salaysay dated 11 September 2013, Records, (OMB-C-C-13-0318),
According to witnesses Luy and Sufias: De Asis and Lim, along with witnesses Luy and Suiias, prepares
lh'c money "io be delivared to the legislators and/or their representatives. See p.3° of Pinagsamang
Simunpaniig Salaysay dated 11 Sepienher 2013, Reeotds, (OB C-C-13-0318).
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authorized re'f.'\resentative Reyes, to receive commissions and
kickbacks for indorsing the Napoles NGOs to implement his
PDAF-funded project, and likewise, in connivance with Napoles
assisted by her employees and cohorts Tuason, John
Raymund de. Asis, and Ronald John Lim who delivered the
kickbacks to him. These acts are linked by the fact that T.htey.
were plainly geared towards a common goal which was to
amass, acquire and accumulate ill-gotten wealth amounting to

at least PhP172,834,500.00 for Senator Enrile.

Probable cause therefore exists to indict Senator

Enrile, Reyes, Napoles, Tuason, de Asis and Lim for

Plunder under RA No. 7080.

1

Cbnspiracy is
established by the
evidence presented.

Conspiraéy exists when two or more persons come to an
agreement co'ncefning the commission of a felony and decide
to cgmmit it.17 7

Direct proof of conspiracy is rarely found because
crurilnalsl do ‘not write down their lawless plans and plots.

i

Nevertheless,” ‘the agreement to commit a crime may be.

deduced from the mode and manner of the commission of the

~ ——
T Anicle 8 of the i vised Penat Cade,

. . g
Y ¢
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offense, or inferred from acts that point to a _]omt purpose and

[}

(" design, concerted action and community of interest.178
Conspiracy exists among the offenders when their concerted
acts show the same purpose or common design, and are

united in its execution.!?9

‘When there is conspiracy, all those who participated in the
commission of the offense are liable as principals, regardless
@ of the extent and character of their participation because the

act of one is the act of all.18u

As e.xtensivel_y discussed above, the presence of conspiracy
among respondents Enrile, Reyes, Evangelista,. Javellana,
Mendoza, Ca(gal, Guanizo, Ortiz, Cunanan, Jover, Munsod,
Relevo, Mendc;za, Amata, Buenaventura, Rodriguez, chidal,'
Jalandoni, GIElaﬁiZO, Ordofiez, Cruz, Espiritu, i%elampagos,
Nufiez, Paule, Bare, Lacsamana, Tuason, Janet Napoles, Jo
Naploles, James Napoles, De Leon, Pioranto, Lim, Ramirez,
Cabilao, Ogerio, Fabian, Ditchon, Galay, Uy, Fernando, De
As_is, Encarnacion, Palama, Ornopia, Castillo and Macha is

manifest.

Tab TRl

:; Pecple v. Hapa, G.R. No. 125698, July 19, 2001, 361 SCRA 361.

Peoplev. Olaza andAngeho,GR.No 197540, February 27, 2012, cmnngplev Bi-Ay, Jr, GR No.
1?2187 December 13,2010, 637 SCRA 828, 836.
[:n)uc v, I“wm Gl Mo, 134938, e 8, )“N:
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t
To be able to repeatedly divert substantial funds from the

) PDAF, access 'thereto must be made available, and this was
made possible by Senator Enrile who indorsed NGOs affiliated
with or controlled by Napoles to implement his PDAF-related

undertakings. Reyes and Evangelista prepared the requisite

indorsement letters and similar documentation addressed to

the DBM and the IAs which were necessary to ensure that the
& chosen NGO would be awarded the project.
Relampagos, Paule, Bare and Nufiez, as officers of the

DBM, were in regular contact with Napoles and her staff who

persistently followed up the release of the coveted SAROs and

NCAs. It was on account of their persistence that the DBM

mmmediately released the SAROs and NCAs to the concerned

IAs.

Cunanan, Jover, Munsod, Relevo, Mendoza, Amata,
Buenaventura, Sevidal, Jalandoni, Guarttizo, Ordoiiez, Cruz,
Espiritu and Lacsamana, as officers of the IAs, prepared,
reviewed anc  entered into the MOAs governing the

mplementatlon of the projects. And they part1c1pated in the

processmg and approval of the PDAF disbursements to the

questlonable NGOs. Th ﬂnds in questton cauld not have

been tranvfcrfed tc: these Ngos__if _rzot Jor their

In turn, Javellana, Mendoza, Cacal, Guaﬂfzo, Ortiz,‘

. JOINT RESOLUTION, K
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certifications, approvals, and signatures found in_the

® corresponding DVs and checks.

Once the tund releases were successfully proceésed by the
IAs, Jo Napoies, James Napoles, De Leon, Pioranto, Lim,
Ramirez, Calgﬂao, Ogerio, Fabian, Ditchon, Galay, Uy,
Fernando, De, Asis, Encarnacion, Palama, Ornopia, Castillo
‘ and Macha, in behalf of the 'NGOs in question and under the

¢ direction of Janet Napoles, would pick up the carresponding
checks and deposit them in accounts under the name of the
NGOs. The proceeds of the checks would later be withdrawn
from the banks and brought to the offices of Janet Napoles,
who would then proceed to exercise full control and

possession over the funds.

Jo Napolf‘:s, James Napoles, De Leon, Pioranto, Lim,
@ Ramirez, Cal:;ﬂao, Ogerio, Fabian, Ditchon, Galay, Uy,
Fernanda, De. Asis, Encarnacion, Palama; Ornopia, Castillo
and Machél, a;gain on orders of Janet Napoles, would prepare
the ﬁgtitiogs beneficiaries lis’g and other s‘imila.r documents for
liguidation purpases, to make it appear that the projects were
implerierited.
® .
" Foi their participation in the above-described scheme,

Senator Enrile, Javellana,
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and Sevidal were rewarded with portions of the PDAF

disbursements from Napoles. Senator Enrile’s share or
commission was coursed by Napoles through Tuason who, inn

turn, delivered the same to and received by Reyes.

ALL TOLD, there is a cohesion and interconnection in the
above-named respondents’ intent and purpose that cannot be
logically interpreted other than to meah the attainment of the

same end thdt runs through the entire gamut of acts they

perpetrated s¢éparately. The role played by each of them was

so indispensable to the success of their scheme that, without

any of them, the same would have failed.

There is no evidence showing
that the  signatures of
respondents Enrile, Reyes or
Evangelista in the PDAF
documents were forged.

" Reyes and Evangelista arguc that the signatures
appearing in the letters, MOAs, liquidaﬁon' reports and similar
PDAF documents attributed to them and '‘Senator Enrile are
'mere forgenes They deny havmc signed these documents and

disclaith any- partlmpauon in the preparation and execution

| thereof
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In support of her claim, Reyes submitted an Affidavit

dated 6 December 2013 executed by Rogelio G. Azores
. ‘
(Azores), who claims to be a former NBI document examiner

and now work5s as a freelance consultant, and who represents
himself to be an expert in the examination of documents “to
determine thei- authenticity and the genuineness of signatures

appearing thereon.”

Azores stated that his services were engaged by Reyes to
“determine whether or not the signatufes of Ms. Reyes
appearing in certain documents were her true and genuine
signatures;” in the course of his engagement, he gathered
samples of Reyes’ signatures appearing in several documents
she signed diring her tenure as Enrile’s chief-of-staff; he
compared th|;:sc sample signatures with the signatures
&éppearing in :Lhe PDAF dbcuments which are attributed to

k eyes; based‘ on his examination, there were “significant

dylzerences in__habit handwritinq characteristics  existing
r 2 ween the q:uestioned signatures of ‘Atty. Jessica Lucila G.
4 yes’ on one hand and the standard signatures of Atty.
+« ssicg Lucila G. Reyes on the other hand;” and in h.lS opinion,
Le s 15}13 ures allegedly belonging to Reyes and appean'ng in

the *DAl documents are forgeries.
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Respondents Reyes and Evangelista's claim fa_lls to

convince.

Forgery is not presumed; it must be proved by clear,
positive and convincing evidence and the burden of proof lies

on the party alleging forgery.18!

It bears stressing that Senator Enrile, in his Letter dated '

21 March 2012,!82 confirmed to the COA that: (a) he

authorized respondents Reyes and Evangelista to sign letters,
MOQOAs and otlixer PDAF documents in his behs]f; and {b) the
signatﬁ:es apf;earing in the PDAF documents as belonging to
respondents ‘Reyes and Evangelista are authentic. The

pertinent portion of the Senator’s letter reads:

I con that Atty. Jessica L. G. Reyes, Chief of Sta
Office _of the Senate President, and Mr., Jose A. V.
Evangelista II, Deputy Chief of Staff, Office of the Senate
President, have been authorized to__sign pertinent
documents to ensure the proper implementation of such
livelihood projects subjects to pertinent government accounting
and auditing laws, rules and regulations. The signatures
appearing in the documents enumerated are those of my
authorized _ representatives. (emphasis, italics and
underscoring supplied) C

It bears notmg at this juncture that the Senator has not

d1sclalmed auLhorshm of the 21 March 2012 letter. That the

Senator reaculy authentmated Reyes and Evangehsta’

b/ Development Corvoration v. Plultppzne Export and Foreign Loan Guarantee Corparanon, G.R No.

151060 and Cruz v. Philippine Export and Fareign Loan Guarantee Corporation, GR. No. 151311,

August 31, 2005, 468 SCRA 555, 569-570. ’
7 Records, p. 1072, OMB-C-C-13-031R.
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signatures is not difficult to understand, the two having been

members of his confidential staff for many years.

Nongthele:e,s; Reyes and Evangelista strongly deny having
signed the PDAF docuinents and insist that they did not
participate in *!the prepal.‘ation or execution thereof. Mere denial
is insufficient! however, to disprove the ‘authenticity of their
signatures appearing in the PDAF dotuments.!83 This holds
true especially in Evangelista’s case. The MOAs bearing his
questioned si.gnatﬁres are notarized documents that enjoy the

presumption of regularity and can be overturned only by clear

and convincing evidence.184

Besides, respondent- Evangelista, in his Letter dated 2

August 2012'15"5 to the COA, admitted the authenticity of his

signatures appearing in the PDAF docuwments, save for those
found in documents relating to PDAF disbursements of

another legislator. His letter reads, in part:

As confirmed in the letter of the Senate President dated 21
March 2012, Atty. Jessica L. G. Reyes, Chief of Staff, Office
of the Senate President, and I have been authorized to sign
pertinent documents to ensure the proper implementation of

- livelihoed projects subject to pertinent government accounting
and auditing laws, rules and regulations. -

J
] .

" Supra, JV Development Corporation v. Philippine Export and Foreign Loan Guarantee Corporation.
fa‘i‘so Ladignon v. Cowrt uf Appeals, G.R. No, 122973, July 18, 2000
. Delfin, etal. v. Billones, et al., G.R. No. 146550, Marchi 17, 2006.

™ Records, p. 1675, OMA-C-C-13-0318.
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Howevér, please be informed that the subject signatures on
the following documents submitted regarding the livelihood
w projects implemented by the 3¢ District of Davao City {in the
total amount of P15 Million Pesos released to the National
Agribusiness Corporation on 9 July 2009 as requested by
Jarmer Rep. Ruy Elias Lopez) are not my signatures: .

a) Certificate of Acceptance dated 4 May 2010 (Annex 16) )
b) List of Beneficiaries by Barangay (Annex 17) (emphasis,
italics and underscoring supplied) T

Regarding affiant Azores’ assertion that the signatures of

Reyes in the PDAF documents were forgeries because they and

“v Reyes’ standard signatures had “significant differences in
habit handwriting characteristics,” the same deserves scant

consideration.

4

Mere variance of the signatures in different documents
cannot be considered as conclusive proof that one is forged. As

Rivera v. Turiano!8é teaches:

m This Courrt has held that an allegation of forgery and a.
perfunctory comparison of the signatures by themselves cannot

support the claim of forgery, as forgery cannot be presumed and

must be proved by clear, positive and convincing evidence, and

the burden of proof lies in the party alleging forgery. Even in

cases where the alleged forged signature was compared to .

samples of 'genuine signatures to show its variance

therefromm, this Court still found such evidence

insufficieni. It must be stressed that the mere variance of

the signatures cannot be considered as conclusive proof

that the same were forged. (emphasis, italics and

underscoring supplied) '

Moreover, the observations of affiant Azores in his Affidavit

and Examination Report dated 10 October 2013 do not meet

5 G.R. N, 156249, March 7, 2007.
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the criteria for identification of forgery as “enunc ated =4

& Ladignon v. Court of Appeals:187

The process of identification, therefore, must include the
determinativn of the extent, kind, and significance of this
resemblance as well as of the variation. It then becomes
necessary to determine whether the variation is due to the
operation of a different personality, or is.only the expected and
inevitable variation found in _the genuine writing of the same

writer. It is also necessary to decide whether the resemblance is

the result of a more or less skillful imitation, or is the habitual

and characteristic resemblance which naturally appears in a .
genuine writing. When these two questions are correctly Lo

answered the whole problem of identification is solved.
“ (u.nderlmmg supphed)

In his Affidavit and Examination Report, affiant Azores
simply concluded that the s1gnatures in the PDAF documents

and Reyes’ sa.mple mgnatures “were not writlen by one and the

- same person.”

AT ALL EVENTS, this Office, after a prima jfacie
comparison with the ﬁaked eyes of the. members of the Panel
of Investigator;s between the signatures appearing in the PDAF
coc unents that are attributed to respondeh‘ts Senator Enrile, -
Reyes and Evangelista and their signatu:es found in their '
respect ve counter-affidavits, opines that both sets c;f '
signature:; appear to have been affixed by one and the same
respe'c{i:v; 'he nds. 188 In the absence of clear and convincing

L e i e o |

evidence, this Office thus finds that the questioned signatures

:°7G R. No.122 #73. Iuly 18, 2000,

Fick: Ferrana a v Fernande, G2 No, VOLERD, Tasaey 31, 2311
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on the relevint documents belong to respondents Enrile,

Reyes and Evangelista.

The Arias doctrine is ]
not applicable to these
proceedings.

Javellana argues that he cannot be held accountable for
approving the PDAF releases perte;jnjng to those projects
assigned to NABCOR because he only issued such approval
after his subo.rdinates, namely, respondents Mendoza, Cacal,
¥ elevo and othe; NABCOR officials il‘IJ.VOIVC'd in the processing
and/or implementation of PDAF-funded prajects, examined the
supporting do'cumcnts,- assured him of the avajlaﬁﬂity of funds

and recommended the approval of the disbursements.

Similarly, Cunanan claims that he approved the PDAF

releases relating to projects assigned to TRC only after his

subordinates at the agency recommended such approval.

Simply puit, Javellana and Cunana.n mvoke the ruling in

irias v. Sandzqanbayan 189 Reliance thereon is misplaced.

Arias squarely applies in cases where, in the performance

of iis ofﬁmal dutles the head of an ofﬁce is bemg held to

a.1swar for h.lS act of relymg on the acts of his subordinate:

25~ phil. 794 (19893,
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We would be setting a bad precedent if a head of office
plagued by all too common problems - dishonest or neghgent
subordinates, overwork, multiple assignments or posmons or
plain incompetence - is suddenly swept into a conspiracy
conviction simply because he did not personally examine every
single detail, painstakingly trace every step from inception, and
investigate the motives of every person involved in a transaction
before affixing his signature as the final approving authority.

f i XXX .
We can, in retrospect, argue that Arias should have probed .
records, inspected documents, received procedures, and
questioned persons. It is doubtful if any auditor for a fairly
sized office could personally do all these things in all vouchers
presented for his signature. The Court would be asking for the
impossible. Al heads of offices have to rely to a reasonable
extent on thelr subordinates and on the good faith of those
who prepare bids, purchase supplies, or enter into .
negotiations. x x x There has to be some added reason why he . &
should examine each voucher in such detail. Any executive
head of even small government agencies or commissions can .
attest to the volume of papers that must be signed. There are
hundreds of documents, letters, memoranda, vouchers, and =,
supporting papers that routinely pass through his hands. The
number in,bigger offices or departments is even more appalling.

There should be other grounds than the mere
signosyre or appreval appearing on _a voucher to sustain a

conspiracy charge and conviction.!'90 (emphasis, italics and ,
underscoriny supplied) : ; - -

T 1e above prondguncement readily shows that the Arias ¥

doc 1 ne does not help the cause of Javellana and Cunanan.

First, the Arias doctrine applies only if it is undispuited .

thay the head of the agency was the last person to sign the

vou. 'L ers; which would show that he was merely relying on the
prior -értificationis and recommendations of his subordinates.

It wi 1 not apply if there is evidence showing that the head of

S : . : : o
—— ‘ M s

1o “: i, o . “ . . . - . .

-
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v agency, beforc a recommendation or certification can 'be madc

= ® ._by a superior, performs any act that woula sxgmfy his approval
of the transacuon An other words, the Arzas doctrine is

mapphcablc in cases where it is the head of agency hlmself or

herself who in‘ﬂuences, pressures, coerces or otherwise
convinces the subordinate to sign the voucher or recommend

the approval of the transaction.

In Javellana’s case, Cacal statéd in his Counter-Affidavit
that he signed the disbursement vouchers pertaining to PD{XF
- disbursements because Javellana directed him to do so. In

support of his claim, Cacal submitted a document entitled

“Authorizationz’f issued and signed by respondent Javellana

~which states: ' . v

In order to facilitate grdt‘:cssiné of payments and in the
exigency of the service, MR. VICTOR ROMAN CACAL, Paralegal,
this Office is hereby authorized to sign BOX A of the

Disbursement Vouchers of all transactions related to PDAF.
Project.

This authorization takes effect starting August 20, 2008.
(underscoring supplied)

[}
1

. Cacal, in his Supplemental Affidavit, also claimed that

% . Javella;na_, a'n_wng others, already signed the checks and other

documents .eire:p_ before he (Cacal) co_uld sign Bo?c-_.“A” of the

disbursement rouchers:
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i 15, In,‘mpst instances, Boxes “B” and “C” were already
W signed wherein the herein Respondent was required to sing (sic)

Box “A” of the Disbursement Vouchers. Mast of the times the
Box “B” arid/or Bax “C” of the Disbursement Vouchers were
already signed_ahead by Nifez Guanizo and/or Rhodora B.
Mendoza and ALAN A. JAVELLANA respectively.

16. In,'other instances, the checks for PDAF releases
were _already prepared and signed by NABCOR President
ALAN A. JAVELLANA and VP for Finance RHODORA B.
MENDOZA attached to the Disbursement Voucher before
the herein Respondent were made signs Box “A” of the said
Disbursernent _Vouchers. This indicative of the target5 ({sic)
Municipalities and immediately stern instructions of herein
Respondent’s superiors to sign the Disbursement Voucher

“ immediately for reasons that it is being followed up by the
concerned NGO. Furthermore, the herein Respondent relied on
the duly executed Memorandum of Agreement by and between .
NABCOR, NGO and the Office of the Legislator. According to the ™
said MOA, initial release of funds will be undertaken by
NABCOR upon signing thereof. Hence, payment and/or release
of fund to the NGO became a lawful obligation of NABCOR,

X X X

18. On many instances, sternly ordered [sic] the
NABCOR VP for Admin., and Fingnce RHODORA_ B.
MENDOZA to herein Respondent to immediately sign Box
“4” of the Disbursement Voucher even. if the NGOs have not _
Yyet complied with the other documentary reguirements to oot
be attached to the said Disbursement Voucher on the basis '
on [sic] the commitment of the NGO to submit the other
required documents (emphasis, italits and underscoring

o supplied)

Cacal added that he was constrained to sign the

disbursement vouchers due to pressure exerted by his
.. Superiors:

19. ... In many instances wherein the Respondent
gugstioned the attachments/documents in the said
vouchers regarding the disbursements of the PDAF of
N legislators the respondent was herein threatened and/or
@ coerced by his superiors. (emphasis, italics and underscoring

supplied)

o1 ¢
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Since the Zsubordiﬁate himself 'vchemcntly disputes having
& recommended the approval of the fund release to his superior,
this Office in not inclined to épply the Arias doctrine. Note that
the Arias doct.ring is only applied in cases where it is
undisputed that the recommendation of the subordinate
preceded the superior’s approval, and not in situations where
it is the superior who persuades or pressures the subordinate

& to favorably re'commend approval.

] [

Second, the Arias doctrine, even assuming that it is
applicable, does not ipso facto free “rhé heads of agencies from
criminal, civil' or administrative liability. _-_The ruling merely
holds that the head of agéncy cannot be de/emed to be a co-
conspirator in a criminal offense simply because he signed
and/or approvec'l’ a voucher or document that facilitated the

o release of pﬁblic funds.19!

In the present cases, the liability of Javellana and

Cunanan is not based solely on their approval of the vouchers
and other paf;ers relating to PDAF projects implemented by
NABCOR, andjor TRC, but on their own overt acts showing

Y their undue interest in the release of PDAF funds. In short,

Javellana and Cunanan’s actions indicate that they -:wanted the

' Vide Jaca v. People, Gaviasa . Peaple, Cesa v. Peaple, G.R. Nos 166967, 166974 and 167167, January
28, 2013, :
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funds released as soon as possible, regardless ef-
& applicable laws or rules governing the disbursements had been .
observed or complied with.
As discussed above, Javellana’s own subordinate stated
that the. latte" actually pre-signed the checks pertammg to
PDAF releases even before the DVs were duly accomphshed

and s1gned.

Figura declared in his Counter-Affidavit that Cunanan
' constantly followed up with him (Figura) the expedited

processing of PDAF documents:

b} In the course of my review of PDAF documents, DDG
Dennis F. Cunanan would frequently personally follow up
in_my office the review of the MOA or my signature on the
checks. He would come down to niy office in the third floor and
tell me that he had a dinner meeting with the First Gentleman
and some legislators so much that he requested me to fost
track _processing of the PDAF papers. Though 1 hate name-
dropping, 1 did not show any disrespect to him but instead told
) him that if the papers are in order, I would release them before
“ the end of working hours of the same day. This was done by
DDG many 'times, but I stood my ground when the papers
on PDAF he’s following up had deficiencies x x x (emphasis,
italics and upiderscoring supplied)

Likewise, 'wimess Luy in his Sworn Statement dated 12

September 2013192 stated that Javellana and Cunanan were -
among those he saw receive a percentage of the diverted PDAF .

sums from Napoles:

2 Yeecands. 0,392, OMB-C-C-13 O'H“
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126. T: May nabanggit ka na may 10% na napupunta sa
presiden . o head ng agency, sino itong tinutokoy .mo?
’ S: Ang alam ko nakita kong tumanggap ay sila ALLAN
“ JAVELLANA ng NABCOR, DENNIS CUNANAN at ANTONIO
Y. ORTIZ ng TRC.... emphasis, italics and underscoring

supplied)

Furthermore, this Office takes note of the fact that
witness Luy,' during the legislative inquiry conducted by the
Senate Com;:nittee on Accountability of Public Officers and
Investigation's‘ (the Senate Blue Ribbon Committee] on 7
N ovemb;:r 201‘4, testified that he personally knew Javellana as
among thosq :who benefited from _Napolés_for his role in the
: PDAF releésesf,‘ viz: | |

Luy siid he saw Napoles giving money to officials of
implementing agencies at her office.

“When Ms. Napoles gives the instruction to prepare the
money and their 10-percent commission, I will so prepare it. I
will type the voucher and have it checked by my seniors or by “
her daughter Ja Christine,” Luy said. “I will bring the money to
her office and there are instances when she and I will meet the
person and give the money contained in a paper bag.”

“ Luy sald he saw Alan Javellana, a former president of ’
tha National Agribusiness Carp., and Antonio Ortiz, former

head of the Technology Resource Center#rec_eive their ‘
respective payoffs.'9? (emphasis, italics and underscoring . 8
supplied)

- On 6 March 2014, witness Luy again testified before the
Sena.z Blue Ribbon Committee that Cunanan was among
th >se who received undue benefits from the PDAF scam

& ‘i ough kickbacks given by Napoles:

” . . . -

- ——

* * Nonwan Bordadora axd T] Burgonio, “Benhur Luy upstages Napoles in Senate hea(ing,'; elecironically .
JJublishe.! 4y the Philippine Daily Inquirer at its websits located at ‘

hitp://nev info inquirer,net/52283 { fhenhur-luy-upsteges-napoles-in-s2nate-hearing#ixzz2 waPGPnoP on

Novewmbey 3, 20 o : .
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The principal whistleblower in the pork barrel scam
Benhur Luy said Thursday that Dennis Cunanan, the former
% chief of the Technology Resource Center who wants to turn
state witness, personally received P960,000 in kickbacks from
Janet Lim Napoles, contrary to his claims.

In the continuation of the Blue Ribben Committee hearings
on the pork barrel scam, Luy said he personally saw
Cunanan currying a bagful of money after meeting Napoles
at the JLN Corp. office at the Discovery Suites in Ortigas,
Pasig City.

Luy said he was instructed by Napoles to prepare the
P960,000 intended for Cunanan, representing his commission
for the pork barrel coursed through the TRC. He then handed
the money to his co-worker, Evelyn De Leon, who was present
% at the meeting room with Napoles and Cunanan.

“When Dencu_(referring to_Dennis Cunanan) emerged : .
out of the conference room, I saw_him carrying the paper
bag,” Luy said. Asked if he saw Cunanan receive the money,
Luy answered: “After. the meeting, I saw the paper bag. He
was carrying it.” (emphasis, underscoring and italics
supplied)19 ‘

The immediately-quoted chronicle of the testimonies of th.1‘37 '
indubitably indicates that respondents Javellana and Cunanan
did not approve the PDAF releases becaﬁse they relied on the
reconnnendatibn'of their subordinates; rather, they themselves

wanted the funds released of their own volition. .

IN FINE, this Office holds that the Arias doctrine is not
applicable to-the heads of agencies impleaded in these

proceedings including Javellana and Cunanan.

R

. 5 1,

184 g Cc

. Macon Ramos-Araneta, “Cunanan got park cuts,” tlectronically published by Manila Standard Today at
tis website logated at hitn:/manilastandardtoday.com/2014/03/07/-cunanan-got-pork-cuts-i-saw-him-carry
biagsvidup-Qnhenting! kit March 7, 2014 and lnst aceessad on 24 March 2014,
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There is no prabable cause to
indict  public  respondent
Montuya. :

Montuyai an Accounting Assistant at NABCOR, 1is
impleaded for allegedly preparing the inspection reports
pertaining to livelihood projects funded by PDAF and covered

by SARO Nos. ROCS-08-0516,195 ROCS-08-07211'% and

ROCS-08-00804.197 She, however, deries having participated

in the misuse of the PDAF and insists that she actually did
conduct physical insi:ections of the agricultural packages at
warehouses and prepared the corresponding reports. She
alleges that s:.he was - supervised in her inspection by her

]
superior, respondent Mendoza.

This Office finds in favor of Montuya.

The Office takes note that her inspecﬁOn of the livelihood

kits took place after NABCOR rei;eésed ‘the PDAF

‘35
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disbursements to SDPFFL In other words, her actions were’

unrelated, let alone necessary, to NABCOR'’s improper transfer |

of public funds toe SDPFFI.

Irideéd the Office finds no fault in Montuya’s actions. Her

inspection* refiorts simply reflect what she saw during the

::: Records, p, 1836, OMB-C-C-13-0318.
% 1d. a 1914,
¥ 1d. at 1950,
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inspection, i.e., that there were livel_%hood kits at the Bulacan
warehouses where Mendoza brought her. Montuya, in the
course of her inspection, was not duty-bound to inquire
beyond the e;cisj:ence of the livelihood kits as her job was
limited to cox“-.ducting a physical inspection of the items in
question. Mendoza brought her to the Bulacan warehouses
and showed her (Montuya) the livelihood kits subject of the.
inspection. In fact, she (Mendoza) even co-signed the
inspection report in relation to the livelihood project covered
by SARO Nos. ROCS-08-0516. She was given instructions by

Mendoza on how to conduct the inspections and prepare the

corresponding reports.

In any event, Montuya was under the full supervision and

control of her superior Mendoza during the inspections.

Unlike Me:ndoza, however, there is no evidence indicating
that Montuya: was unduly interested in the PDAF releases,
received any particular benefit therefrom or was involved in
NABCOR’s processing/facilitation of PDAF disbursements to

SDPFFL. The criminal charges against her must thus be

dismissed.

There is no probable cause to
indict private respondents
Oliveros, Talaboc, Agcao li,
Balaneba, - F.awas-Yut k,
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Solomon.

Respondeiits Oliveros, Talaboc, Agcaoili, Balanoba, Lawas-

Yutok and Santos, who were supposed to be notaries publi¢ at

the time material to the charges, are impleaded in these
proceedings for having allegedly allowed Napoles and her staff

to use their notarial seals in notarizing MOAs and other.

% similar PDAF documents. Likewise, respondents Victorino and
Solomon were impleaded because they i:»repared independent
auditor’s reports for some of the Napoles-affiliated NGOs

which received funds drawn from Senator Enrile’s PDAF.

!
The criminal charges against the above-named notaries

public and gcertified public accountants. must also be ‘_0 .

dismissed.

As notaries public, Oliveros, Talaboc; Agcabili, Balanoba,’
Lowas-Yutok and Santos’ duty in relation to the notarial act of
acl nowledgment of public instruments is to make sure that:
{a) .he -parties acknowledging- the instrument personally
appe:s Tt before them at the time of the notarization; and (b} said
partlr s are personally known to them and, for this purpose,
reqm. ie the prcsentation of competent evidence of identity.198

The,  are not l‘requ.ired to inquire as to the contents of the

143

Rule ,%e tian 2 (B} (1) and (2), AM. Mo, 02-8-13-5C"
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instrument, let alone the motives of the acknowledging pé
who executed said document. This Office cannot, therefore,
assume that respondents Oliverés, Talaboc, Agcaoili,
Balanoba, Lawsds-Yutok and Santos were aware of the
contents of the PDAF documents when they nofarized the
same. !

Similarly,- respondents Victorino and Solomon were:
implicated betause they prepared the independent auditor’s
r :ports of some of the NGOs used in the diversion of the PDAF.

The preparation of these reports, however, is not directly

related to or an act necessary to carrying out the irregular

' transfer of funds from the IAs to the NGOs involved. There is

no indication that either Victorino or Solomon knew that the
repc rts they prepared would be used for nefarious purposes,

let ¢ lone evidence showing that they were actively involved in
the iystematic diversion of the PDAF.
Respecting the subject notaries public, even if they,

indeed, allowed other persons to use their notarial seals qnd

r otarize documents in their names, these acts are not

indispensable' to the commission of PIuhder or violation of
Section 3(ei of R.A. 3019. If at all, the acts complained of
constitute violations of the 2004 Rules on Notarial Practice.199
Similaﬂy, any .irregdlarity' in the public ;pc':ountant's’

——

A Wo. 6 G-13-80.
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preparation of the audit reports may render them Jable for

violation of RA 9298200 or other similar laws or rules.

The criminal charges against respondents Oliveros,
Talaboc, Agcaoilj, Baianoba, Lawas-Yutok, Santos, Victorino

and Solomon must thus be dismissed for insufficient evidence.

The dismissal of said cha.rgés, however, is without prejudice to
any action that may be taken against them by the appropriate
body or office in relation to any possible violation of the 2004

Rules on Not&ial Practice, R.A. No. 9298, aor other applicable

laws or ruleg. .

Respondents’ defenses
are best left to the trial
court’s consideration
during trial on the
merits. .

Respondent public officers insist that they were motivated
by good faith, and acted in accordance with existing laws and.

rules, and that the disbursements from the PDAF were all

reg ilar and above board.

During  preliminary investigation, this Office does not
d term:ine‘ if the evidence on record proves the guilt of the

Persun. “harged beyond reasonable doubt. It merely ascertains

3 H e s e
Cthierv ise kuawa we the “Uhilippine Arcnuntiney Act 05037,
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whether there is sufficient ground to engender a well-founded
belief that a crime has been committed; that the responden:t

charged is probably guilty thereof, and should be held for trial;

and that based on the evidence presented, the Office believes

that the respondent’s assailed act constitutes the offense

charged.201

Public res'pondents’ claims of good faith and regularity in

their performance of official functions fail.

AS carlier reflected, the sworn statements of witnesses, the
disbursement vouchers, the indorsed/encashed checks, the
MOAs with NGOs, the written requests, liquidation reports,
confirmation letters and other evidence on record indubitably‘
indicate that respondents Senator Enrile, Reyes, Evangelista,
Javellaha, Mendoza, Cacal, Guaiizo, Ortiz, Cunanan, Jover,
Munsod, Relevo, Mendoza, Amata, Bueriaventura, Sevidal,
Jal indoni, Guaiizo, Ordofiez, Cruz, Espiritu, Relampagos,
Nw ez, Paule, Bare and Lacsamana, as well as respondents
Tus som, Janet Napoles, Jo Napoles, James Napolqs; De Leon,
F'or. mto, Lim, ‘Ralm'rez, Cabilao, Ogerio, Fabian, Ditchon,
Gade.&j.1 Uy,'lﬁ‘:emando, De Asis, Encarnacion, Palama, Ornopia,

‘Cast i and Macha, conspired with one ancther to repeatedly
rail the pﬁ‘bli&: 'treaslury through whét appears to be the

- a—— ——

HTE . -
Rewo g, et e | v, Desiera, of al,, GUR. o, 120920, Seplember 9, 1090,
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drawing of funds from the PDAF allocated to respondent
& Enrile, albeit for fictitious projects.

Consequently, they must be deemed to have illegally
conveyed pubtic funds in the amount of Php345,000,000.00,
more or less, to the possessmn and control of questionable
NGOs affiliated with Napoles, and thereafter allowed Enrile to
acquire and amass ill-gotten proceeds through kickbacks in

@ the sum of Phpl72,834,500.00, which is in excess of
Php50,000,000.00. |

At any rate, specifically with respect to Plunder, good faith

is neither and element or a defense.

AT ALL EVENTS, respondents Senator Enrile, Reyes,
Evangelista, J avellana,' Mendoza, Cacal, Guaiizo, Ortiz,

“ Cunanan, Jover, Munsod, Relevo,. Mendoza, Amata,
Buenaventura, .Sevidal, Jaiandoni, Guanizo, Ordoiez, Cruz,.
Rodriguez, | Espiritu, Relampagos, Nuiiez, Paule, Bare and
Lacsamana’s claims of good faith and 'regularity in the
performance of their duties are defenses in violation of R.A.

No. 3019 which are best raised during trial proper. As

@ explained in Feloso v. Desierto:202

01, \
Supra at pole 198,
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We agree with public respondents that the existence of
good_faith or lack of it, as elements of the crimes of
malversation and violation of Section 3 fe), R. A. No. 3019,
is evidentiary in nature. As a matter of defense, it can be
best passeid upon after a full-blown trial on the merits.
(emphasis and italics supplied)

It bears reiferaﬁng that, indeed, preliminary investigation
is a merely inquisitorial mode of discovering the persons who
may be reasc;nably charged with a crime.203 It is not the_
occasion for the full and exhaustive display of the parties'
evidence, including respondents-movants’ respective
defenses.204 Precisely there is a trial on the merits for this

purpose.

WHEREFORE, this Office, through the undersigned:

() FINDS PROBABLE CAUSE to indict for:

[PLUNDER- 1 Count]

1.  Juan Ponce Enrile, Jessica Lucila G. Reyes, Ruby
C. Tuason, Janet Lim Napoles, Ronald John L].m

." aind John Raymund De Asis, acting in concert, for
PLUNDER (Section 2 in relation to Section 1 (d)

T, [2] and .[6]' of R. A. No. 7080, as ':%mfended), in

< 20
20

:Paderanga v. Drilon, G. R. No. 96080 April 19, 1991, 196 SCRA 93,94,
Drilop v, Cﬂh’.‘l af Appieads, CLR No, THAR23, Tudy §, 1900,
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relation to Enrile’s ill-gotten wealth

O aggregate  sum  of  Phpl72,834,500.00,

representmg kickbacks or commissions received
by Enrile from Napoles in connection with Pnonty
Development Assistance Fund (PDAF)-funded
government projeéts and by reason of his office or

position;

[VIOLATICN OF SECTION 3 (E) OF R.A. NO. 3019 — 15

Counts]

i. Juan Ponce Enrile, Jessica Lucila G. Reyes, Jose

Anitonio V. Evméelista II, Ruby C. Tuason, Mario

L." Relampagos, Rosario Nufiez, Lala:ine Paule,

Marilou Bare, Antonio Y. Ortiz, Dennis L.

_ Y : Cunanan, Francisco B. Figura, Ma, Rosalinda-
' Lacsamana, Consuelo Lilian R. Espiritu, Marivic

V. Jover, Janet Lim Napoles, .Jo Christine L.

Napoles, James Christopher L. Napoles, Eulogio D.

Redriguez, Evelyn D. De Leon, Ronald John Lim,

:2 Araparo L. Fernando, Fernando Ramirez, Nitz

@ Lo Cabilao, Alleen Palama, John Raymund De Asis
and Mylene T. Encarnacion, actlng in concert for

VIOTATION OF SECTION 3 () OF R.A! NO. 3019

om-c C 13 0396 . ‘. : ".‘7.;“':'- ‘_' ‘{—: “ .':' B .-'.. \': :I.*‘_:'- XL ] lg sl
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i,

in relation to fund releases

P'1p20,000,000.00 drawn from Enrile’s PDAF and
coursed through the Technology Resource Center
(TRC) and Countrywide Agri and Rural Economic -
a.n‘d bevelopment Foundation, Inc. (CARED), as
reflected in Disbursement Voucers (DV) No. 01-
2007-040669, 01-2007-040670, 01-2007-040671

and 01-2007-040672;

Juan Ponce Enrile, Jessica Lucila G. Reyes, Jose
Antonio V. Evangelista II, .Ruby C. Tuason, Mario
L. Relampagos; Rosario Nufiez, Lalaine Paule,
Marilou -Bare, Antonio Y. Ortiz, Dennis L.
Cunanan, Francisco B. Figura, Ma. Rosalinda
Lacsamana, Consuelo Lilian R. Espiri1.:u, Marivic
V.‘ Jover, Janet Lim Napoles, Jo Christine L.
Nalpoles, James Christopher L. Napoles, Eulogio D.”
Rodriguez, Evelyn D, De Leoh, Ronald John Lim,

Araparo L. Fernando, Fernando Ramirez, Nitz

Cabilao, Jocelyn D. Piorato, Dorilyn A. Fabian,

" Hernani Ditchon, Rodrigo B. Galay and Laarni A.

Uy, acting in concert, for VIOLATION OF SECTION
A . " : CoL ;
3 (E) OF R.A. NO. 3019 in relation to fund releases

amounting to Php22,500,000.00 drawn from

1
.
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Errile’s PDAF and coursed through the TRC and e .
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Agricultura Para sa Magbubukid Foundation, Inc.

(APMFI), as reflected in DV No. 01-2009-040929

and 01-2009-051300:

o
ii, Juan Ponce Enrile, Jessica Lucila G.- Reyes, Jose

Antonio V. Evangelista II, Ruby C. Tuason, Mario
L. Relampagos, Rosario Nufez, Lalaine Paule,
Marilou Bare, Alan A. Javellana, 'Rhodora B.
Mendoza, Encarnita Christina P. Munsod, Romulo
Reievo, Maria Julie A. Villaralvo-Johnson, Janet
Liln Napoles, Jo Christine L Napoles, James
Cliristopher L. Napoles, Eulogio D. Rodriguez,
Evelyn D. De Leon, Ronald John Lim, Fernando
Ramirez and Nitz Cabilao; acting in concert, for

VIOLATION OF SECTION 3 (E) OF R.A. NO. 30165 .-
n relatibn to fund ‘relea'ses amounting to
Php24,250,000.00 drawn from Enrile’s PDAF and
* coursed through thé National Agribusiness
Carporation (i\IABCOR) and People’s Organization

' for Proéress and Development Foundation, Inc.
* (POPDI), as reflected in DV No. 08-04-01201 and

08-07-02312;
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Juan Ponce Enrile, Jessica Lucila G. Reyes, Jose

Antonio V. Evangelista 1I, Ruby C. Tuason, Mario
L. Relampagos, Rgsaria Nuiiez, Lalaine Paule,

Mérilou Bare, Alan A. Javellana, Rhodora B.

. Mé’andoza, Victor Roman C. Cacal, Ma. Ninez P.

Guanizo, Janet Lim Napoles, Jo Christine L.

Nallpoles, James Christopher Napoles, Eulogic D.
Rodriguez, Evelyn D. De Leon, Ronald John Lim,
Fe‘rnando Ramirez, Nitz Cabilao and Renato S.
Omopié, acting in concert, for VIOLATION OF
SECTION 3 (E) OF R.A. NO. 3019 in relation to
fund. releases amounting to Phpl9,400,000.00
drawn from Enrile’s PDAF and coursed through

NABCOR and Masaganang Ani Para sa Magsasaka

|
Foundation, Inc. (MAMFI), as reflected in DV No.

0&-09-3575 and 09-04-1622;

Juan Ponce Enrile, Jessica Lucila G. Reyes, Jose

Antonio V. Evangelista II, Ruby C. Tuason, Mario’

L. Relampagos, Rosario Nuféz, Lalaine Paule,

"*. Marilou Bare, Alan A. Javellana, Rhodora B.

'Mehdoza Victor Roman C. Cacal, Ma Ninez P.

Guaiiizo, Janet Lim Napoles, Jo Chnstmc L.

Napoles, James C‘hnstopher Nanoleo. Fulogm D.
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Rodrlguez, Evelyn D. De Leon, Roﬁald Joh:l;l Lim,
Fernando Ramirez, Nitz Cabilac and Noel V.
Mara.ck'la, acﬁﬁg in concert, for VIOLATION OF
SECTION 3 (E) OF R.A. NO. 3019 in relation to

fund releases amounting to Php29,100,000.00

drawn from Enrile’s PDAF and coursed through‘

NABCOR and Social Development Program for
Farmers Foundation, Inc. (SDPFFI), as reflected in

DV No. 08-09-3572 and 09-05-1751;

Juan Ponce Enrile, Jessica Lucila G. Reyes, Jose
Antonio V. Evangelista II, Ruby C. Tuason, Mario
L. Relampagos, Rosario Nuiez, Lala.ine Paule,

Marilou Bare, Alan A. Javellana, Rhodora B.

Mendoza, Victor Roman C., Cacal, Ma. Ninez P.-

Guanizo, Janet Lim Napoles, Jo Christine L.
Napoles, James Christopher Napoles, Eulogio D.
Rodriguez, Evelyn D. De Leoﬁ, Ronald John Lim,
Fermando Ram‘iTeZ, Nitz Cabiiao and chato_ S.

Ornopia, acting in concert, for VIOLATION OF

' .'SECTION 3 (E) OF R.A. NO. 3019 in relation to

-1_“u'.‘.1d releases amounting to Php24,250,000.00

drawn from Enrile’s PDAF and coursed through
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NABCOR and MAMFI, as reflected in DV N 09—

05-1773 and 09-06-2025;

Jyian Ponce Enrile, Jessica Lucila G. Reyes, Jose

Antonio V. Evangelista II, Ruby C. Tuason, Mario

L. Relampagos, Rosario Nunez, Lalaine Paule,

M'arilouv Bare, Alan A. Javellana, Rhodora B.
Mendoza, Victor Roman C. Cacal, Ma. Ninez P.
Guanizo, Janet Lim Napoles., Jo Christine L.
Napoles, James Christophm.er Ne_ipoles, Eulogio D.
Redriguez, Evelyn D. De Leon, Ronald John Lim,
Fernando Ramirez, Nitz Cabilao and Noel V.
Macha, a.cting in concert, for VIOLATION OF
SECTION :3 (E) OF R.A. NO. 3019 in relation to

fulid releases amounting to Php24,250,000.00

drawn from Enrile’s PDAF and coursed through’

NABCOR and SDPFFI, as reflected in DV No. 09-

05-1774 and 09-06-2022;

Juan Ponce Enrile, Jessica Lucila G. Reyes, Jose

" Antonio V. Evangelista II, Ruby C. Tuason, Mario

L. Re‘la.m?agos, Rasario :Nuflez, Lalaine Paule,
Marilou Bare, Alan A. Javellana, Rhodora 'B.

Mendoza, Victor Roman C. Cacal, Ma. Ninez P.
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Guaiizo, Janet Lim Napoles, Jo Chri tine L.

Népoles, James Christopher Napoles, Eulogio D.
Rodriguez, Evelyn D. De Leon, Ronald John Lim,
Ferﬁa.ndo Ramirez, Nitz Cabilao and Renato S.
Ornopia, acting in concert, for VIOLATION OF
SECTION 3 (E) OF R.A. NO. 3019 in relation to
fund releases amounting to Php14,550,000.00.
drawn from Enrile’s PDAF and coursed through
NABCOR and MAMEFI, as reflected in DV No. Oé—

05-1767 and 09-06-2028;

Jua.n Ponce Enrlile., Jessica Lucila G. Reyes, Jose
Ar;tonio V. Evangelista II, Ruby C. Tuason, Mario
L.} Rélampagos, Rosario Nuiiez, Lala.ine Paule,
Marilou Baré, Alan A. Javellana, Rhodora B.
Méndoza‘, Victor Roman C. Cacal, Ma. Ninez P.
Gﬁaﬁizo, Janet Lim Napoles, Jo Christine L.
Napoles, James Christopher Napoles, Eulogio D
Rodriguez, Evelyn D. De Leon, Ronald John Lim,
Fe-mando Re.unireZ’, Nitz Cabilao and Noel V.
Macha, acting in concert, for VIOLATION OF
SE}CTIOl\f 3 (E) OF R.A. NO. 3019 in relation to
fund - releases amounting ‘to Php9,700,000.00

drawn from'Enri.le’s PPAF and coursed through
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06-1825 and 09-06-2027;

Juan Ponce Enrile, Jessica Lucila G. Reyes, Jose
Aritonio V. Evangelista II, Ruby C. Tuason, Mario
L. Relampagos, Rosario Nunez, Lalaine Paule,
Marilou Bare, Gondelina G. | Amata, Emmanuel
Alexis G. Sevidal, Ofelia E. Ordofiez, Filipina T.
Rodriguez, Sofia D. Cruz, Chita C. Jalandoni,
Ja:net Lim Napoles, Jo Chris"riﬁe L. Napoles, James
Christopher L. Napoles, ’Euiogio D. Rodriguez,
Evelyn D. De Leon, Ronald John Lim, Amparo L.
Fernando, Fernando Ramiréz, Nitz Cabilao, Aileen
Palama, John Raymund De Asis and.Mylene T.
Encarnacion, acting in concert, for VIOLATION OF
SECTION. 3 (E) OF R.A. NO. 3019 in relation to-
fuhd releases amounting to Php8,000,000.00
driwwn from Enrile’s PDAF and coursed through
the National Livelihood Development Corporation
(NLDC) and CARED, as reﬂectea in DV No. 09-10-

1530;

Juan Ponce Enril'e, Jessica Lucila G. Reyes, Jose

Antonio V. Evangelista IT, Ruby C. Tueson, Mario
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L.. Relampagos, Rosario Nuiiez,
Marilou Bare, Gondelina G. Amata, Emmanuel

| Alexis G. Sevidal, Ofelia E. Ordofiez, Filipina T.
Rodriguez, Sofia D. Cruz, Chita C. Jalandoni,
Janet Lim Napoles, Jo Christine L. Napoles, James -
Christophér Napoles, Eulogio D. Rodriguez, Evelyn.
D. De Leon, Ronald John Lu:n, Fernando Ramirez,
Nitz Cabilao and Renato S. Ornopia, acting in
concert, for VIOLATION OF SECTION 3 (E) OF R.A.
NO. 3019 in relation to fund releases axlnounting
to! Php20,000,000.00 drawn from Enrile’s PDAF
arid coursed through NLDC and MAMFI, as
reflected in DV No. 09-09-1355, 09-10-1443 and
09-10-1534; |

xii, Juan Ponce Enrile, Jessica Lucila G Reyes, José -
Antonio V. Evangelista II, Ruby C. ’Iﬁason, Mario
L. Relampageos, Rosario Nuiiez, Lalaine Paule,
Marilou Bare, Gondelina G. Amata, Emmaﬁue‘l
Aléxis G. Sevidal, Ofelia E. Ordofez, Filipina T.
- Rcdrnguez, Sofia D. Crug, C_hita C. Jalandoni,
. Janet Lim Napoles, Jo Christine L. Napoles, James
Christopher L. Napoles, Eulogio D. Rodriguez,

Evelyn D. De Leon, Ronald John Lim, Amparo L.
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Fernando, Fernando Ramirez, Nitz Cabilao, Aileen
& "Palama, John Raymund De Asis and Mylene T.
Encaﬁacion, acting in concert, for VIOLATION OF
. SECTION 3 (E) OF RA. NO. 3019 in relation to
fund releases amounting to PHP44,000,000.00
drawn from Enrile’s PDAF and coursed through’
the NLDC and CARED, as reflected in DV No. 09-
& 13-1834, 10-01-0004, 10-01-0118 and 10-05-

0747;

xiii. Juan Ponce Enrile, Jessica Lucila G. Reyes, Jose

Antonio V. Evangelista II, Ruby C. Tuason, Mari.o

L. Relampagos, Rosario Nurez, Lala:ine Paule,

. . Marilou Bare, Gondelina G. Amata, Emmanuel -
Alexis G. Sevidal, Ofelia E. Ofdoﬁez, Filipina. T.-

& Rodriguez, Sofia D. Cruz, Chita C: Jalandoni,
Janet Lim Na].poles, Jo Christine L. Napoles, James

Christopher L. Napoles, Eulogio D. . Rodriguez,

Ev;elyn D. De Leon, Ronald John Lim, Fernando

Ramirez, Nitz Cabilao, Myla Ogerio and Margarita

" . P. Guadinez, acting in concert, for VIOLATION OF

& " SECTION 3' () OF R.A. NO. 3019 in Telation to
fu:nd; rei\::ases amounting :.to Php25,000;000.00

drawn from Enrile’s PDAR 'a;‘ld coursed through
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th': NLDC and Agri and Economic Program for
Farmers Foundation, Inc. (AEPFFI), as reflected in_

DV No. 09-091353, 09-10-1444 and 09-10-1540;

xiv. Juan Ponce Enrile, Jessica Lucila G. Reyes, Jose
Antonio V. Evangelista II, Ruby C. Tuason, Mario.
L. Relampagos, Rosario Nuflez, Lalaine Paule,
Marilou Bare, Gondelina G. Amata, Emmanuel
Alexis G. Sevidal, Ofelia E. Ordofiez, Filipina T.
Rodriguez, Sofia D. Cruz, Chita C. Jalandoni,
Janet Lim Napoles, Jo Christine L. Napoles, James
Ck:ixiétopher L. Napoles, Eulogio D. Rodriguez,
Evelyn D, De Leon, Ronald John Lim, .Ampa.ro L.
Fernando, Fernando Ramirez, Nitz Cabilao,
Piorato, Fabian, Hernani Ditchon, Galay and’
Laarni A. Uy, acting in concert, for VIOLATION OF
SECTION 3 (E) OF R.A. NO. 3019 in relation to
fund releases amounting to Php25,000,000.00
drawn from Enrile’s PDAF and coursed througiu
the NLDC and APMFI, as reflected in DV No. 09-
' 09-1358, 09-10-1449 and 09-10-1535;
XV, Juan Ponce Ennle Jessica Lucﬂa G. 'Reyes, Jose

Antomo V. }"v'mgehom I, Puhv Tuauon Mano.

3
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L. Relampagos, Rosari‘o Nuiiez, Lalaiﬁe Paule,
Marilou Bare, Gondelina G. Amata, Emmanuel
Al@}ds G. Sevidal, Ofelia E. Ordoiiez, Filipina T.
Rodrigucz, Sofia D. Cruz, Chita C. ‘Jalandoni,
Janet Lim Napoles, Jo Christine L. Napoles, James
Chiristopher L. Napoles, Eulogio D. Rodriguez,
Etvelyn D. De Leon, Ronald John Lim, Amparo L.
Fernando, Fernando Ramirez, Nitz Cabilao, Aileen
. Palama, John Raymund De Asis and Mylene T.
Encarnacion, acting in concert, for VIOLATION OF
SECTION 3 (E) OF R.A. NO. 3019 in relation to
fund releases amounting to Php32,000,000.00
drawn from Enrile’s PDAF and coursed through

the NLDC and CARED, as reflected in DV No. 09-
09-1354, 09-10-1447;

and accordingly RECOMMENDS the immediate filing of

the corresponding Informations against them with the

Sandigdanbayan;

(b) DISMISSES the criminal charges against Mark S.
Oliveros, Editha P. Talaboc, Delfin Agcaoili, Jr., Daniel

Ba]anoba,_ Lucila M. Lawas-Yutok,' Antonio M. Santos,
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Lucita P. Solomon, Susan R. Victorino and yr Ann
@ Montuya for insufficiency of evidence;

]

{(c) FURNISHES copies of this Joint Resclution fo the Anti-
Money Laundering Council for its appropriate action on
the possible violations by the above-named respondents
of the Anti-Money Laundering Act, considering that
Plunder and violation of Section 3 (e} of R.A. No. 3019

are considered unlawful activities under this statute;

(d) FURNISHES copies of this Joint Resolution to the
Su;pren':.e Court, Integrated Bar of the Philippines, and
the P;'oi‘essional Reguiation Commission for appropriate
action on the alleged misconduct committed iay notaries
public _pﬁveros, Talaboc, Agcaoili, Balanoba;' Lawas-

Yutok and Santos, Solomon and Victorino; and

{e) DIRECTS the Field Investigation Office to conduct .
further fact-finding investigation on the possible
cﬁmhﬂ ‘and/ or administrative liability qf Javellana,
Mendoza, Ortiz, Cunanan, Amata, Sevidal and other
respondents who may have received commissions
and./or! kickbacks from Napoles in relation to their
pa;t"ticiﬂétior.x in the scheme subject of these cases.



JOINT RESQOLUTION
OMB-C-C-13-0318 A 5. CAGAT-CAGAT
OMB-C-C-13-0396 o TR wh A S

AL oa L JUALEORCToR

» ey ,--l-v:.-.‘vuc\-"Pagé e sdddL 738 I .: e ‘ 3 3 "
P ‘;;,”-_z_"/;._,_-_--_h.gg»..u- HIEETT

SO ORDERED.

@

Quezon City, Philippines, 28 March 201%.

SPECIAL PANEL
PER OFFICE ORDER NO. 349, SERIES OF 2013

.

. ! M.A. CHRISTIAN O.UY
Graft Investigation and Prosecution Officer IV
! Chairperson

RUTH LAURA A. MELLA
Graft Investigation and Prosecution Officer II

FRANCISCA M. SERFINO
Graft Investigation apd Prosecution Officer II

CA M. LIMBO
Prosecution Officer II

JASMINE . GAPATAN
Graft, Investigation Prosecution Officer I
' Member

APPROVED/ D{SchPR@‘v‘ED\\

;' -.'.,'- ‘;, . .
2g). I concHITA 15 MORALES

Ombudsman 2y Dyt //7L
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Copy Furnished: '

NATIONAL BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION
Complainant
NBI Bldg., Taft Avenue, Ermita, Manila

LEVITO D. BALIGOD

Complainant

Villanueva & Baligad, 3/F The Lydia Bldg.

39 Polaris St., Bel-air, Makati '

FIELD INVESTIGATION OFFICE
Complainant

4th Floor, Ombudsman Building
Agham Road, Quezon City 1100

PONCE ENRILE REYES AND MANALASTAS
LAW OFFICE

Counsel for respondent Juan Ponce Enrile
Vernida [V Bldg, 128 L.P. Leviste St.,
Makati City 1200

LAW FIRM OF 'DIAZ DEL ROSARIO AND
ASSQOCIATES

Counsel for respondent Jessica Lucila G
Reyes

6! Floor, Padilla Building, F. Omgas Jr.
Road, Ortigas Center, Pasig City

EDWARDSON 1. .ONG and MERCEDES
ISABEL B. MAYORALGO

Counsel jfor respondent Jose Antonio
Evangelista IT

Vernida IV Bldg, 128 L.P. Leviste St., Makati
1200

DENNIS P. MANALO,

Counsel for respondent Ruby C. Tuason
9-10% Floors, LPL Tower, 112 Legaspi St
Legazpi Village, Makati City

DE GUZMAN DIONIDO CAGA JUCABAN &

ASSOCIATES

Counsel - for respondents Mario L. - : C :
Relampagos, Lalaine Paule, Malou Bare and

Rosario Nufiez .
Rm. 412, Executive Building Center, Gil '
Puyat Ave cor. "Makati Ave., Makati City

ALENTAJAN LAW OFFICE _
Counsel for respondent Antonio Y, Ortiz
24 llongot-St:, La Vista, Quezon City

“an
‘.
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THE LAW FIRM OF CHAN ROBLES AND
ASSOCIATES

Counsel for respondent Dennis L. Cunanan
Suite 2205, Philippine Stock Exchange
Center, East Tower, Ortigas Center, Pasig

City

FRANCISCO B. FIGURA

Respondent , '
Unit S-A, St Floor, Valero Tower, 122 Valero
St., Salcedo Vﬂle}ge; Makati City

MARIA ROSALINDA LACSAMANA
Respondent

Unit 223, Pasig Royale Mansion, Santolan
Pasig City

CONSUELO LILIAN R. ESPIRITU
Respondent

5306 Diesel St., Bgy. Palanan, Makat City

MARIVIC V. JOVER
Respondent

3 Gumamela St., Ciudad Licel, Banaba, San
Mateo, Rizal

ACERON PUNZALAN VEHEMENTE AVILA &
DEL FPRADO LAW OFFICE

Counsel for respondent Alan A. Javellana
313t Floor, Atlanta Center

Annapolis, Greenhills, San Juan Clty

RHODORA B. MENDOZA

Respondent

Lot 2, Block 63, Bright Homes Subd., Bgy.
Cay Pombo, Sta. Maria, Bulacan

ENCARNITA CRISTINA P, MUNSOD
Respondent

14 Saturn St., ,Meteor ‘Homes Subdivision
Bgy. Fortune, Makati City

VICTOR ROMAN C. CACAL

Respondent

4 Milkyway St., Joliero Compound, Phase 1-
D, Moonwa.lk Vmage Talon V, Las Pifias City

MA. JULIEA VILI.ARALVO—JOHNSON
Respondent

509 Mapayapa St., United San Pedro Subd.
San Pedr_o Laguna
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MIRANDA, ANASTACIO & LOTERTE LAW
OFFICES

Counsel for respondent Ma. Ninez P. Guariizo
Penthouse B., Venture Bldg., Prime St.
. dadrigal Busians Park, Ayala Alabang
o ntinlupa Clty :

PUBLIC ATTORNEY'S OF‘FICE - QUEZON
CIy

Counsel for respéndent Romulo Relevo

B-29, Quezon City Hall of Justice Bldg.,
Quezon City -

ATENCIA LAW OFFICES

Counsel for respondent Shyr Ann Montuya
Upper 1% Floor, 101 Corinthian Executive
Regency, Ortigas Avenue, Ortigas Center

GONDELINA G. AMATA

Respondent

c/o National Livelihood Development
C rporation, 7% Floor, One Corporate Plaza
G4, Arnaiz Ave,, Makati City

£ Al GOS, GUMARU AND JALANDONI

C o 1sel for respondents Chita C. Jalandoni
¢ ¢ rilipina T. Rodriguez

L nit 1009, West Tektite Tower, Exchange
Koad, Ortigas Center, Pasig City

OFEL. A E. ORDONEZ

Respc. dent .

c/o ilat onal Livelihood Development
Corporatic n, 7th Fleor, One Corporate Plaza
845 Anai:. Ave,, Makati City

EMMAI JUEL ALEXIS G. SEVIDAL
Respon dent

18 Ka- mg-Kasing St., East Kamias, Quezon
City
JO? 2P VILLAMOR

Ccunsel for respondent Gregoria G.
F u. raventura

‘Jnit 3311 One Corporate Center, Juha

Varg. ¢« Avenue cor. Meralco Ave., Ortigas
Cente -, PaS1g City

CALIL UNG LAW QOFFICE

Coun. 3l for respondent Sofia D. Cruz

24 J 2. Rizal St., Davsan Subd Smdalan
San ] ‘e rnando, Fampanga
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EVITA MAGNOLIA I. ANSALDO

Counsel for respondents Janet Lim Napoles,
Jo Christine L. Napoles, James Christopher L.
Napoles and Ronald John Lim

Suite 1905-A, Philippine Stock Exchange
Center, West Tower,; Ortigas Center

Pasig City

BRUCE V, RIVERA

Counsel for respondents Evelyn D. De Leon
and Jocelyn Piorata

15 Nicanor Tomas St., BF Homes, Phase 6-
A, Bgy. BF, Parziaque City 1720

EULOGIO RODRIGUE

Respondent )

JLN Corporation Offices, Discovery Suites
Ortigas Center, Pasig City

FERNANDO RAMIREZ
Respondent

635 San 1Isidro St, Ayala Alabang
Muntinlupa City '

NITZ CABILAO
Respondent

Block 10, Lot S, Daet St., South City Homes
Binan, Laguna '

MARK 8. QLIVEROS
Responder: :

Suite 260« PSE East Tower, Exchange Road
Ortigas, Pasig City

EDITHA P. TALABOC

Respondent

Mezzanine Floor, Café Adriatico Bldg.
Adriatico cor. Padre Faure Sts., Manila

DELFIN AGCAOILI, JR.
Respondent
13 Caimito St., Payatas, Quezon City

LUCILA M. LAWAS-YUTOK
Respondent
686-B Shaw Blvd., Kapitolyo, Pasig City

SUSAN VICTORINO

Respondent .

132 M. H. Del Pilar St., Sto. Tomas, Pasig
City ) . ,

‘
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LUCITA P. SOLOMO: |
Respondent . .

W 33-C Mati 1ga St., Teachers’ Village, Quezon
City
PROPRII.TOR - OF NUTRIGROWTH
PHILIPF.NES, MPC
Resnon dent

949 Instruccion St.,"Sampalac, Manila

PROPRIETOR OF MMRC TRADING
Respondent

88 Buklod ng Nayon, Sangandaan, Caloocan
City '

MYLA OGERIO
& Respon« ent
' 285-F c - Apt. 9008-15F, 17th St.
Villamr ¢ Air Base, Pasay City

MARC ARITA GUADINES

Block 24; Lot 9, Uigan St.,, Phase I, EP
Vill iy e, Taguig City or Block 23, Lot 1, Road
18 3treet, AFPOVAI, Phase 2, Westem
B o tan, Taguig CTity

DO ULYN A. FABIAN

Res ondent .

Bloc & 34, ‘Lot 27 lligan Street, South City
Hon e¢s, Bifan, Laguna

HERN, MI DITCHON
Respon lent

Bgy. 3ta. Fe, Bacolod City, Negros
0 OCCide.l tal

ROLF O B. GALAY

Resvy 1 lent '

"ilock £ 3, Lot 24 Dumaguete Street, South
City Ho 1es, Bifian, Laguna or

9270 Rc mero St., Bgy. Dionisio, Parafiaque
City

LAARNI A\, UY

Responde 1 ¢

Block 23, Lot 24 Dumaguete Street, South
City Horr 1¢s, Bifian, Laguna or

5270 Re mero Sti., Bgy. Dionisio, Parafiaque

e U .
AMPAR( » I. FERNANDO
Respan de n -

14-0 £ ams n St., Baritan, Malabon City,




JOINT RESOLUTION
OMB-C-C-13-0318

e X OMB-C-C-13-0396 51 ¢ ¢ a2 vene s

©

'Page==l=======144

AILEEN P. PALAMA

Respondent

16-A Guevarra St., Paltok, Quezon City or
712 San Gabnel Compound, Llano
Novaliches, Caloocan City

RENATO S. ORNOPIA
Respondent

495 ME llang-llang St., T. S. Cruz, Almanza
2, Las Pihas or
A. Calauan St., Catamgan, Masbate

JESUS B. CASTILLO

Respondent

Block 23, Lot 59 Phase 2, EP Village, Taguig
City or

Alim, Hinobaan, Negros Occidental

NOEL V. MACHA

Respondent

Unity Drive, Crispin Atilano St., Tetuan,
Zamboanga City or -

2502 Discovery Center, 25 ADB Avenue,
Qrtigas, Pasig City or

Block 40, Lot 28 Iligan St., South City
Homes, Bifian, Laguna

MYLENE T. ENCARNACION
Respondent

Blk, 4, Lot 18, Almandite St., Golden City
Taytay, Rizal

JOHN RAYMOND DE ASIS
Respondent

Blk. 20, Lot 9, Phase III, Gladiola St., TS
Cruz, Almanza 2, Las Pifias

HEIRS OF WILBERTO P. DE GUZMAN
Respondent

Block 1, Lot 30, {118 Sto. Rosario St.

Metrovilla Center, Mapulang Lupa
Valenzuela City

MENDOZA NAVARRO-MENDQZA &
PARTNERS LAW OFFICES

Counsel for respondent Ma, Julie A.
Villaralvo-Johnson

Units 205 & 501 Amberland Plaza, Dona

Julia Vargas Ave. & Jade Drive, Ortigas
Center, Pa31g City 1605




